

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

UAB Theses & Dissertations

2014

Integrated Functioning of the Mirror Neuron System and Its Role in Imitation Deficits in Autism

Heather Wadsworth University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

Recommended Citation

Wadsworth, Heather, "Integrated Functioning of the Mirror Neuron System and Its Role in Imitation Deficits in Autism" (2014). *All ETDs from UAB*. 3235. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/3235

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

INTEGRATED FUNCTIONING OF THE MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM AND ITS ROLE IN IMITATION DEFICITS IN AUTISM

by

HEATHER M. WADSWORTH

Dr. RAJESH K. KANA, COMMITTEE CHAIR Dr. MARIA HOPKINS Dr. SARAH O'KELLEY Dr. ADRIAN HAL THURSTIN Dr. KRISTINA VISSCHER

A DISSERTATION

Submitted, to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

2014

Copyright by Heather M. Wadsworth 2014

INTEGRATED FUNCTIONING OF THE MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM AND ITS ROLE IN IMITATION DEFICITS IN AUTISM

HEATHER M. WADSORTH

MEDICAL/CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

ABSTRACT

Deficits in imitation have been widely reported in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). A proposed dysfunction of the mirror neuron system (MNS), the neural network underlying imitation, has been the subject of recent debate in ASD literature. However, while some research has found evidence of MNS abnormalities in ASD, recent studies have cast doubt onto the mirror neuron hypothesis of ASD as it is currently depicted. There is also behavioral evidence that the imitation deficit is not unitary, and therefore may not have one-to-ne correspondence with a malfunction of all aspects of MNS. Since functional imitation involves more than mirroring actions, a more complete understanding of the imitation deficit in ASD requires the analysis of the MNS in the context of the component skills comprising imitation and the wider neural networks involved in these skills. The current set of studies examined the component skills required for imitation and the role of the MNS functioning in autism at focal as well as network levels. The three functional MRI experiments that are part of this project investigated the functional integrity of the MNS using tasks involving visuospatial rotation, mental imitation, and motor imitation. For each study, behavioral, brain activation, functional connectivity, and brain-behavior relationships were analyzed. Results indicated that the ASD participants in this showed intact ability, reflected by their performance, in all tasks. However, the neural route with which tasks were accomplished differed between the TD and ASD groups. Specifically, aberrant activation and functional connectivity patterns were found for ASD participants in each of the three

iii

studies. Neural responses emerging from these studies indicated alterations in the regulation of the MNS by other neural systems. Altered neural responses were also found to be correlated with autism symptomatology. The findings of this project provide important insights into the neural and cognitive mechanism underlying imitation in children and adolescents with autism. Implications of these findings for future research as well as clinical applications addressing imitation deficits in ASD are discussed.

Keywords: autism, imitation, mirror neuron, MNS, functional connectivity

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Over the past few years, I have received the support of a great number of individuals. I would never have been able to complete this dissertation without the continued support, patience, and guidance of my committee members, my friends and colleagues, and my family.

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Rajesh Kana, for his continued support as well as his guidance and knowledge which directed my research over the years. His willingness to provide his time and share his knowledge of neuroimaging and research have provided me with invaluable opportunities. I am also grateful to the other members of my dissertation committee (Drs. Sarah O'Kelley, Maria Hopkins, Adrian Hal Thurstin, Kristina Visscher) for providing their time and thoughtful input throughout the process.

I would like to thank the participants and their families for taking their time to be a part of the study. I would also like to thank the other members of our laboratory who assisted me not only in data collection or assisting with data analysis but also by providing a helpful ear, insightful suggestions, and support during long days. A special thanks goes to Hirishikesh Deshpande. Without his friendship, humor, and continued positive outlook none of this would have been possible.

I would also like to thank my parents who always supported and encouraged me and my children, who helped me to keep my perspective and sense of humor throughout the process. After a long day, it was their smiles and support that kept me going.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page		
ABSTRACTiii			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS			
LIST OF TABLES			
LIST OF FIGURES	ix		
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi		
INTRODUCTION	1		
Imitation in ASD	2		
Is Imitation a Unitary Construct?	5		
Neural Basis of Imitation: The Mirror Neuron System	6		
Broken Mirror Theory of Autism	8		
Theories of MNS Function and Dysfunction in ASD	11		
Description of the Current Set of Studies	13		
THE NEURAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING MENTAL ROTATION OF BODY-RELATED STIMULI IN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS	18		
THE ROLE OF MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM IN ACTION SIMULATION IN CHILDREN WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS			
THE MIRROR NEURON NETWORK AND MOTOR IMITATION IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH AUTISM	115		
SUMMARY	166		
Specific Aim #1: Investigating Behavioral Performance in ASD	166		
Specific Aim #2: Invesigating Integrity of MNS in ASD	167		
Specific Aim #3: Addressing Brain-Behavior Relationships	172		
Limitations and Future Directions	175		

Potential Importance of Findings/Clinical Implications	177
GENERAL LIST OF REFERENCES	180
APPENDIX A: DESCRIPTION OF MEASURES	194
APPENDIX B: IRB PROTOCOL	200

LIST OF TABLES

Τι	Table Page		
,	THE NEURAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING MENTAL ROTATION OF BODY- RELATED STIMULI IN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS		
1	Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group		
2	Table displaying areas of activation for each group when all spatial conditions are contrasted with fixation 57		
3	Table displaying areas of activation remaining after the effects of PIQ are controlled		
THE NEURAL BASIS OF MENTAL IMITATION IN AUTISM: IS IT ALL IN THE MIND?			
1	Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group105		
2	Table displaying areas of activation for each group when all mental imitation conditions are contrasted with fixation		
	IMITATION DEFICITS IN AUTISM: IS THE MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM TO BLAME?		
1	Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group158		
2	Table displaying areas of activation for each group when imitation conditions are contrasted with a fixation baseline		

LIST OF FIGURES

	THE NEURAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING MENTAL ROTATION OF BODY- RELATED STIMULI IN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS
1	Figure displaying sample mental rotation stimuli60
2	Figure displaying the behavioral results (accuracy and reaction time) for each condition and each group
3	The activation patterns for each condition (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown for each group
4	Areas of increased activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition for both groups
5	Group differences in activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition
6	Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between psc values and scores on neuropsychological measures
7	Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures
	THE NEURAL BASIS OF MENTAL IMITATION IN AUTISM: IS IT ALL IN THE MIND?
1	Figure showing example mental imitation stimuli
2	The activation pattern for processing mental imitation contrasted with fixation for each group ($p < 0.001$; cluster = 80 mm ³)109
3	The activation pattern for processing transitive and intransitive actions contrasted separately with fixation for each group ($p < 0.001$; cluster = 80 mm ³)110

Figure

4	Group differences in activation for transitive and intransitive conditions when contrasted with a fixation
5	Graph displaying areas of increased psc values for the ASD group112
6	Graph displaying networks of increased functional connectivity in the ASD group113
7	Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between psc values and neuropsychological test scores
	IMITATION DEFICITS IN AUTISM: IS THE MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM TO BLAME?
1	Figure showing example imitation stimuli161
2	The within-group and between-group activation patterns for imitation stimuli (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown
3	Graph displaying areas of increased psc values for the ASD group163
4	Graph displaying areas of significantly greater functional connectivity for the ASD group
5	Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AFNI	Analysis of Functional NeuroImages
ANT	Attention Networks Task
AQ	Autism-Spectrum Quotient
ART	Artifact Detection Tools
ASD	autism spectrum disorder
EQ	Empathy Quotient
IFG	inferior frontal gyrus
IPL	inferior parietal lobule
LCBELL	left cerebellum
LEBA	left extrastriate body area
LIFG	left inferior frontal gyrus
LINS	left insula
LIPL	left inferior parietal lobule
LMFG	left middle frontal gyrus
LMOG	left middle occipital gyrus
LMTG	left middle temporal gyrus
LPRCN	left precentral gyrus
LPSCN	left postcentral gyrus
LSMA	left supplementary motor area
LSTS	left superior temporal sulcus
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute

MNS	mirror neuron system
PANESS	Physical and Neurological Examination for Soft Signs
PIQ	Performance IQ
PMv	ventral pre-motor cortex
psc	percent signal change
RBS-R	Repetitive Behavior Scale-Revised
RCBELL	right cerebellum
REBA	right extrastriate body area
RIFG	right inferior frontal gyrus
RIPL	right inferior parietal lobule
RMOG	right middle occipital gyrus
ROIs	regions of interest
RPRCN	right precentral gyrus
RPSCN	right postcentral gyrus
RSMA	right supplementary motor area
RSTS	right superior temporal sulcus
RT	reaction time
SCQ	Social Communication Questionnaire
SMP8	Statistical Parametrical Mapping, version 8 software
SQ	Systemizing Quotient
STS	superior temporal sulcus
TD	typically developing

INTRODUCTION

People imitate each other every day, to varying degrees, both consciously and subconsciously. Imitation is a fundamental component of human social behavior, and plays a crucial role in development (Piaget, 1945; Lovaas, 1979; Rogers & Pennington, 1991). It is through imitation that children learn about themselves, others, and establish an understanding of their relationship between themselves and their environment. Automatic imitation begins shortly following birth and assists in providing a sense of connectedness between an infant and its environment (Meltzoff & Moore, 1983). Early automatic imitation is believed to be less frequent around two months of age (Field et al., 1986; Fontaine, 1984), and more complex imitation reappears by the end of the first year of life (Meltzoff & Moore, 1992). These findings indicate that rudimentary imitation is present very early in development but that imitation skills develop and change significantly over time. By providing a child with information about the actions and intentions of the physical and social world, imitation assists with social learning (Rogers et al., 2003) and lays the foundation for future social development. Imitation is also important for the development of a wide range of social, communication, and motor skills (Tomasello, Kruger, & Ratner, 1993), and assists in comprehending the behavior of others (Goldenberg & Karnath, 2006). As children begin to speak, imitation of mouth movements is believed to teach them how to use their own articulators (Jordan & Rumelhart, 2002). Early in development, infants begin to engage in a range of coordinated facial motor and vocal activity routines including reciprocal vocalizations,

imitation of mouth openings, positive/negative facial expressions, and gaze. This early vocal-motor mirroring/synchrony reflects early interpersonal coordination of communication (Colonnesi et al., 2012) and may also be associated with later social-emotional and cognitive development (Feldman et al., 1996).

Imitation can be either purposeful or reflexive (mimicry). Children and adults often automatically match the postures, gestures, syntactic constructions, and prosody of others (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999; Niedenthal et al., 2005). This "chameleon effect" is not typically conscious but, instead, develops from long-term associative learning (Heyes, 2001,2011) and is subtle and flexible depending upon the specifics of the social situation (Chartrand & van Baaren, 2009; Brass, Ruby, & Spengler, 2009). This automatic imitation also carries significant social importance by helping to align the imitating individual with the individual being imitated. Being imitated helps to build rapport (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999), increases altruistic behavior (van Baaren et al., 2004), and also increases trust (Bailenson & Yee, 2005). Furthermore, imitation and mimicry help us feel what others feel, and respond compassionately to others' emotional states (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999; Eisenberg, 2000; Tangney, Stuewig, & Mashek, 2007; Iacoboni, 2009). Thus, imitation plays an important role in understanding other minds as well as in relating to others with appropriate affective response.

Imitation in ASD

While research continues to emphasize the importance of imitation to a wide range of developmental skills, a large body of literature has implicated imitation deficits as a relatively consistent and frequently replicated finding in autism spectrum disorders (ASD) (e.g., Rogers et al., 2003; Williams, Whiten, & Singh, 2004; Charman et al., 2005; Rogers & Williams, 2006; Rogers et al., 2008; Stewart, McIntosh, & Williams, 2013). Individuals with ASD have been found to have difficulties with both symbolic and nonsymbolic imitative behaviors, in imitating the use of objects, imitating facial gestures, and in vocal imitation (Rogers, 1999). Given the role of imitation in development, it has been suggested that reduced imitation may represent a core deficit in individuals with autism (Rogers & Pennington, 1991). It has been suggested that an imitation deficit in ASD could be related to a range of social impairments common in the disorder including deficits in face processing (Hadjikhani et al., 2007), theory-of-mind (Williams et al., 2006), and joint attention (Villalobos et al., 2005).

However, it should be noted that several studies, especially of late, have failed to replicate findings of imitation deficits in ASD (Bird et al. 2007; Dinstein et al. 2010; Gowen, Stanley, & Miall, 2008; Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007; Leighton et al. 2008; Press, Richardson, & Bird, 2010; Spengler, Bird, & Brass, 2010). Nevertheless, these studies still question the degree to which individuals with ASD would imitate automatically in real-world social settings and if they would do so for the same reasons as their typically developing (TD) peers (Loth & Gomez, 2006). The variability in previous findings may, in part, be attributed to uneven levels of difficulty that individuals with ASD display across different forms of imitation. More and more research suggests that not all types of imitation are equally impaired in autism. For instance, individuals with ASD often exhibit greater difficulty when imitating meaningless gestures rather compared with meaningful gestures or gestures that involve objects (Williams, Whiten, & Singh, 2004; Stone, Ousley, & Littleford, 1997). Similarly, Hobson and Hobson (2008) found that children with autism had most difficulty when imitating the style of an action, especially when the style was not necessary for achieving the action's goal. These results may suggest that persons with autism are better at imitation when the to-be-imitated action is goal-oriented and there is a clear end state (as meaningless gestures and the "style" of a gesture are determined more by the process of the imitative act rather than the end state or goal of the gesture).

Recent research has also suggested that individuals with ASD may be able to imitate when explicitly instructed to do so (McDuffie et al., 2007; Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007; Whiten & Brown, 1998), in the absence of which they often fail to spontaneously imitate others. McIntosh and colleagues (2006) found that children with ASD imitated facial expressions successfully when explicitly instructed. However, in the absence of explicit instruction, they failed to display typical automatic mimicry of facial expressions. Based on these findings, it was suggested that deficits in automatic imitation may impair a variety of socioemotional skills that help in understanding the affective states of others. In addition to a failure of automatic imitation, the broader social context may have a significant influence on imitation in individuals with ASD, such that they are more likely to imitate actions when the model is familiar (Oberman, Ramachandran, & Pineda, 2008). In addition, individuals with ASD may have more difficulty imitating emotional stimuli compared with stimuli that do not have an emotional component (e.g., Dapretto et al., 2006; Beall et al., 2008). Thus, it is likely that many characteristics of the to-be-imitated action may impact the quality and performance of imitation in ASD.

There is also evidence that imitation likely follows a developmental progression in ASD. Despite being delayed, imitation appears to improve with age (Heimann & Ullstadius, 1999; Stone, Ousley, & Littleford, 1997) with the ability to imitate simple, single-step actions increasing with age in children with autism (Hepburn & Stone, 2006). Imitation deficits in older children and adults with ASD are thought to more likely reflect difficulty imitating the "attitude" or "style" of an action, rather than the basic motor components of the action (Hobson & Lee, 1999). The continued difficulty in imitating the "style" of an action has led to the suggestion that individuals with ASD often focus on the goal of an action and, therefore, miss the kinematic aspects of the action that may contain important social information (Gowen, 2012). Taken together, all these findings reflect the complexity and heterogeneity of imitation ability in ASD, and more importantly the need for better understanding the basic mechanisms of imitation in this disorder.

Is Imitation a Unitary Construct?

While a core deficit in imitation has been widely reported in autism, a predominant view of imitation as a unitary construct is a topic of debate. Almost all published studies on this topic examined imitation as a global construct with little emphasis on the component processes that constitute this skill. If imitation was a unitary construct, individuals with autism should exhibit equal impairment in all forms of imitation tasks. However, the previously mentioned findings of unequal levels of difficulty with different forms of imitation (e.g., Rogers et al., 1996; Vivanti et al., 2008; McIntosh et al., 2006; Colombi, Vivanti, & Rogers, 2011; Carmo et al., 2013) suggest

otherwise. Therefore, analysis of the component processes underlying imitation and their integration would likely provide vital insights in better characterizing imitation deficits in ASD (Want & Harris, 2002; Bennetto, 1999; Hamilton, 2008). A study by Bennetto (1999) classified imitation into the following five components: 1) basic motor functioning, 2) body schema, 3) dynamic spatiotemporal representation, 4) memory, and 5) motor execution of non-meaningful hand and arm gestures. Despite a global impairment in imitation, her data showed no significant differences between children and adolescents with autism and TD controls on spatiotemporal representation, body schema, and memory. However, impairments were found in motor functioning, and the planning and execution aspects of imitation. Other studies also suggest similar component processes underlying imitation (Decety, 2006) along with attentional flexibility (Klin et al., 2002) and motor deficits (Rogers et al., 2003; Mostofsky et al., 2006), all of which may impact imitation in autism (Williams & Waiter, 2006). For these component skills to work together to produce functional imitation, the integrated functioning of several neural networks is required.

Neural Basis of Imitation: The Mirror Neuron System

Insights into the neural mechanisms of imitation came through the discovery of a set of neurons in the F5 area of the non-human primate brain that fire not only when a monkey performs an action but also when a monkey observes an action being performed (Gallese et al., 1996; Rizzolatti et al., 1996). These "monkey see, monkey do" neurons, referred to as mirror neurons, are dedicated to the visual processing of actions of others and have provided clues as to how we perceive the actions of others and translate this

information to perform similar actions ourselves. The Mirror Neuron System (MNS) has been proposed as a network that mediates action understanding and action imitation (Iacoboni et al., 1999; Koski et al., 2003; Heiser et al., 2003). In nonhuman primates, mirror neurons were identified in area F5 and area PF (Rizzolatti & Craighero, 2004). While it is difficult to directly study the existence of mirror neurons in humans, a substantial number of fMRI and EEG studies have found evidence suggesting that a homologue of the monkey mirror neurons exists in humans (Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006; for an opposing perspective see Turella et al., 2009). The monkey F5 is thought to correspond to the human inferior frontal gyrus (IFG)/ ventral premotor cortex (PMv), and the monkey PF is thought to correspond to the human inferior parietal lobule (IPL) (see Figure 1). In humans, these two core regions are thought to interact closely with the superior temporal sulcus (STS) to produce action understanding and mental action "mirroring" (Iacoboni, 2005; Iacoboni et al., 2001; Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006). Research also suggests that different regions of the MNS each likely serve different functions. While the IFG/PMv has been found to be involved in action planning (Hamilton, 2008) and perception-action coupling (Newman-Norlund et al., 2010), the IPL is thought to mediate spatiotemporal, perceptual and goal coding aspects necessary for imitation (Rizzolatti & Matelli, 2003; Hamilton, 2008).

It is clear, however, that imitation is not limited to mirroring others (Southgate & Hamilton, 2008). Therefore, while the MNS is believed to be the primary neural network underlying imitation, successful imitation likely underlies the communication within this network as well as between this network and the rest of the brain (see Kana, Wadsworth, & Travers, 2011 for review). For example, previous research suggests that the MNS

works with both the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) and areas associated with motor preparation when engaged in imitative learning (Buccino et al., 2004). Given that the MNS works to map the actions of another person onto one's own motor system, it is also intrinsically linked to parietal motor circuitry previously identified as important for praxis (Heilman & Valenstein, 2003; Wheaton & Hallett, 2007). Previous findings suggest that the MNS is both structurally and functionally connected to both the limbic system (Iacoboni, 2005; Dapretto et al., 2006; Carr et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 2003) and theory-of-mind networks (Schulte-Ruther et al., 2007), with integrated functioning of the systems being responsible for empathy and the production of self-other distinctions during face-to-face interactions.

Broken Mirror Theory of Autism

It has been hypothesized, by some researchers, that individuals with ASD who have deficits in imitation may also have a malfunctioning MNS (e.g., Oberman & Ramachandran, 2007; Williams et al., 2001). This "broken mirror" theory of autism has received substantial attention, with quite a few studies suggesting that atypicalities of the MNS may contribute to autism symptomatology (for recent reviews see Williams, 2008; Bernier & Dawson, 2009). This account also suggests that MNS dysfunction could help explain some of the primary symptoms of ASD including isolation, lack of empathy, and social skill difficulties (Ramachandran & Oberman, 2006). Evidence for MNS dysfunction in persons with autism comes from EEG studies (e.g., Bernier et al., 2007; Martineau et al., 2008; Oberman et al., 2005), MEG studies (e.g., Nishitani, Avikainen, & Hari, 2004), functional MRI studies (e.g., Dapretto et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2006), and also from structural MRI studies (e.g., Hadjikhani et al., 2007). EEG studies point to mu wave attenuation in TD individuals when they both observe and perform an action; but in individuals with ASD only when they perform an action (Oberman et al., 2005; Bernier et al., 2007; Martineau et al., 2008). This abnormal pattern of mu wave attenuation was also found to be correlated with the degree of imitation deficit in autism (Bernier et al., 2007). fMRI studies have shown functional alterations in both anterior and posterior components of the core MNS (Dapretto et al., 2005; Williams et al., 2006). Structural MRI studies have shown anatomical abnormalities in the MNS in autism (Yamasaki et al., 2010; Hadjikani et al., 2006).

However, not all research points towards a dysfunction in the MNS in autism. There have been studies finding intact activation (e.g., Oberman, Ramachandran, & Pineda, 2008; Raymaekers, Wiersema, & Roeyers, 2009; Avikainen, Kulomaki, & Hari, 1999) as well as increased activation in the MNS in subjects with autism (Martineau et al., 2010; Baron-Cohen et al., 2006). For example, a study by Hamilton, Brindley, and Frith (2007) found performance of the subjects with autism was superior to controls on gesture recognition tasks that would likely recruit the MNS. Dinstein and colleagues (2010) found equivalent MNS activation in ASD and TD controls during the observation and execution of hand gestures. Research has also found abnormal activation patterns in regions outside of the MNS but no group differences in MNS activation (Schulte-Ruther et al., 2011; Marsh & Hamilton, 2011). Other studies do not point toward a fully functional MNS in autism, but instead critique the validity of MNS dysfunction as a core (primary) deficit in ASD. It is possible that the activation differences in the MNS could represent differences in resting state activation levels since many fMRI studies compare activation at baseline to activation during the task (Dinstein et al., 2008).

Studies examining functional connectivity in the MNS have also resulted in mixed findings. While there are reports of task-related decrease in functional connectivity in the MNS in ASD (e.g., Hari & Nishitani, 2004; Villalobos et al., 2005; Schipul et al., 2012), examination of intrinsic connectivity in ASD has led to mixed results. For example, Lee and colleagues (2009) found reductions in functional connectivity of the right IFG in children and adolescents with ASD, which was negatively correlated with age. They suggested an atypical developmental trajectory rather than an overall reduction in functional connectivity in ASD. While some studies have implicated resting state functional connectivity abnormalities in MNS in ASD (e.g., Paakki et al., 2010), others have failed to replicate such findings (e.g., Shih et al., 2010). Complicating matters further, recent research examining children with ASD has resulted in findings of widespread hyperconnectivity including hyperconnectivity between the MNS and other neural regions (Supekar et al., 2013; Uddin et al., 2013; Di Martino et al., 2011). Based on these findings, it has been suggested that both over and under connectivity likely impacts the MNS in autism (Friedrich et al., 2014). Several additional hypotheses have also been proposed to explain the inconsistencies of previous findings including the need for taking developmental changes into account (Uddin, Supekar, & Menon, 2013).

Theories of MNS Function and Dysfunction in ASD

As noted above, individuals with ASD often have increased difficulty with automatic imitation or imitation of meaningless actions. However, they experience fewer deficits in the voluntary imitation of meaningful actions (Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007; Hobson & Hobson, 2008; Williams, Whiten, & Singh, 2004; McIntosh et al., 2006). This led to the proposal that mirroring may rely on two distinct pathways. The mimicry pathway (M), involving a direct communication between the STS and IFG, is involved in automatic mimicry. The emulation pathway (EP), however, involves a connection with the IPL and is involved in coding for goals and goal-directed actions. According to the EP-M model, individuals with ASD may experience a specific deficit in mimicry, but have intact connections within the emulation pathway (Hamilton, 2008). Difficulties with imitation of meaningless actions have also led to explanations based on the dual-route theory of imitation processing (Tessari et al., 2007), according to which, imitation of meaningful actions takes a semantic neural route, while imitation of meaningless actions relies on the kinematic aspects of an action. Individuals with ASD have difficulties using the kinematic pathway, and they rely on semantic representations for both forms of imitation (Hamilton, 2008; Wild et al., 2011).

Another factor that may underlie MNS functioning in ASD is the presence of social components in a task. A malfunctioning social filter may be responsible for the difficulties observed in ASD. More specifically, low social motivation in autism may lead to reduced "time on task" and, thus, impeded social development (Chevallier et al., 2012). A lack of familiarity with or interest in unfamiliar others may result in reduced activation of social brain networks (including the MNS) in ASD (McCleery et al., 2013)

and may explain findings that individuals with ASD experience less difficulty with imitation and other social tasks when the model is a familiar individual (Oberman, Ramachandran, & Pineda, 2008). This has led to the social top-down response modulation (STORM) theory of MNS functioning (Wang & Hamilton, 2012), which proposes that the MNS interacts with, and is controlled by a component of the mentalizing system, the medial pre-frontal cortex (mPFC). The mPFC exerts top-down control on the MNS, leading to enhancement or inhibition of imitation. According to the theory, it is this top-down control which goes awry in ASD, leading to aberrant activation in the MNS.

While these models all provide different possibilities for the inconsistent findings of imitation and MNS deficits in ASD, they also include several key components. Specifically, all theories suggest that it is likely the connections between nodes of the MNS, rather than the nodes themselves, that may be dysfunctional in ASD. These models also indicate that functioning of the MNS is best understood in the context of the larger neural environment, which may influence functioning of the MNS. The MNS does not function in isolation and, therefore, abnormalities in the functioning of this system may be caused by or result in aberrant functioning of other systems. Yet another theme cutting across all of these theories is the complexity of imitation. Imitation is often identified as a unitary skill. However, as these models emphasize, it requires the integrated functioning of many different neural systems and may be accomplished using different neural pathways depending on the type of imitation or the context in which it is performed.

Description of Current Set of Studies

The gaps emerging from previous research on neural bases of imitation in ASD are essentially two-fold: 1) most studies examined imitation as a unitary construct, with little information on the neural basis of spared and affected components of imitation in autism and how these components may map onto the functioning of the MNS; and 2) while recruitment, and lack thereof, of MNS regions have been reported, the connectivity of it has largely been ignored. The current set of studies approached imitation in children with ASD from the framework of connectivity account of autism and the MNS model of autism.

In order to examine the unique contribution of components of imitation, three event-related fMRI paradigms were developed. All three experiments were completed in a single MRI session. The first experiment focused on the visuospatial aspect of imitation thought to be associated primarily with the IPL aspect of the MNS. The second experiment retained the visuospatial aspect while adding an executive component using a mental imitation task. This is expected to target both the IPL and the frontal executive areas, such as IFG, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). The third experiment involved a motor imitation paradigm to address the coordinated functioning of IFG/PMv and IPL along with other motor regions in executing imitation. These three experiments together allowed for the examination of the functioning of each component of the MNS separately as well as how the components work together a unit and with other neural systems.

Seventeen high-functioning children and adolescents with ASD and 17 age and IQ-matched TD control participants took part in the current set of fMRI studies (age

range: 8 to 17 years; minimum Full Scale and Non-Verbal IQ: 75, measured using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence). Although the same participants were involved in all studies, participants excluded due to excessive motion were unique to each study. Participants with ASD were recruited through the research subject database of the *Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory* at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB), the Alabama Autism Society, and flyers posted at local ASD-related treatment and evaluation centers. Typically developing (TD) participants were recruited using flyers and advertisements on the UAB campus, flyers posted in local community centers (e.g., libraries, YMCAs), and through the *Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory*'s research subject database.

In addition to completion of the fMRI paradigms, demographic information, IQ, and other neuropsychological indices was also collected from participants. Cognitive functioning was measured using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI; Wechsler, 1999). Participant handedness was measured using the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971). Measures of ASD symptomatology were also collected from participants in both groups including the Empathizing Quotient and the Systemizing Quotient (EQ/SQ; Baron-Cohen et al., 2003), the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test" (RME) (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001), the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) (Rutter, Bailey, & Lord, 2003), and the Repetitive Behavior Scale –Revised (RBS-R) (Bodfish et al., 2000; Lam & Aman, 2007). These measures were used to ensure that participants qualified for the studies, as well as to establish brain-behavior relationships. Outside of the scanner, participants also completed the Attention Networks Task (ANT; Fan et al., 2002) and completed the same motor imitations presented during imaging so

that these imitations could be coded for their style, accuracy, and precision based on the taxonomy suggested by Buxbaum and colleagues (2000) (please refer to Appendix 1 for additional information regarding each measure).

The current set of studies was designed to address the following overarching specific aims:

Specific Aim #1: Behavioral Performance

The first specific aim was to compare the behavioral performance of highfunctioning children and adolescents with ASD and TD controls on tasks comprising various components of imitation.

Hypothesis 1a. It was predicted that participants with ASD would show intact or better performance than TD controls on a task assessing visuospatial rotation of body-parts.

Hypothesis 1b. Participants with ASD were predicted to exhibit greater difficulty (as expressed by lower accuracy rates and increased reaction time) than TD controls on a task involving mental imitation of actions.

Hypothesis 1c. Based on previous findings of intact ability (in older children and adolescents) for simple imitation, it was predicted that participants with ASD would demonstrate intact ability on a simple hand-based motor imitation task presented in the scanner.

Specific Aim #2: Functioning of the MNS

The second specific aim of the current set of studies was to delineate the specialized roles as well as integrative functions of the main cortical nodes (IFG, IPL) of

the mirror neuron system and the interaction of the MNS with other neural regions during action imitation in high-functioning children and adolescents with ASD.

Hypothesis 2a. While intact activation was predicted for the visuospatial rotation task, it was predicted that individuals with ASD would show reduced activation in the frontal component of the MNS (PMv/IFG) while engaged in both mental and motor imitation tasks.

Hypothesis 2b. It was predicted that there would be reduced functional connectivity between the posterior (IPL) and the anterior (IFG) components of the MNS when performing the imitation task. Participants with ASD were also expected to display intact or stronger connectivity in occipital-parietal areas.

Hypothesis 2c. Participants with ASD were expected to display aberrant activation and connectivity patterns between the MNS and other neural regions required to produce the various components of action imitation.

Specific Aim #3: Brain-behavior Relationships

The third specific aim was to establish the relationship between behavior and brain function by linking autism symptomatology and its effect on neural response to different aspects of imitation.

Hypothesis 3a. It was predicted that there would be a significant correlation between autism symptoms and activation in the MNS as well as the functional connectivity within the MNS and between the MNS and other neural systems.

Hypothesis 3b. Measures of attention, motor performance, and empathy were also predicted to be correlated with performance and neural activation/ connectivity patterns during performance of imitation-related tasks.

THE NEURAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING MENTAL ROTATION OF BODY-RELATED STIMULI IN AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS

by

HEATHER M. WADSWORTH, AMY LEMELMAN, SOUMYA SIVARAMAN, KACY CLAYTON, CLINE D. MARTIN, & RAJESH K. KANA

Department of Psychology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham AL, USA

Corresponding Author:

Rajesh K. Kana, Ph.D. Department of Psychology University of Alabama, Birmingham CIRC 235G, 1719 6th Ave South Birmingham, AL 35294-0021 Phone: 205-934-3171; Fax: 205-975-6330 E-mail: rkana@uab.edu

In preparation for submission to: Brain and Cognition

Format adapted for dissertation

Abstract

Cognitive and behavioral studies over the last several years have identified visuospatial processing as a relatively unaffected area of functioning in individuals with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Mental rotation is a visuospatial task where such advantage has been seen, although mental rotation of body-related stimuli in ASD has received little attention relative to rotation of objects and shapes. This fMRI study examined the neural mechanisms underlying mental rotation of hand stimuli in 13 highfunctioning children and adolescents with ASD and 15 age-and-IQ-matched typically developing (TD) control participants. Results indicate that the ASD group was significantly more accurate, relative to TD group, in mental rotation, although this effect was related to their spatial skills, measured by performance IQ. Both ASD and TD groups showed activation in core visuospatial processing regions including inferior parietal, middle to superior occipital, and calcarine regions. Both groups also demonstrated activation in the left primary motor cortex extending to the postcentral gyrus. When activation during 45° rotations was contrasted with that of 90° rotations, the ASD group showed greater activation, relative to TD group, in the right fusiform gyrus, left and right middle occipital lobe, and right precuneus. The TD group, on the other hand, showed greater activation in LIFG, left MPFC, LSMA, and left anterior cingulate cortex. ASD participants also showed intact functional connectivity during this mental rotation task. Thus, the findings of this study suggest a visuospatial advantage in participants with autism, perhaps accompanied by an increased recruitment of relatively posterior visuospatial brain areas unlike the TD control participants who showed increased activity in motor areas.

Keywords: Mental rotation, fMRI, autism, visuospatial, functional connectivity

Word Count: 6,980

1. Introduction

While social communication impairment, and the presence of repetitive and restricted behavior and interests form the hallmark features of autism spectrum disorder (ASD), a key area of strength in ASD individuals is visuospatial processing (Falter et al., 2008; Hamilton et al., 2009; Caron et al., 2004; Mottron et al., 2003, 2006). Visuospatial skills, the ability to encode and mentally manipulate spatial information (Mathewson, 1999), are vital and form the foundation of problem solving and abstract reasoning (Smith, 1964; Cheng & Mix, 2014). Visuospatial rotation (sometimes referred to as spatial transformations) refers to the process through which a mental image is rotated around an axis in space (Zacks, 2008), often in order to determine if representations align with each other despite variations in position or orientation (Pearson et al., 2014). Such ability to imagine the rotation of an object in 2 or 3 dimensional space is termed mental rotation (Shepard, 1984; Corballis, 1997). Decades of behavioral research on mental rotation is inspired primarily by the classic 3-dimensional rotation task developed by Shepard and Metzler (Shepard and Metzler, 1971). Previous research examining the neural basis of object-oriented mental rotation in typically developing (TD) individuals has reported activation in a range of parietal and occipital-temporal areas including activation of the superior and inferior parietal lobule (SPL, IPL), the parietal-occipital border, secondary visual cortex, inferior temporal gyrus (ITG), supplementary motor area (SMA), thalamus, and basal ganglia (Dietrich et al., 2001; Cohen et al., 1996; Harris et al., 2000). Thus frontal, parietal, and motor cortex involvement is a relatively consistent pattern of activation in neuroimaging studies of mental rotation in healthy individuals.

21

Considering the visuospatial advantage seen in individuals with ASD, mental rotation tasks provide a unique platform to investigate the cognitive and neural mechanisms of such advantage. Evidence for a visuospatial advantage in ASD comes mainly from studies involving block design tasks (BDT), embedded figures tasks (EFT), and from studies examining the ability of ASD individuals to determine the shape of slanted circles in the absence of outside cues (Shah & Frith, 1983, 1993; Ring et al., 1999; Mottron et al., 2003; Mitchell & Ropar, 2004; Damarla et al., 2010; Kana et al., 2013). It has been suggested that intact or superior visuospatial processing in ASD may underlie the use of a "veridical" mapping process, which involves a feed-forward, bottom-up cognitive approach that relies less on the global top-down, higher cognitive processes and allows for a greater influence of low-level visual processing (Soulières et al., 2011). Neuroimaging studies of visuospatial processing have found intact or advanced behavioral skills with unique neural activation patterns, especially increased brain activity in relatively posterior areas, in individuals with ASD (Damarla et al., 2010; Samson et al., 2012; Keehn et al., 2013; Silk et al., 2006; McGrath et al., 2012; Kana et al., 2013). In addition, studies of functional connectivity reveal reduced frontal-posterior connectivity (along with intact or enhanced posterior area connectivity), indicating that typical higher-level cortical control was reduced in ASD providing additional support for reliance on enhanced lower-level visual regions (McGrath et al., 2012), and, subsequently, greater visuospatial ability.

While several studies have investigated visuospatial processing, far fewer studies have addressed mental rotation in ASD. Studies of mental rotation have consistently found that children and adults with autism demonstrate unimpaired or even superior performance on these tasks (Falter et al., 2008; Hamilton et al., 2009; Silk et al., 2006; McGrath et al., 2012; Beacher et al., 2012; Nakano et al., 2012) despite showing altered patterns of neural activation. An overall reduction in activation in frontal, temporal, occipital, striatal, and cerebellar regions in ASD individuals has been reported in some studies (McGrath et al., 2012; Silk et al., 2006). Such alterations may emerge from increased reliance on detail-oriented information processing (Soulières et al., 2011). While mental rotation of objects appears to remain unimpaired in autism, studies have also suggested that this may not hold when the rotation involves other forms of stimuli. For example, while children with ASD showed unimpaired performance on a non-social mental rotation task, they exhibited impaired visual-perspective taking (a skill heavily influenced by mental rotation of socially presented stimuli) (Hamilton et al., 2009). This suggests potential differences in approach and performance of ASD individuals between different types of visuospatial transformation and rotation tasks. Given this distinction and previous findings of body-related processing deficits in autism (Minshew et al., 1997; Noterdaeme et al., 2002; Dawson et al., 2005; Hadjikhani et al., 2007), a better understanding of the cognitive and neural bases of body-related visuospatial transformations is particularly important in uncovering the dichotomy of visuospatial advantage and social deficit in ASD.

Mental rotations of body related stimuli such as hands have been found to evoke a unique cognitive strategy (Kosslyn et al., 1998) when compared with mental rotation of objects (Parsons, 1987, 1994; Sekiyama, 1983). In addition to visuospatial aspects, bodyrelated mental rotation requires motor planning and biological motion processing (Zacks, 2008; Parsons et al., 1995; Kosslyn et al., 1998; Vingerhoets et al., 2002). This includes
regions such as the left primary motor area, SPL, IPL, and left frontal regions (Kosslyn et al., 1998). Many studies have also reported right hemisphere dominance for object-based mental rotation tasks (Ratcliff, 1979; Cohen et al., 1996; Ditunno & Mann, 1990; Harris et al., 2000) while hand-based mental rotation tasks results in left lateralized activation (Kosslyn et al., 1998). This additional activation is believed to represent a participant's tendency to imagine moving their own body part during mental rotation, which results in a qualitatively different approach to rotation of these stimuli as compared to mental rotation of characters, numbers, or abstract shapes (Kosslyn et al., 2001; Parsons, 1994). In other words, spatial rotations involving body-related stimuli such as hands, arms, and torso have been found to evoke a more "egocentric" (or self-based) cognitive strategy. Egocentric spatial transformation, which occurs when we place our body in a new alignment/ position in space (Zacks et al., 1999), is different from object-based mental rotation where individuals perform the task by imagining manipulation of the orientation of the object by external forces (Wraga et al., 2003). While the mental rotation of objects relies on analog spatial representations, hand stimuli additionally elicit representations in the sensorimotor system (Zacks, 2008). Previous studies have also indicated that mental rotation of hands is more likely to engage the mirror neuron system (MNS) (Kosslyn et al., 1998). For example, areas such as the IPL, appear to be uniquely activated in response to mental rotation of sensorimotor stimuli (Kosslyn et al., 1998) suggesting that these stimuli often result in an egocentric approach in which the individual either imagines themselves as in the position with the hand or imagines rotating their own hand.

Most studies examining mental rotation in ASD focus on rotations of abstract objects, such as the frequently utilized block stimuli developed by Shepard & Metzler (1971). Considering the motor, mental imitation, and self-related difficulties seen in ASD (e.g., Rogers et al., 1996; Mostofsky et al., 2006; Dawson et al., 2005), body-related mental rotation may pose challenge to children with ASD. Although limited, there has been some behavioral research examining mental rotation of biological stimuli indicating an allocentric approach in ASD, rather than the egocentric approach seen in TD individuals (Pearson et al., 2014). When required to take an egocentric approach, individuals with ASD who had more symptoms (measured by the autism quotient, AQ) were slower to perform egocentric transformations than those with lower AQ scores (Brunye et al., 2012). Another study showed that adults with ASD had greater difficulty in egocentric spatial transformations (Pearson et al., 2014). However, several of these studies included the use of facial stimuli and full body diagrams (David et al., 2010; Brunye et al., 2012; Pearson et al., 2014), the transformation of which may be influenced by other skills unrelated to mental rotation ability. Preliminary studies examining mental rotation of drawings of hand stimuli rather than full body transformations in autism have found intact behavioral accuracy (Conson et al., 2013; Soulières et al., 2011) but differences in strategy suggesting that the hand stimuli were viewed as objects rather than body parts by the ASD group (Conson et al., 2013).

While previous research consistently indicates intact or superior visuospatial abilities in autism, body related and sensorimotor processing appears to be more impacted (Minshew et al., 1997; Noterdaeme et al., 2002; Dawson et al., 2005; Hadjikhani et al., 2007). There is also evidence of atypical motor planning in ASD individuals (Cattaneo et al., 2007; Gowen & Hamilton, 2012; Sacrey et al., 2014). The addition of these processing components for mental rotation of body parts, a skill necessary for visual perspective taking (Michelon & Zacks, 2006; Pearson et al., 2014) and, as such, appropriate social interactions, highlights the importance of gathering a better understanding of this skill in autism. Previous studies examining hand-related mental rotation in ASD suggest the use of a unique cognitive approach but did not examine the neural mechanisms underlying completion of the task. Since aberrant activation patterns in regions associated with body-related processing were reported previously in ASD (e.g., Zilbovicius et al., 2006; Kleinhans et al., 2008; Di Martino et al., 2009), additional research is necessary to clarify the degree to which visuospatial strengths in autism are preserved when body-related stimuli are presented. Differences in the processing of these stimuli may provide important insight into the neural mechanisms underlying social difficulties in ASD individuals.

The current study used a unique fMRI mental rotation paradigm involving mental rotation of sensorimotor stimuli. Based on evidence of visuospatial advantage in ASD even using hand stimuli (Soulieres et al., 2011), we predict that the participants with ASD would perform as well, or better than TD control participants. At the neural level, such intact performance may be mediated by increased parietal and occipital activation in ASD as well as local overconnectivity in parietal areas associated with analog or object-based spatial representations. The TD group, however, may show activation in and around the precentral sulcus and in other neural regions specifically associated with spatial tasks that involve body-related or sensorimotor representations.

2. Materials & Method

2.1 Participants

Seventeen high-functioning children and adolescents with ASD and 17 age and IQ-matched TD control participants took part in the current fMRI study (age range: 8 to 17 years; minimum Full Scale and Non-Verbal IQ: 80, measured using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence). Participants with ASD were recruited through the research subject database of the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB), UAB Civitan-Sparks Clinic, the Alabama Autism Society, and flyers posted at local ASD-related treatment and evaluation centers. All participants were diagnosed with an ASD. Current and past ASD symptoms were assessed using the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) – Lifetime Version (Berument et al., 1999), the Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001), and the Repetitive Behavior Scale – Revised (Lam & Aman, 2007) (see table 1 for detailed participant information). TD participants were recruited using flyers and advertisements on the UAB campus, flyers posted in local community centers (e.g., libraries, YMCAs), and through the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory's research subject database. Participants were not included in the study if they indicated having worked with metal or having metal implanted in their bodies (either surgically or accidentally) or if they had a history of psychiatric disorders. No participants indicated having a cognitive disorder, anxiety disorder, schizophrenia, or obsessive compulsive disorder. Out of the 34 participants scanned (17 ASD and 17 TD), six participants' data were not usable due to head motion artifacts resulting in a final sample of 13 ASD and 15 TD control participants.

2.2 Overall Experimental Procedure

Participants took part in 2 separate sessions: 1) Assessment; and 2) MRI scanning. The first session lasted approximately two hours, during which the participants completed a series of neuropsychological tests as well as demographic information, measures of visuomotor skills, ASD-related symptomatology, attention shifting, medication history, and diagnosis. During the second session, participants completed their MRI scan. Before the scan, participants practiced the task on a laptop computer.

2.3 Stimuli and Experimental Paradigm

This study used a mental rotation task involving two different angles of rotation $(45^{0} \text{ and } 90^{0})$ and hence different levels of difficulty. Participants were shown highresolution color images of two hands on left and right side of a cross on the computer screen, and were asked if the rotated hand on the right panel was the same hand as the hand shown on the left side. The angles of hand rotation were randomized between 45^{0} and 90^{0} (see Figure 1), which were chosen based on previous literature on mental rotation tasks in autism which used rotation angles up to 180^{0} and indicated a positive linear relationship between the angle of rotation and task difficulty (Silk et al., 2006; Falter et al., 2008; Soulières et al., 2011). In an event-related design, each trial was presented for a period of 4000ms with an inter-stimulus interval (ISI) of 6000ms. There were a total of 24 trials, half of which were congruent (the hand on the right is the same as the hand on the left) and the other half were incongruent trials (the hand on the right is a different hand than that on the left). The participants' task was to examine the two hands on the screen and press a button to indicate if the two hands were the same or different.

Insert Figure 1 about here

2.4 Image Acquisition

All fMRI scans were acquired using the Siemens 3.0 Tesla Allegra head-only scanner (Siemens Medical Inc., Erlangen, Germany) located at the UAB Civitan International Research Center (CIRC). For structural imaging, initial high resolution T1weighted scans were acquired using a 160-slice 3D MPRAGE (Magnetization Prepared Rapid Gradient Echo) volume scan with TR = 200 ms, TE = 3.34 ms, flip angle = 12° , FOV = 25.6 cm, 256 X 256 matrix size, and 1 mm slice thickness. A single-shot gradientrecalled echo-planar pulse sequence was used to acquire functional images (TR = 1000ms, TE = 30ms, flip angle = 60 degrees, FOV = 24 cm, matrix = 64×64). Seventeen adjacent oblique axial slices were acquired in an interleaved sequence with 5 mm slice thickness, 1 mm slice gap, a 24 X 24 cm field of view (FOV), and a 64 X 64 matrix, resulting in an in-plane resolution of 3.75 X 3.75 X 5 mm³. The stimuli were rearprojected onto a translucent plastic screen and participants viewed the screen through a mirror attached to the head coil. Quality control checks were applied to the acquired data to examine the signal to noise ratio, temporal signal to noise ratio, ghosting, and head motion artifacts. Data that did not meet quality standards were not included in further analyses. In addition, the head motion for each participant, quantified in three translational (x, y, and z) and three rotational (pitch, roll, and yaw) dimensions were entered into the general linear model as regressors of no-interest.

2.5 Behavioral and Neuropsychological Data Analyses

Scores from neuropsychological measures for each participant were entered into SPSS 16.0 statistical software (*SPSS* Inc., Chicago, IL). Between-group t-tests were run in order to compare group means on each measure. Data on each participant's reaction time and accuracy was also entered into SPSS. Analyses were run examining group means on accuracy and reaction time for each condition (45° rotation and 90° rotation) separately as well as together (all rotation conditions combined). Since PIQ may have a role in mental rotation tasks, an ANCOVA was run using PIQ as a covariate in order to determine if significant group effects remained.

2.6 fMRI Data Analyses

Imaging analysis included brain activation, change in percent signal intensity (psc), and functional connectivity, along with correlation analyses involving these measures and assessment scores.

Brain activation. To examine brain activation, the data were pre-processed and statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Parametrical Mapping, version 8 software (SPM8; Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK). Images were corrected for slice acquisition timing, motion-corrected, normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template, re-sampled to 8-mm³ voxels, and smoothed with an 8 mm FWHM filter. The general linear model was utilized to perform statistical analyses on both individual and group data. Activated regions of interest (ROIs), or clusters with statistically significant activation were identified using a t-statistic on a voxel by voxel basis. In order to control for motion during scanning, artifact detection

was performed using the Artifact Detection Tool (ART) toolbox

(http://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/). This tool provided information regarding each subject's motion (in mm) as a function of time. These motion variables (in the x, y, and z planes as well as yaw, pitch, roll rotational dimensions) were then utilized as nuisance regressors for analysis of each subject's activation data. Since PIQ scores were marginally significant between the two groups, PIQ was added as a covariate for withingroup and between-group activation analyses in order to determine areas of activation that remain after controlling for its effect. Differences in activation between groups were calculated by examining differences in the number of voxels activated in corresponding ROIs between the groups for each paradigm. Monte Carlo simulations were applied to the data based on the 8mm³ voxel size using AlphaSim in Analysis of Functional NeuroImage (AFNI) software (Ward et al., 2000) to determine the minimum number of voxels required in each cluster to be equivalent to the level of statistical significance at a family-wise error corrected threshold of p<0.05. According to Lieberman and Cunningham (2009), simulations can implicate cluster size thresholds that produce the best balance between Type I and Type II error. Based on the results of these simulations, the within-group analysis used a cluster size of 80 contiguous voxels at an uncorrected Pvalue of 0.001. Between-group analyses used a cluster threshold of 144 contigous voxels at an uncorrected P-value of 0.005.

Percent Signal Change (psc). In addition to the activation analyses run using the general linear model in SPM8, psc values were extracted for mental rotation task as a whole $(45^\circ + 90^\circ \text{ rotations together})$ when contrasted with a fixation baseline. This contrast was used as it best represented the brain activation across different conditions.

Anatomical ROIs were defined using the WFU Pickatlas toolbox (Maldjian et al., 2003). These ROIs included 8 sets of bilateral regions: inferior parietal lobule (LIPL, RIPL), inferior frontal gyrus (LIFG, RIFG), superior temporal sulcus (LSTS, RSTS), middle occipital gyrus (LMOG, RMOG), supplementary motor area (LSMA, RSMA), precentral gyrus (LPRCN, RPRCN), postcentral gyrus (LPSCN, RPSCN), cerebellum (LCBELL, RCBELL); and left middle temporal gyrus (LMTG), left insula (LINS), left hippocampus, and left middle frontal gyrus (LMFG). Labels for the ROIs were assigned with reference to the parcellation of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) single subject T1 weighted dataset carried out by Tzourio-Mazoyer and colleagues (Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002). In addition to these ROIs, bilateral extrastriate body area (LEBA, REBA) was also defined spherically (centralized at: +/-46 -70 1; radius=8mm) considering its involvement in this task. The time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within each ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. For each participant, the intensity of fMRI signal per voxel in all the ROIs was compared to that for the fixation baseline using a *t*-test with a statistical significance level of p < 0.05. Thus for each ROI, for each participant, the mean percent change in signal intensity reflected the amount of difference in the BOLD contrast-related changes between the experimental task and the fixation baseline.

Functional Connectivity. Functional connectivity (synchronization of activation across brain regions) was computed separately for each participant as a correlation between the average time course of all the activated voxels in each member of a pair of regions of interest (ROIs). This analysis utilized the same ROIs used for the psc analysis.

The time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within the ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. The functional connectivity correlation was computed on the images from the mental rotation condition $(45^{\circ} + 90^{\circ} \text{ rotations together Fisher's } r \text{ to } z$ transformation was then applied to the correlation coefficients for each participant prior to averaging and statistical comparison of the two groups. These ROIs were also separately clustered into networks based on function resulting in the following networks: MNS (LIFG, RIFG, LIPL, RIPL), motor regions (LPSCN, RPSCN, LSMA, RSMA), visual regions (LMOG, RMOG), insula (LINS), extrastriate body area (LEBA, REBA), and superior temporal sulcus (LSTS, RSTS). A network analysis was then run analyzing the correlation between activation time courses between networks. In order to explore the relationship between functional connectivity patterns and scores on neuropsychological measures, bivariate correlations were run in SPSS between scores on measures of ASD symptoms (AQ, SCQ), empathy, and PIQ with FCA network connectivity values for the overall group.

3. Results

Overview

This study examined the neural basis of mental rotation of sensorimotor stimuli in ASD. The main results are: 1) The ASD group was significantly more accurate, relative to TD group, in mental rotation, although this effect was related to PIQ; 2) Both groups showed activation in core visuospatial processing regions including IPL, middle to superior occipital lobe, and calcarine sulcus, also in regions associated with motor functioning; 3) Within-group activation analyses also indicated that when 45° rotation

was contrasted with the 90° rotation, the TD group showed additional activation in regions associated with self-processing; 4) For rotation as a whole, the ASD group, relative to TD, showed greater activation in right hemisphere regions including the RIFG, right mid insula, and RSTG. No areas of increased activation were found for the TD group; 5) The TD group also showed significantly greater psc in the LSTS, and activation in this region was positively correlated with EQ scores and negatively correlated with AQ scores for the overall group; and 6) The ASD group showed intact functional connectivity between all regions involved in the task compared with the TD group.

3.1 Behavioral Results

A two-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the effect of group (ASD or TD) and condition (45° rotation and 90° rotation) on accuracy and reaction time separately. Results of this analysis revealed a statistically significant main effect of group [F(1,696) = 31.75, p<0.01, partial eta squared = 0.04], with greater accuracy for the ASD group (ASD *M*=0.86; TD *M*=0.68). The main effect of condition did not reach statistical significance [F(1,696) = 0.42, p>0.05]; nor was there any significant interaction between group and condition [F(2,696) = 2.40, p>0.05]. Regarding reaction time, a statistically significant main effect of condition was found [F(1,696) = 9.02, p<0.01]. However, the effect size was relatively small (partial eta squared = 0.01). There was not a significant main effect of group [F(1,696) = 0.09, p>0.05] or a significant group by condition interaction [F(2,696) = 0.01, p>0.05]. Both groups showed significantly slower reaction times for the 90° rotation condition than for the 45° rotation condition [45° rotation M=2228.52ms; 90° rotation M=2398.22ms]. (See Figure 2)

Insert Figure 2 about here

Given that the ASD group also had a marginally significant higher PIQ score, relative to TD controls, a one-way between-groups analysis of covariance was conducted to determine if the group difference in accuracy remained after controlling for the effects of PIQ. Analyses were run to ensure that the assumptions of an ANCOVA (assumptions of normality, linearity, homogeneity of variances, homogeneity of regression slopes, and reliable measurement of the covariate) were not violated. Results of the ANCOVA indicated that after adjusting for PIQ, there was no significant difference between the two groups on overall spatial accuracy (45° rotation + 90° rotation) [F(2, 696)=0.51, p>0.05].

As hypothesized, and suggested in previous literature (e.g., Baron-Cohen & Wheelwright, 2004), the ASD group received significantly lower scores on the EQ (ASD M=24) than the TD group (TD M=43) [t(27)=-5.41, p<0.01]. The ASD group also scored significantly higher on both measures of autism symptomatology, the AQ [t(26)=4.58, p<0.01] and the SCQ [t(26)=5.28, p<0.01]. Regarding motor skills, the ASD group displayed significantly greater difficulty on the PANESS [t(27)=2.44, p=0.02]. Results of testing indicated that the groups did not differ significantly on other measures including those assessing both IQ and theory-of-mind.

35

Brain Activation Results

3.2 Within-Group Activation

Within-group analyses of mental rotation (combining 45° and 90° rotations), indicated activation in regions associated with spatial processing (precentral gyrus, postcentral gyrus, IPL) and in calcarine sulcus in both TD and ASD groups (p<0.001; k =80). Both groups also displayed activation in the left insula, thought to be involved in orienting of attention to spatial tasks (Yassa et al., 2008). The ASD group also showed activation in areas related to motor and spatial memory (i.e., the right cerebellum and left thalamus respectively) as well as the right IFG. The TD group, however, showed activation in additional areas such as the superior occipital lobe, fusiform gyrus, and the right SMA (See Table 2 & Figure 3).

Insert Table 2 and Figure 3 about here

Since the ASD group has slightly higher PIQ scores (p=0.06) than our TD group, PIQ was covaried in the activation analysis to determine the effects independent of the effects of PIQ. After the effects of PIQ were controlled for, both ASD and TD groups still showed activation in areas involved in spatial rotation tasks such as right IPL, calcarine sulcus, and insula (p<0.001; k = 80). The TD group still had activation in the SMA and superior occipital regions, and the ASD group in the right cerebellum and left pre- and post-central gyrus (See Table 3).

Insert Table 3 about here

When 90° rotation was directly contrasted with 45° rotation, the TD group showed significantly greater activation in the right middle and superior occipital areas (p<0.001, k=80). The ASD group did not show any areas of significantly increased

activation for this contrast. However, when 45° rotation was contrasted with 90° rotation, the ASD group showed greater activation in the left insula as well as the left precentral and postcentral gyri (p<0.001, *k*=80); whereas TD group showed greater activation in right supramarginal gyrus (BA 40) and LSMA (BA 24). The TD group also showed recruitment of additional regions in the prefrontal cortex including LIFG (BA 44) and LMFG (BA 10) (See Figure 4).

Insert Figure 4 about here

3.3 Group Differences in Brain Activation

Group differences in brain activation were examined using a two-sample t-test. When mental rotation $(45^{\circ} \text{ and } 90^{\circ} \text{ rotations together})$ was contrasted with fixation, the ASD group demonstrated greater activation in the right insula, RIFG, and RSTG. There were no areas of significantly greater activation for the TD group. When activation during 45° rotations was contrasted with that of 90° rotations, the ASD group showed greater activation in the right fusiform gyrus, left and right middle occipital lobe, and right precuneus. The TD group, on the other hand, showed greater activation in LIFG, left MPFC, LSMA, and left anterior cingulate cortex (p<0.005, *k*=144) (See Figure 5).

Insert Figure 5 about here

3.4 Percent Signal Change (psc)

PSC values were extracted for individual participants from activated voxels in several anatomical ROIs. The only statistically significant group difference found in this analysis was reduced levels of activation in LSTS in the mental rotation task for the ASD group (ASD M=0.16), relative to TD controls (TD M=0.41) [t(21)=2.29, p<0.05]. To examine the relationship between activation in identified ROIs and measures of behavioral characteristics, bivariate correlations were run between psc values and scores on neuropsychological measures related to ASD symptoms, IQ, motor, and visual-motor skills. A significant positive correlation was found between psc in the LSTS and EQ scores (r= 0.55, p<0.01) for the overall group, indicating that higher levels of empathy were correlated with greater reliance on the LSTS for this task. Activation in the LSTS was also negatively correlated with AQ scores (r=-0.53, p=0.01). Greater motor difficulty (as indicated by higher PANESS scores) was positively correlated with psc in the RIPL (r=0.44, p<0.05) (See Figure 6).

Insert Figure 6 about here

3.5 Functional Connectivity Analysis

An analysis of functional connectivity between the time-course of activated regions of interest (ROIs) revealed significantly greater connectivity between the LIFG and both the left insula [t(18)=2.74,p<0.01] and left middle occipital lobe [t(17)=2.13, p<0.05] for the ASD group. However, it should be noted that these areas of increased connectivity for the ASD group did not survive correction for multiple comparisons. No areas of increased connectivity were found for the TD group, when compared with the ASD group. A subsequent connectivity network analysis, by grouping the ROIs into networks based on their primary role in different tasks, did not reveal any statistically different differences in connectivity between the two groups.

To examine the relationship between network functional connectivity and measures of behavioral characteristics, bivariate correlations were run between connectivity values obtained from the network analysis and scores on neuropsychological measures. A significant negative correlation was found between scores on the VMI and functional connectivity between the MNS and insula (r=-0.57, p<0.01). Functional connectivity between the MNS and motor networks showed a significant positive correlation with PANESS scores (r=0.55,p<0.01), indicating that individuals with greater motor difficulties showed significantly stronger connectivity between these regions (See Figure 7).

Insert Figure 7 about here

4. Discussion

While participants with autism performed the mental rotation task involving hand stimuli as well as TD controls, it was accompanied by differences at the neural level, in terms of altered activation and increased functional connectivity. The intact ASD performance on this task is consistent with previous findings of intact or superior visuospatial ability in ASD (Falter et al., 2008; Hamilton et al., 2009; Caron et al., 2004; Mottron et al., 2003; 2006; Mitchell & Ropar, 2004; Soulieres et al., 2011). However, it should also be noted that this advantage may be limited to hand rotation tasks, and may not extend to tasks involving full body transformations (David et al., 2010; Pearson et al., 2013; Pearson et al., 2014). The difficulties with full body transformations may likely underlie the visual-perspective taking deficits found in autism (Hamilton et al., 2009). It should be noted that improved performance in ASD participants is a product of their performance IQ, rather than an effect of group. However, this advantage is still meaningful as visuospatial ability is a major component of tasks measuring PIQ. Therefore, the borderline significantly higher PIQ scores in the ASD group may be indicative of this group's advantage in spatial tasks including mental rotation. This is consistent with previous research indicating that there is a subset of ASD individuals who have a particular strength in block design (one of the subtests used to assess PIQ) and that individuals displaying this peak show increased speed and accuracy for a variety of visuospatial tasks when compared with peers matched on FSIQ (Caron et al., 2006).

4.1 Activation Specific to Mental Rotation of Biological Stimuli

In addition to visuospatial activation (superior parietal and occipital areas), both TD and ASD groups also showed activation in regions previously associated with mental rotation of body parts including activation in the motor network (precentral gyrus/primary motor cortex) and body-related processing regions (insula, inferior parietal lobule). While both groups displayed activation in core regions associated with mental rotation of body stimuli, within-group analyses indicated unique activation patterns for each group, with the TD group also showing activation in SMA and fusiform areas. This may be associated with self-referential sensorimotor processing (Kircher et al., 2000; Penfield & Jasper, 1954; Lim et al., 1994) and the processing of biological forms (Peelen & Downing, 2005). The ASD group showed activation in the thalamus and cerebellum, areas associated with processing/relaying sensory information and motor coordination. When the effect of PIQ was controlled, this activation pattern was mostly maintained, with individuals with ASD continuing to show activation in areas associated with motor control including precentral and cerebellar regions. The TD group continued to display activation in areas associated with self-referential sensorimotor and processing of biological forms. Unlike traditional mental rotation tasks, the current study found activation in motor and biological motion processing areas in addition to visuospatial processing. This underscores the extra effort required (through the recruitment of additional neural resources) in order to accomplish mental rotation of hand stimuli.

4.2 Group Differences in Neural Approach to Task

While both groups activated networks associated with visuospatial, motor, and body-related processing, between group activation and psc differences were primarily centered around regions associated with processing of body-related or socially based stimuli. This finding of a difference in neural approach between groups is consistent with previous research indicating a tendency for individuals with ASD to adopt an allocentric rather than an egocentric approach to mental rotation (Kessler & Wang, 2012; Pearson et al., 2014) and within-group activation patterns indicating that the TD group activated regions related to self-processing and sense of agency (SMA, left MPFC) that have been found to be specifically associated with adapting an egocentric processing (Kosslyn et al., 1998). Between-group contrasts revealed greater activation in several right hemisphere regions for the ASD group including the right insula, RIFG, and RSTG. Activation of right hemisphere regions has been previously associated with adoption of an "other" or third-party based approach to spatial rotations (Ratcliff, 1979; Cohen et al., 1996; Ditunno & Mann, 1990; Harris et al., 2000). Also consistent with the hypothesis that the ASD group is using a third-party based approach to the task, the RSTG has been

previously implicated in the perception of biological motion (Pelphrey et al., 2005). Thus, this activation also suggests that ASD participants may be imagining viewing the rotation of the hands, rather than imagining their own hands. Insula activation also indicates that ASD individuals might be experiencing greater levels of difficulty switching between self and other processing (Menon & Uddin, 2010) while RIFG activation suggests the use of a more analytic or serial strategy for the task (Weiss et al., 2003; Thompson et al., 2000). PSC analyses also revealed significantly increased activation of the LSTS for the TD group during spatial conditions. The LSTS has previously been found to be activated during visual perspective taking, when a person takes a first person perspective to perform the task (David et al., 2006).

Participants with ASD also demonstrated increased activation in the insula. The insula is associated with body-related processing (Karnath et al., 2005; Farrer & Frith, 2002; Tsakiris et al., 2007) and has also been considered as a critical node of the brain's salience network (SN), which may be dysfunctional in autism (Uddin & Menon, 2009). However, increased activation in the insula may also suggest that the social nature of the images presented in our study may pose additional difficulty to participants with ASD. Given the SN's role in switching between the default mode and active processing (Menon & Uddin, 2010; Goulden et al., 2014), this increase in activation might also indicate that the switch between processes may not be as smooth or automatic in ASD individuals.

4.3 Functional Connectivity Differences

Based on previous findings of enhanced or unimpaired visuospatial skills in individuals with ASD, it was hypothesized that functional connectivity within the regions

associated with these skills would also remain intact. Consistent with prior research (e.g., Villalobos et al., 2005), results indicated that functional connectivity between relatively posterior neural regions remained unimpaired. The TD group did not show any areas of increased connectivity over the ASD group, even between frontal to posterior neural regions. Therefore, results of the current study indicate that functional connectivity across regions involved in visuospatial rotation of body-related stimuli remains intact in ASD.

4.4 Brain-Behavior Relations

Results of correlation analyses indicate that activation in the LSTS was positively correlated with EQ scores for all participants (ASD +TD). The correlation provides further evidence of the potential role of this region in both visuospatial processing and empathy (Decety & Lamm, 2007; Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006). Prior research also indicates that this region is specifically activated during utilization of an egocentric visuospatial rotation strategy (Zacks et al., 2003). Trait empathy has also been found to be positively correlated with an egocentric approach to visuospatial transformations (Thakkar & Park, 2010; Gronholm et al., 2012). Thus, it has been suggested that the strategy used for body or socially related visuospatial transformations may moderate the relationship between empathy and visuospatial transformations, with individuals having the option of completing many of these tasks through an empathetic or non-empathetic route (Gronholm et al., 2012).

Activation in the LSTS was also negatively correlated with AQ scores. Based on the previously described role of this region in empathy, one potential reason for this finding is the negative correlation between AQ scores and levels of empathy (Wheelwright et al., 2006). The LSTS has also been implicated in connecting the actions of others to one's own actions (Molenberghs et al., 2010) and in theory-of-mind (Schulte-Rüther et al., 2007; Otsuka et al., 2009). Thus, it follows that aberrant activation patterns involving this region may be related to deficits in the integration of visuospatial and social processing (Decety & Lamm, 2007) and, therefore, may also assist in explaining the dichotomy of visuospatial advantage and social impairment in ASD. These findings suggest on a larger scale a connection between the activation pattern or neural approach utilized and behavioral characteristics related to ASD including difficulties with social interaction. Given that this is a correlation, however, it is not possible to determine causality. It remains unclear as to if this pattern of neural activation causes or results from reduced amounts of empathy or other social skill deficits.

The cognitive approach utilized was also found to be related to PANESS score, used to measure motor ability in participants. More specifically, it was found that individuals whose scores on the PANESS indicated greater motor difficulties showed greater activation in the RIPL (a component of the human mirror neuron system) during the visual-spatial rotation task. While additional information is necessary to determine the exact cause of this correlation, it could indicate that increased activation of this region is indicative of a greater reliance on visuospatial aspects to perform the task. It may also indicate increased difficulty imagining self-based or other-based movement.

4.5 Limitations/Future Directions

One limitation of this study was that the experimental design relied on two dimensional hand images that exhibited a limited range of rotation angles. These angles were selected in order to minimize the level of difficulty and, therefore, the need for reliance on executive functioning systems. However, the limited number of angles utilized, along with the unrealistic nature of the two dimensional images, reduces the generalizability of results to real-world social situations in which individuals encounter situations necessitating more complex mental rotations along with more interference from additional social stimuli. The exclusion of the hand images from other body-related aspects may minimize the degree to which these images are processed as a social stimulus. Further examination of this aspect would be of particular importance given that previous research suggests a visual-perspective taking deficit in ASD (Hamilton et al., 2009).

While previous research suggests that these neural patterns may indicate the use of a more third-person or allocentric approach by individuals with ASD (Kosslyn et al., 1998; Pearson et al., 2014), this cannot be confirmed. Future studies involving longitudinal designs could clarify questions regarding whether this allocentric neural approach may be causing social difficulties or if this relationship is switched with a history of social difficulties resulting in activation of this neural system in response to sensorimotor rotation stimuli. It would also provide additional information regarding how these findings may change over time. This may be of importance given the recent findings that neural networks utilized in children with ASD may differ significantly from those observed in adults with autism, resulting in some of the heterogeneity of results present in the autism literature (Dickstein et al., 2013).

5. Conclusions

Even when presented with body-related stimuli, the ASD group was able to perform the mental rotation task indicating this skill remains intact in high-functioning children and adolescents with autism. Additionally, no areas of significantly decreased functional connectivity were present in ASD participants. However, it should be noted that mental rotation of body stimuli such as hands recruit additional motor and bodyrelated processing networks and that individuals with ASD show unique patterns of activation (compared with TD participants) in regions associated with body-related processing. The differences in neural activation patterns observed imply that the TD and ASD groups utilized different cognitive approaches to the task. This variation in approach may underlie difficulties observed in individuals with ASD when faced with more complex social stimuli requiring visual-perspective taking or full-body rotations. Results also suggest that differences in neural activation patterns are related to both the ability to empathize and levels of autism symptomology. While this indicates a relationship between these characteristics, it remains unclear if this difference in cognitive approach to the task underlies, or results from, the social difficulties observed in autism. More research is necessary to clarify the possible relationship between the alteration in neural approach observed and the with social deficits characteristic of ASD.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the NIH T-32 Training grant (T32 NS061788-01), the Eunice Kennedy Shriver Pilot Study Award (5P30HD038985), and the UAB Department of Psychology faculty start-up funds. The authors would like to thank Lauren Libero, Thomas DeRamus, and Hrishikesh Deshpande for their help with different aspects of this study. The authors would like to thank all participants and families for helping us by taking part in this study.

References

- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., 2004. *The Empathy Quotient: An investigation of adults with Asperger's syndrome or high functioning autism, and normal sex differences.* Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 34(2), 163-175.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., Plumb, I., 2001. The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger Syndrome or high-functioning Autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 42(2), 241-51.
- Beacher, F. D., Radulescu, E., Minati, L., Baron-Cohen, S., Lombardo, M. V., Lai, M. C., Walker, A., Howard, D., Gray, M. A., Harrison, N. A., Critchley, H. D., 2012. Sex differences and autism: brain function during verbal fluency and mental rotation. PloS One, 7(6), e38355.
- Berument, S. K., Rutter, M., Lord, C., Pickles, A., Bailey, A., 1999. Autism screening questionnaire: diagnostic validity. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 175(5), 444-451.
- Brunye, T. T., Ditman, T., Giles, G. E., Mahoney, C. R., Kessler, K., Taylor, H. A., 2012. Gender and autistic personality traits predict perspective-taking ability in typical adults. Personality and Individual Differences, 52, 84–88.
- Caron, M. J., Mottron, L., Berthiaume, C., Dawson, M., 2006. *Cognitive mechanisms, specificity and neural underpinnings of visuospatial peaks in autism.* Brain, 129(7), 1789-1802.
- Caron, M.J., Mottron, L., Rainville, C., Chouinard, S., 2004. *Do high functioning persons with autism present superior spatial abilities?* Neuropsychologia, 42, 467-481.
- Cattaneo, L., Fabbri-Destro, M., Boria, S., Pieraccini, C., Monti, A., Cossu, G., Rizzolatti, G., 2007. *Impairment of actions chains in autism and its possible role in intention understanding*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104(45), 17825-17830.
- Cheng, Y., Mix, K.S., 2014. *Spatial training improves children's mathematics ability*. Journal of Cognition and Development, 15(1), 2-11.
- Cohen, M., Kosslyn, S., Breiter, H., DiGirolamo, G. J., Thompson, W., Anderson, A. K., Bookheimer, S. Y., Belliveau, J., Rosen, B., 1996. *Changes in cortical activity during mental rotation: A mapping study using functional magnetic resonance imaging*. Brain, 119, 89-100.
- Conson, M., Mazzarella, E., Frolli, A., Esposito, D., Marino, N., Trojano, L., Massagli, A., Gison, G., Aprea, N., Grossi, D., 2013. *Motor imagery in Asperger syndrome: testing action simulation by the hand laterality task.* PloS One, 8(7), e70734.

- Corballis, M. C., 1997. *Mental rotation and the right hemisphere*. Brain Lang, 57(1), 100-121.
- Damarla, S.R., Keller, T.A., Kana, R.K., Cherkassky, V.L., Williams, D.L., Minshew, N.J., Just, M.A., 2010. Cortical underconnectivity coupled with preserved visuospatial cognition in autism: Evidence from an fMRI study of an embedded figures task. Autism Res., 3(5), 273-9.
- David, N., Aumann, C., Bewernick, B., Santos, N., Lehnhardt, F.G., Vogeley, K., 2010. Investigation of mentalizing and visuospatial perspective taking for self and other in Asperger syndrome. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 40, 290– 299.
- David, N., Bewernick, B.H., Cohen, M.X., Newen, A., Lux, S., Fink, G.R., Shah, N.J., Vogeley, K., 2006. Neural representations of self versus other: Visual-spatial perspective taking and agency in a virtual ball-tossing game. Journal Cogn Neurosci, 18(6), 898-910.
- Dawson, G., Webb, S. J., Wijsman, E., Schellenberg, G., Estes, A., Munson, J., Faja, S., 2005. Neurocognitive and electrophysiological evidence of altered face processing in parents of children with autism: implications for a model of abnormal development of social brain circuitry in autism. Dev Psychopathol, 17(3), 679-697.
- Decety, J., Lamm, C., 2007. *The role of the right temporoparietal junction in social interaction: how low-level computational processes contribute to meta-cognition.* Neuroscientist, 13(6), 580-593.
- Di Martino, A., Ross, K., Uddin, L. Q., Sklar, A. B., Castellanos, F. X., Milham, M. P., 2009. Functional brain correlates of social and nonsocial processes in autism spectrum disorders: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry, 65(1), 63-74.
- Dickstein, D. P., Pescosolido, M. F., Reidy, B. L., Galvan, T., Kim, K. L., Seymour, K. E., Barrett, R. P., 2013. Developmental meta-analysis of the functional neural correlates of autism spectrum disorders. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 52(3), 279-289.
- Dietrich, T., Krings, T., Neulen, J., Willmes, K., Erberich, S., Thron, A., Sturm, W., 2001. *Effects of blood estrogen level on cortical activation patterns during cognitive activation as measured by functional MRI*. NeuroImage, 13, 425–432.
- Ditunno, P. L., Mann, V. A., 1990. *Right hemisphere specialization for mental rotation in 49ehavi and brain damaged participants.* Cortex, 26, 177-188.

- Falter, C.M., Plaisted, K.C., Davis, G., 2008. Visuo-spatial processing in autism testing the predictions of extreme male brain theory. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 38(3), 507-15.
- Farrer, C. Frith, C.D., 2002. Experiencing oneself vs another person as being the cause of an action: The neural correlates of the experience of agency. Neuroimage, 15(3), 596-603.
- Goulden, N., Khusnulina, A., Davis, N.J., Bracewell, R.M., Bokde, A.L., McNulty, J.P., Mullins, P.G., 2014. The salience network is responsible for switching between the default mode network and the central executive network: Replication from DCM. Neuroimage, Epub ahead of print.
- Gowen, E., Hamilton, A., 2012. *Motor abilities in autism: A review using a computational context*. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders. 43(2), 323-44.
- Gronholm, P. C., Flynn, M., Edmonds, C. J., Gardner, M. R., 2012. *Empathic and non-empathic routes to visuospatial perspective-taking*. Conscious Cogn, 21(1), 494-500.
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R.M., Snyder, J., Tager-Flusberg, H., 2007. *Abnormal activation in the social brain during face perception in autism*. Human Brain Mapping, 28, 441-449.
- Hamilton, A. F., Brindley, R., Frith, U., 2009. *Visual perspective taking impairment in children with autistic spectrum disorder*. Cognition, 113, 37–44.
- Harris, I.M., Egan, G.F., Sonkkila, C., Tochon-Danguy, H.J., Paxinos, G., Watson, J.D.G., 2000. Selective right parietal lobe activation during mental rotation: a parametric PET study. Brain 123(1):65–73.
- Iacoboni, M., Dapretto, M., 2006. The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 7 (12), 942–951.
- Kana, R. K., Liu, Y., Williams, D. L., Keller, T. A., Schipul, S. E., Minshew, N. J., Just, M. A., 2013. *The local, global, and neural aspects of visuospatial processing in autism spectrum disorders*. Neuropsychologia, 51(14), 2995-3003.
- Karnath, H.O., Baier, B., Nägele, T., 2005. Awareness of the functioning of one's own limbs mediated by the insular cortex? Journal of Neuroscience, 25(31), 7134-8.
- Keehn, B., Wagner, J. B., Tager-Flusberg, H., Nelson, C. A., 2013. Functional connectivity in the first year of life in infants at-risk for autism: a preliminary near-infrared spectroscopy study. Front Hum Neurosci, 7, 444.

- Kessler, K., Wang, H.F., 2012. Spatial perspective taking is an embodied process, but not for everyone in the same way: differences predicted by sex and social skills score. Spatial Cognition and Computation, 12, 133-158.
- Kircher, T. T., Senior, C., Phillips, M. L., Benson, P. J., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M., Simmons, A., Williams, S. C., Bartels, M., David, A. S., 2000. *Towards a functional neuroanatomy of self processing: effects of faces and words*. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res, 10(1-2), 133-144.
- Kleinhans, N. M., Richards, T., Sterling, L., Stegbauer, K. C., Mahurin, R., Johnson, L. C., Greenson, J., Dawson, G., Aylward, E., 2008. Abnormal functional connectivity in autism spectrum disorders during face processing. Brain, 131(4), 1000-1012.
- Kosslyn, S.M., DiGirolamo, G.J., Thompson, W.L., Alpert, N.M., 1998. Mental rotation of objects versus hands: neural mechanisms revealed by positron emission tomography. Psychophysiology, 35(2), 151-61.
- Kosslyn, S.M., Thompson, W.L., Wraga, M., Alpert, N.M., 2001. *Imagining rotation by endogenous versus exogenous forces: distinct neural mechanisms*. Neuroreport, 12(11), 2519-25.
- Lam, K.S., Aman, M.G., 2007. The Repetitive Behavior Scale-Revised: independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord., 37(5), 855-66.
- Lieberman, M.D., Cunningham, W.A., 2009. *Type I and Type II error concerns in fMRI* research: re-balancing the scale. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci, 4(4), 423-428.
- Lim, S. H., Dinner, D. S., Pillay, P. K., Luders, H., Morris, H. H., Klem, G., Wyllie, E., Awad, I. A., 1994. Functional anatomy of the human supplementary sensorimotor area: results of extraoperative electrical stimulation. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol, 91(3), 179-193.
- Maldjian, J. A., Laurienti, P. J., Kraft, R. A., Burdette, J. H., 2003. An automated method for neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. Neuroimage, 19(3), 1233-1239.
- Mathewson, J. H., 1999. Visual-spatial thinking: An aspect of science overlooked by educators. Science Education, 83(1), 33-54.
- McGrath, J., Johnson, K., Ecker, C., O'Hanlon, E., Gill, M., Gallagher, L., Garavan, H., 2012. Atypical visuospatial processing in autism: Insights from functional connectivity analysis. Autism Research, 5, 314-30.

- Menon, V., Uddin, L.Q., 2010. Salience, switching, attention, and control: a network model of insula function. Brain Structure and Function, 214(5-6), 655-667.
- Michelon, P., Zacks, J. M., 2006. *Two kinds of visual perspective taking*. Perception and Psychophysics, 68, 327–337.
- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., Siegel, D. J., 1997. Neuropsychologic functioning in autism: Profile of a complex information processing disorder. Journal of International Neuropsychological Society, 3(4), 303–316.
- Mitchell, P., Ropar, D., 2004. *Visuo-spatial abilities in autism: A review*. Infant and Child Development, 13(3), 185-198.
- Molenberghs, P., Brander, C., Mattingley, J. B., Cunnington, R., 2010. *The role of the superior temporal sulcus and the mirror neuron system in imitation*. Hum Brain Mapp, 31(9), 1316-1326.
- Mostofsky, S. H., Dubey, P., Jerath, V. K., Jansiewicz, E. M., Goldberg, M. C., Denckla, M. B., 2006. Developmental dyspraxia is not limited to imitation in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 12(3), 314-326.
- Mottron, L., Burack, J.A., Iarocci, G, Belleville, S., Enns, J.T., 2003. Locally oriented perception with intact global processing among adolescents with high-functioning autism: evidence from multiple paradigms. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 44(6), 904-13.
- Mottron, L., Dawson, M., Soulieres, I., Hubert, B., Burack, J., 2006. *Enhanced perceptual functioning in autism: an update, and eight principles of autistic perception.* Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 36(1), 27-43.
- Nakano, T., Kato, N., Kitazawa, S., 2012. Superior haptic-to-visual shape matching in autism spectrum disorders. Neuropsychologia, 50(5), 696-703.
- Noterdaeme, M., Mildenberger, K., Minow, F., Amorosa, H., 2002. Evaluation of neuromotor deficits in children with autism and children with a specific speech and language disorder. European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry,11(5), 219–225.
- Otsuka, Y., Osaka, N., Ikeda, T., Osaka, M., 2009. *Individual differences in the theory of mind and superior temporal sulcus*. Neurosci Lett, 463(2), 150-153.
- Parsons, L. M., 1987. *Imagined spatial transformations of one's hands and feet*. Cognitive Psychology, 19, 178-241.
- Parsons, L. M., 1994. Temporal and kinematic properties of motor behavior reflected in mentally simulated action. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 20, 709-730.

- Parsons, L. M., Fox, P. T., Downs, J. H., Glass, T., Hirsch, T. B., Martin, C. C., Jerabek, P. A., Lancaster, J. L., 1995. Use of implicit motor imagery for visual shape discrimination as revealed by PET. Nature, 375(6526), 54-58.
- Pearson, A., Marsh, L., Hamilton, A., Ropar, D., 2014. *Spatial transformations of bodies and objects in adults with autism spectrum disorder*. J Autism Dev Disord, Epub ahead of print.
- Pearson, A., Ropar, D., Hamilton, A. F., 2013. A review of visual perspective taking in autism spectrum disorder. Front Hum Neurosci, 7, 652.
- Peelen, M. V., Downing, P. E., 2005. *Selectivity for the human body in the fusiform gyrus*. J Neurophysiol, 93(1), 603-608.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., Michelich, C. R., Allison, T., McCarthy, G., 2005. Functional anatomy of biological motion perception in posterior temporal cortex: an FMRI study of eye, mouth and hand movements. Cereb Cortex, 15(12), 1866-1876.
- Penfield, W., Jasper, H. H., 1954. *Epilepsy and the functional anatomy of the human brain*: Little, Brown.
- Ratcliff, G., 1979. *Spatial thought, mental rotation, and the right cerebral hemisphere*. Neuropsychologia, 17, 49-54.
- Ring, H.A., Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Williams, S.C., Brammer, M., Andrew, C., Bullmore, E.T., 1999. Cerebral correlates of preserved cognitive skills in autism: a functional MRI study of embedded figures task performance. Brain, 122(7), 1305-15.
- Rogers, S. J., Bennetto, L., McEvoy, R., Pennington, B. F., 1996. Imitation and pantomime in high-functioning adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. Child Dev, 67(5), 2060-2073.
- Sacrey, L. A., Germani, T., Bryson, S. E., Zwaigenbaum, L., 2014. Reaching and grasping in autism spectrum disorder: a review of recent literature. Front Neurol, 5, 6.
- Samson, F., Mottron, L., Soulieres, I., Zeffiro, T. A., 2012. *Enhanced visual functioning in autism: an ALE meta-analysis.* Hum Brain Mapp, 33(7), 1553-1581.
- Schulte-Ruther, M., Markowitsch, H. J., Fink, G. R., Piefke, M., 2007. Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in face-to-face interactions: a functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy. J Cogn Neurosci, 19(8), 1354-1372.

- Sekiyama, K., 1983. Mental and physical movements of hands: Kinesthetic information preserved in representational systems. Japanese Psychological Research, 25, 95-102.
- Shah, A., Frith, U., 1983. *An islet of ability in autistic children: a research note*. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 24(4), 613-20.
- Shah, A., Frith, U., 1993. *Why do autistic individuals show superior performance on the block design task?* J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 34(8), 1351-64.
- Shepard, R. N., 1984. Ecological constraints on internal representation: resonant kinematics of perceiving, imagining, thinking, and dreaming. Psychol Rev, 91(4), 417-447.
- Shepard, R. N., Metzler, J., 1971. *Mental rotation of three-dimensional objects*. Science, 171, 701–703.
- Silk, T.J., Rinehart, N., Bradshaw, J.L., Tonge, B., Egan, G., O'Boyle, M.W., Cunnington, R., 2006. Visuospatial processing and the function of the prefrontalparietal networks in autism spectrum disorders: a functional MRI study. Am J Psychiatry, 163(8), 1440-3.
- Smith, I.M., 1964. Spatial Ability. London: University of London Press.
- Soulières, I., Zeffiro, T.A., Girard, M.L., Mottron, L., 2011. *Enhanced mental image mapping in autism*. Neuropsychologia, 49, 848-57.
- Thakkar, K. N., Park, S., 2010. *Empathy, schizotypy, and visuospatial transformations*. Cogn Neuropsychiatry, 15(5), 477-500.
- Tsakiris, M., Hesse, M. D., Boy, C., Haggard, P., Fink, G. R., 2007. Neural signatures of body ownership: a sensory network for bodily self-consciousness. Cereb Cortex, 17(10), 2235-2244.
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., Mazoyer, B., Joliot, M., 2002. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI singlesubject brain. Neuroimage, 15(1), 273-289.
- Uddin, L.Q., Menon, V., 2009. *The anterior insula in autism: under-connected and under-examined*. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 33(8), 1198-203.
- Vingerhoets, G., de Lange, F. P., Vandemaele, P., Deblaere, K., Achten, E., 2002. Motor imagery in mental rotation: An fMRI study. Neuroimage, 17, 1623–1633.

- Ward, B. D., 2000. *Simultaneous inference for fMRI data*. AFNI 3dDeconvolve Documentation, Medical College of Wisconsin.
- Weiss, E., Siedentopf, C. M., Hofer, A., Deisenhammer, E. A., Hoptman, M. J., Kremser, C., Golaszewski, S., Felber, S., Fleischhacker, W. W., Delazer, M., 2003. Sex differences in brain activation pattern during a visuospatial cognitive task: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study in healthy volunteers. Neurosci Lett, 344(3), 169-172.
- Wheelwright, S., Baron-Cohen, S., Goldenfeld, N., Delaney, J., Fine, D., Smith, R., Weil, L., Wakabayashi, A., 2006. Predicting autism spectrum quotient (AQ) from the systemizing quotient-revised (SQ-R) and empathy quotient (EQ). Brain Res, 1079, 47-56.
- Wraga, M., Thompson, W. L., Alpert, N. M., Kosslyn, S. M., 2003. Implicit transfer of motor strategies in mental rotation. Brain and Cognition, 52, 135–143.
- Yassa, M. A., Verduzco, G., Cristinzio, C., Bassett, S. S., 2008. Altered fMRI activation during mental rotation in those at genetic risk for Alzheimer disease. Neurology, 70(20), 1898-1904.
- Zacks, J. M., Rypma, B., Gabrieli, J. D., Tversky, B., Glover, G. H., 1999. *Imagined* transformations of bodies: An fMRI investigation. Neuropsychologia, 37, 1029– 1040.
- Zacks, J. M., Vettel, J. M., Michelon, P., 2003. *Imagined viewer and object rotations* dissociated with event-related fMRI. J Cogn Neurosci, 15(7), 1002-1018.
- Zacks, J.M., 2008. *Neuroimaging studies of mental rotation: a meta-analysis and review*. J Cogn Neurosci., 20(1), 1-19.
- Zilbovicius, M., Meresse, I., Chabane, N., Brunelle, F., Samson, Y., Boddaert, N., 2006. *Autism, the superior temporal sulcus and social perception*. Trends Neurosci, 29(7), 359-366.

SPATIAL PROCESSING									
	ASD			TD					
Measure	n = 13	Range	S.D	n = 15	Range	S.D	p-value		
Age	13	10-17	2.66	11	8-15	1.86	0.11		
EQ	24	9-42	7.61	43	23-54	9.64	< 0.01		
SQ	27	16-50	8.52	28	14-40	7.9	0.75		
FSIQ	112	85-126	14.97	103	83-130	14.68	0.16		
VIQ	109	75-128	16.74	105	84-134	19.41	0.62		
PIQ	111	93-124	11.35	102	84-133	12.34	0.06		
SCQ	16	1-31	8.74	2	0-10	3.52	< 0.01		
VMI	93	66-117	13.23	99	86-110	6.14	0.15		
PANESS	55	39-75	10.8	46	36-71	9.19	0.02		
AQ	80	32-135	28.7	31	5-67	21.62	< 0.01		

Table 1. Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group.

Table 2. Table displaying areas of activation for each group when all spatial conditions are contrasted with fixation.

ADD (Spatial VS. FIXation)									
Region	Χ	Y	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t		
Precentral/Postcentral	-44	-18	56	L	4	2432	12.22		
Cerebellum/Vermis	18	-62	-26	R	NA	954	8.95		
Insula	-42	-8	6	L	NA	193	7.63		
Thalamus	-16	-22	6	L	NA	204	6.49		
Inferior Parietal	54	-30	56	R	2	329	6.25		
Calcarine	10	-96	4	R	NA	1048	6.23		
Inferior Frontal	48	0	16	R	NA	134	5.25		

ASD (Spatial Vs. Fixation)

TD (Spatial Vs. Fixation)

Region	X	Y	Ζ	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Supplementary Motor	2	18	50	R	8	452	6.9
Precentral/Postcentral	-40	-14	64	L	6	572	6.23
Insula	-28	24	-2	L	NA	103	5.93
Calcarine	0	-82	6	L	NA	343	5.71
Fusiform	24	-82	-16	R	NA	230	5.68
Superior Occipital	16	-96	16	R	18	338	5.67
Insula	42	22	-4	R	NA	141	5.44
Inferior Parietal	46	-46	54	R	40	181	4.86

Table 3. Table displaying areas of activation remaining after the effects of PIQ are controlled.

Χ	Y	Ζ	Hem	BA	Cluster	t				
-44	-16	56	L	4	2852	14.35				
22	-60	-26	R	NA	457	8.22				
46	-2	0	R	NA	177	7.26				
8	-98	2	R	NA	103	5.84				
-8	-94	-2	L	NA	124	5.74				
56	-28	56	R	2	164	5.6				
	X -44 22 46 8 -8 56	X Y -44 -16 22 -60 46 -2 8 -98 -8 -94 56 -28	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	X Y Z Hem -44 -16 56 L 22 -60 -26 R 46 -2 0 R 8 -98 2 R -8 -94 -2 L 56 -28 56 R	X Y Z Hem BA -44 -16 56 L 4 22 -60 -26 R NA 46 -2 0 R NA 8 -98 2 R NA -8 -94 -2 L NA 56 -28 56 R 2	XYZHemBACluster-44-1656L4285222-60-26RNA45746-20RNA1778-982RNA103-8-94-2LNA12456-2856R2164				

PIQ Covary (ASD) SPATIAL-FIXATION

PIQ Covary (TD) SPATIAL-FIXATION

Region		Y	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Supplementary Motor		18	50	R	8	366	6.63
Superior Frontal		-10	70	L	6	568	5.15
Fusiform	24	-82	-16	R	NA	178	5.57
Calcarine	0	-82	6	L	NA	210	5.57
Superior Occipital	16	-96	16	R	18	262	5.48
Insula	42	22	-4	R	NA	104	5.23
Inferior Parietal	46	-46	54	R	40	125	4.74

Figure Captions

Figure 1. Figure displaying sample mental rotation stimuli. The participants were asked to identify if the rotated hand on the left was the same hand (left or right hand) as the upright hand presented on the left side of the screen. Hand rotations were randomized between 45 and 90 degree rotations. This figure displays: (A) A 45 degree RH rotation that is congruent; (B) A 45 degree LH rotation that is not congruent; (C) A 90 degree LH rotation that is not congruent.

Figure 2. Figure displaying the behavioral results (accuracy and reaction time) for each condition and each group. This graph shows the significantly greater accuracy of the ASD group for all spatial conditions but no significant differences in reaction time for any of the spatial conditions.

Figure 3. The activation patterns for each condition (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown for each group. For this contrast, analyses were run on p<0.001 uncorrected with a voxel threshold of 80 (as determined by Monte Carlo simulations).

Figure 4. Areas of increased activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition for both groups. They exhibited greater activation in the left middle temporal gyrus, left angular gyrus, and left caudate. For this analysis, results were examined at a p<0.001 with a voxel threshold of 80.

Figure 5. Group differences in activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition. The ASD group shows greater levels of activation in posterior brain regions, while the TD group shows a greater reliance on frontal regions.

Figure 6. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between PSC values and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the positive correlation between EQ scores and PSC in the LSTS, the negative correlation between EQ scores and PSC in the LSTS, and the positive correlation between PANESS scores and PSC in the RIPL.

Figure 7. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the negative correlation between Insula:MNS connectivity and VMI scores as well as the positive correlation between MNS:Motor system connectivity and PANESS scores.
Figure 1. Figure displaying sample mental rotation stimuli. The participants were asked to identify if the rotated hand on the left was the same hand (left or right hand) as the upright hand presented on the left side of the screen. Hand rotations were randomized between 45 and 90 degree rotations. This figure displays: (A) A 45 degree RH rotation that is congruent; (B) A 45 degree LH rotation that is not congruent; (C) A 90 degree LH rotation that is not congruent.



Figure 2. Figure displaying the behavioral results (accuracy and reaction time) for each condition and each group. This graph shows the significantly greater accuracy of the ASD group for all spatial conditions but no significant differences in reaction time for any of the spatial conditions.



Figure 3. The activation patterns for each condition (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown for each group. For this contrast, analyses were run on p<0.001 uncorrected with a voxel threshold of 80 (as determined by Monte Carlo simulations).



Figure 4. Areas of increased activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition for both groups. They exhibited greater activation in the left middle temporal gyrus, left angular gyrus, and left caudate. For this analysis, results were examined at a p<0.001 with a voxel threshold of 80.



Figure 5. Group differences in activation for the 45° rotation condition when contrasted with the 90° rotation condition. The ASD group shows greater levels of activation in posterior brain regions, while the TD group shows a greater reliance on frontal regions.



Figure 6. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between PSC values and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the positive correlation between EQ scores and PSC in the LSTS, the negative correlation between EQ scores and PSC in the LSTS, and the positive correlation between PANESS scores and PSC in the RIPL.



Figure 7. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the negative correlation between Insula:MNS connectivity and VMI scores as well as the positive correlation between MNS:Motor system connectivity and PANESS scores.



THE ROLE OF MIRROR NEURON SYSTEM IN ACTION SIMULATION IN CHILDREN WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDERS

by

HEATHER M. WADSWORTH¹, HRISHIKESH D. DESHPANDE², &

RAJESH K. KANA¹

Department of Psychology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA

Department of Radiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA

Corresponding Author:

Rajesh K. Kana, Ph.D. Department of Psychology University of Alabama, Birmingham CIRC 235G, 1719 6th Ave South Birmingham, AL 35294-0021 Phone: 205-934-3171; Fax: 205-975-6330 E-mail: rkana@uab.edu

In preparation for submission to: Neuroimage: Clinical

Format adapted for dissertation

Abstract

Although a deficit in the ability to imitate is widely reported in children with autism spectrum disorders (ASD), the exact nature of it is still a topic of debate. It is possible that impairments in motor production as well as action simulation in ASD may impact their ability to successfully imitate actions. This fMRI study examined the role of mirror neuron system (MNS) in mediating action simulation (mental imitation of an action) in children and adolescents with ASD. Seventeen high-functioning children and adolescents with autism and 17 age and IQ-matched typically developing (TD) control participants took part in the study. Participants were shown cartoon pictures of people performing everyday actions (e.g., ironing clothes) but with the hand portion missing. They were asked to identify which hand (of three answer choices) would best fit the gap. There were no significant group differences on performance accuracy. While both ASD and TD groups showed robust activity in most parts of the MNS during action simulation, participants with ASD showed reduced activity, relative to TD, in right angular gyrus of the IPL during simulation of transitive actions and increased activity in right middle temporal cortex during intransitive actions. The ASD group also showed increased activity (measured by percent signal change) in cerebellum, precentral and postcentral gyrus during action simulation. Overall, the present study did not find any abnormalities, behaviorally and neurally, in participants with ASD in engaging successfully in action simulation.

Keywords: autism, fMRI, mirror neuron, motor, functional connectivity **Word Count:** 6,909

1. Introduction

Imitation, a fundamental aspect of human social behavior, plays a crucial role in development. Imitation acts as a precursor to symbolic functioning necessary for the development of both play and language skills (Piaget, 1962), and is important for the development of social, communication, and motor skills (Tomasello et al., 1993). By providing the child with information about the actions and intentions of the physical and the social world, imitation assists in social learning (Rogers et al., 2003) and forms the foundation for future social development. While research continues to emphasize the importance of imitation in a range of developmental areas, children with developmental disorders, such as autism spectrum disorders (ASD) exhibit significant difficulties in imitating actions appropriately and successfully (Williams et al., 2001). The finding of an imitation deficit in ASD has been frequently replicated (e.g., Williams et al., 2001; Rogers et al., 2003; Williams et al., 2004; Rogers & Williams, 2006; Rogers et al., 2008; Stewart et al., 2013).

However, the exact nature of this deficit is not clear. Several recent studies have found intact imitation skills in autism (Bird et al. 2007; Dinstein et al. 2010; Gowen et al., 2008; Hamilton et al., 2007; Leighton et al. 2008; Press et al., 2010; Spengler et al., 2010). In addition, not all types of imitation are equally impaired in ASD as individuals with autism often exhibit the greatest difficulty while imitating meaningless gestures than while imitating meaningful gestures or gestures that involve objects (Williams et al., 2004; Stone et al., 1997) or when imitating the style of an action (Hobson & Hobson, 2008). Imitation in ASD also appears to follow a clear developmental trajectory. Studies indicate that, although delayed, children with ASD show improvement in imitation skills over time (Heimann & Ullstadius, 1999; Stone et al., 1997), with the ability to imitate simple, single-step actions increases with age in children with autism (Hepburn & Stone, 2006). These findings point to the need for understanding the subtle processes and components of imitation.

The discovery of mirror neurons in nonhuman primates has provided a neural base for imitation. These neurons were found to not only fire when a monkey performs an action but also when a monkey watches an action being performed (Gallese et al., 1996; Rizzolatti et al., 1996). Although still debated, research indicates the presence of mirror neurons in humans (Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006) with the core regions of the human mirror neuron system (MNS) located in the caudal inferior frontal gyrus (IFG)/ ventral pre-motor cortex (PMv) and the rostral inferior parietal lobe (IPL). These core regions interact closely with the superior temporal sulcus (STS) to produce action understanding and mental action mirroring (Iacoboni, 2005; Iacoboni et al., 2001; Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006). While the IFG/PMv has been found to be involved in action planning (Hamilton, 2008) and perception-action coupling (Newman-Norlund et al., 2010), the IPL is thought to mediate spatiotemporal, perceptual and goal coding aspects necessary for imitation (Rizzolatti & Matelli, 2003; Hamilton, 2008). Successful imitation likely relies not only on these regions but also on their communication with other neural networks (see Kana et al., 2011 for review) including interactions with limbic regions (Carr et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 2003) and theory-of-mind (ToM) networks (Schulte-Ruther et al., 2007).

It has been hypothesized that individuals with autism who have deficits in imitation (Williams et al., 2004) may also have a malfunctioning MNS (Oberman & Ramachandran, 2007; Williams et al., 2001). However, not all research points towards a dysfunction in the MNS in children with ASD. There have also been studies finding intact activation (e.g., Oberman et al., 2008; Raymaekers et al., 2009; Avikainen et al., 1999) as well as studies suggesting increased activation in the MNS for subjects with autism (Martineau et al., 2010; Baron-Cohen et al., 2006). While previous research has suggested reduced functional connectivity in the MNS in autism, recent studies have called this finding into question, with studies reporting both hyper-connectivity and hypo-connectivity in autism (Fishman et al., 2014).

Recent research has also indicated abnormal connectivity patterns between regions of the MNS and complimentary neural regions, particularly increased connectivity with components of the limbic system (Murphy et al., 2012; Shih et al., 2010). These findings lead to the hypothesis that the MNS may be under increased subcortical control in ASD (Williams et al., 2006). Current evidence also supports atypical functional connectivity (or cross-communication) between the MNS and mentalizing system in ASD (Fishman et al., 2014), indicating reduced separation between two neural networks key for appropriate social understanding. Together with inconsistent findings of behavioral studies examining imitation in autism, current literature regarding the neural substrate of imitation suggests that imitation is likely comprised of multiple skills. Isolating the potential effects of specific component skills is important for developing a more comprehensive understanding of the imitation deficits observed in autism.

One area of particular importance to previous research examining imitation in autism is the possible effect of motor difficulties. Research has suggested that motor abnormalities can be seen in individuals with ASD starting in infancy (Brian et al., 2008; Provost et al., 2007; see Ozonoff et al., 2008 for differing opinion). Rogers (1999) proposed that mimicry deficits in ASD may result from cerebellar abnormalities leading to motor difficulties. A review of the current literature regarding motor skills in autism suggested that there were two main motor deficits present in ASD, difficulties integrating information necessary for motor planning and an increase in the variability between sensory inputs and motor outputs (Gowen & Hamilton, 2012). Research has also suggested difficulties related to action chaining (Cattaneo et al., 2007) and in control of reaching movements (Glazebrook et al., 2009). Given the joint presentation of motor and imitation difficulties in autism, it has been proposed that the imitation deficits observed may result from dyspraxia (DeMyer et al., 1981). Several researchers have suggested that dyspraxia may be responsible for imitation difficulties in autism as well as underlie a range of other symptoms related to the disorder (Bennetto, 1999; Rogers et al., 1996; Minshew et al., 1997).

However, recent research has also questioned this hypothesis. For example, Rogers and colleagues (2003) found no evidence of autism-specific motor difficulties on fine motor, gross motor, and a non-imitative praxis task for a group of toddlers with ASD as compared to children without ASD matched for developmental level. The toddlers with ASD did, however, still show difficulty on an imitation task providing evidence against a global dyspraxia hypothesis. Recent research has also evaluated the effect of basic motor skill functioning on the dyspraxia observed in autism. A study performed by Mostofsky and colleagues (2006) found that dyspraxia in ASD cannot be attributed solely to deficits in basic motor functioning. Smith and Bryson (1998) attempted to examine the contribution of effects of motor skill deficits on imitation by covarying scores of participants on a standard task of manual dexterity. They found that, while motor deficits appeared important for imitation (accounting for 37% of the variance observed), the deficit in imitation remained for the ASD group even after controlling for motor deficits. Given the ongoing debate regarding the exact nature of motor difficulties in autism and their potential effect on autism, this remains an essential aspect for developing a clearer understanding of the behavioral and neural nature of imitation deficits in ASD.

The current study attempted to fill gaps in the previous literature in several ways. Most studies have examined imitation as a single skill which makes determining the impact of motor deficits difficult. To remove the motor production component, the current study examined a "mental imitation" paradigm. Mental imitation has been defined as being comprised of visual perspective taking and motor imagery (Jeannerod, 1994; Goldman, 2005). The importance of examining mental imitation is emphasized in the simulation theory, which proposes that we gain insight into the mental workings (plans, beliefs, desires) of others by covertly or mentally simulating the actions ourselves but without actually performing the action. This suggests that mental imitation may be the most important aspect of imitation influencing deficits in social understanding in ASD, such as deficits with theory of mind.

Since motor production is not a component of the experimental design, this allows for both behavioral and neuroimaging data to be collected during a task requiring more complex imitative strategies. This allows the experiment to examine abilities related to dyspraxia, a deficit that would have clear implications on imitation ability, without the confounding variable of producing a motor act. Neuroimaging data can thus be collected on activation within the MNS without impact from motor production. By examining a complex imitative task, it can also evaluate not only the connectivity within the MNS but also between the MNS in other regions, such as those involved in mentalizing. This study aimed to determine the activation patterns and functional connectivity observed in individuals with ASD when presented with a mental imitation task involving both transitive actions (actions involving an object) and intransitive actions (actions not involving an object).

It was hypothesized that children with ASD would make more errors relative to TD children on this task. This is based on previous findings of impaired action planning, a skill mediated by the frontal component of the MNS – the ventral premotor cortex (Davare et al., 2006), in children with ASD (Fabbri-Destro et al., 2009). At the neural level, it was predicted that participants with autism would show aberrant or decreased levels of activation in the frontal component of the MNS but similar levels of activation in the frontal component of the MNS but similar levels of activation in the parietal region of the MNS (e.g., IPL). It was also hypothesized that participants with ASD would show aberrant functional connectivity patterns within the core components of the MNS as well as between the MNS and other neural systems.

2. Materials & Method

2.1 Participants

Seventeen high-functioning children and adolescents with autism and 17 age and IQ-matched typically developing participants took part in the current fMRI study (age range: 8 to 17 years; minimum Full Scale and Non-Verbal IQ: 80, measured using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence). Participants with autism were recruited through the research subject database of the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB), the Alabama Autism Society, and flyers posted at local ASD-related treatment and evaluation centers. All participants had previous diagnoses of an ASD. Current and past ASD symptoms were assessed using the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) – Lifetime Version (Berument et al., 1999), the Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001), and the Repetitive Behavior Scale – Revised (Lam & Aman, 2007). The average SCQ scores for the participants with ASD was 18 (SD = 7.25) while the average SCQ scores for typically developing participants was 3 (SD= 3.56 p<0.01). The average AQ for ASD participants was 78 (SD = 30.31) while the average AQ for the typically developing group was 31 (SD=21.62; p<0.01). Typically developing participants were recruited using flyers and advertisements on the UAB campus, flyers posted in local community centers (e.g., libraries, YMCAs), and through the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory's research subject database. Participants were not included in the study if they indicated having worked with metal or having metal implanted in their bodies (either surgically or accidentally) or if they had a history of psychiatric disorders. No participants indicated having a cognitive disorder, anxiety disorder, schizophrenia, or obsessive compulsive disorder. Out of the thirty-four participants scanned, we obtained 15 usable fMRI datasets for the TD group and 14 usable data sets for the ASD group after taking into account subject attrition due to head motion in the scanner and/or poor data quality (see table 1 for detailed participant information).

2.2 Overall Experimental Procedure

Participants took part in 2 separate sessions: 1) Assessment; and 2) MRI scanning. The first session lasted approximately two hours, during which time the participants completed a series of neuropsychological tests to ensure that they qualified for the study and to gather additional information, such as demographics, cognitive level, visual-motor skills, ASD-related symptomology, ability to maintain and shift attention, medication history, and diagnosis. During the second session, which also lasted approximately 2 hours, participants were prepared for the MRI scan, performed a computer practice task outside the scanner to ensure that they understood the directions for the task and then performed the tasks in the MRI scanner. They then performed a hand-based imitation task outside of the scanner in order to determine if the groups differed on their ability to imitate simple hand motions and were debriefed regarding their overall experience with the study.

Prior to participants' arrival for the first session, participants' families received an email including the informed consent forms, a social story about his/her MRI day, and a schedule for the first and second sessions. Participants were reimbursed \$25 for the first session and, if they qualified for the second session, received a total of \$50 upon completion of the MRI scan.

2.3 Stimuli and Experimental Paradigm

The fMRI component of the project consisted of a mental imitation experiment designed in an event-related format. This experiment focused on the aspects of imitation that can be separated from motor ability and was expected to target both the anterior component of the system (the IFG) as well as the posterior component of the system (the IPL). In order to control for potential practice effects, the order of presentation of stimuli within the experiment was randomized across participants.

This experiment was aimed at measuring mental imitation ability, requiring subjects to perform all the necessary components of imitation except for the motor execution aspect. In other words, this task involved imagining the imitative act, which is usually a precursor to the motor action. This part also comprised planning the imitative act, a step which may prove critical in determining the ultimate outcome. The stimuli for this experiment were based on a paradigm developed by Heilman and colleagues (Mozaz et al., 2002). During this experiment, participants were shown cartoon pictures of people performing everyday actions (e.g., ironing clothes) but with the hand missing. Ten of these stimuli showed transitive acts (which require an object and are generally less social in nature) and ten stimuli showed intransitive acts (which do not require an object and are generally social in nature). For each item, there were 3 options of hand grasps presented as high-quality images beneath the cartoon picture. The participant was asked to identify which hand (a, b, or c) would best fill in the gap for a series of 2 practice and 20 test stimuli (see Figure 1). Each picture was presented for a period of 6000 ms followed by an inter-stimulus interval of 4000 ms. This experiment not only targeted visuospatial ability (by requiring an individual to mentally rotate hands to fill in the gap correctly), but also action planning (by requiring the individual to plan and simulate the action in their mind).

Insert Figure 1 about here

2.4 Image Acquisition

All fMRI scans were acquired using the Siemens 3.0 Tesla Allegra head-only scanner (*Siemens* Medical Inc., Erlangen, Germany) located at the UAB Civitan International Research Center (CIRC). For structural imaging, initial high resolution T1weighted scans were acquired using a 160-slice 3D MPRAGE (Magnetization Prepared Rapid Gradient Echo) volume scan with TR = 200 ms, TE = 3.34 ms, flip angle = 12^{0} , FOV = 25.6 cm, 256 X 256 matrix size, and 1 mm slice thickness. A single-shot gradientrecalled echo-planar pulse sequence was used to acquire functional images (TR= 1000 ms, TE = 30ms, flip angle = 60 degrees, FOV = 24 cm, matrix =64 x 64). Seventeen adjacent oblique axial slices were acquired in an interleaved sequence with 5 mm slice thickness, 1 mm slice gap, a 24 X 24 cm field of view (FOV), and a 64 X 64 matrix, resulting in an in-plane resolution of $3.75 \times 3.75 \times 5$ mm. The stimuli were rear-projected onto a translucent plastic screen and participants viewed the screen through a mirror attached to the head coil. Quality control checks were applied to the acquired data to examine the signal to noise ratio, temporal signal to noise ratio, ghosting, and motion artifacts. Data that did not meet quality standards were not included in further analyses.

2.5 Behavioral and Neuropsychological Data Analyses

Scores from neuropsychological measures for each participant were entered into SPSS 16.0 statistical software (*SPSS* Inc., Chicago, IL). Between-group t-tests were run in order to compare group means on each measure. Data on each participant's reaction time and accuracy was also entered into SPSS. Analyses were run examining group means on accuracy and reaction time for each condition (transitive actions and intransitive actions) separately as well as together (all rotation conditions combined).

2.6 fMRI Data Analyses

Imaging analysis included several components, such as activation patterns, change in percent signal intensity, and functional connectivity. In addition, bivariate correlation analyses were used to examine the correlation between percent signal change values and functional connectivity in specified ROIs and scores on neuropsychological measures related to ASD symptoms, IQ, motor, and visual-motor skills. *Brain Activation.* To examine activation, the data was pre-processed and statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Parametrical Mapping, version 8 software (SPM8; Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK). Images were corrected for slice acquisition timing, motion-corrected, normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template, re-sampled to 8-mm³ voxels, and smoothed with an 8 mm FWHM filter. The general linear model was utilized to perform statistical analyses on both individual and group data. Activated regions of interest (ROIs), or clusters with statistically significant activation were identified using a t-statistic on a voxel by voxel basis. In order to control for motion during scanning, artifact detection was performed using the Artifact Detection Tools (ART) toolbox

(http://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/). This tool provided information regarding each subject's motion (in mm) as a function of time. These motion variables (in the x, y, and z planes as well as yaw, pitch, roll) were then utilized as a covariate for analysis of each subject's activation data. Differences in activation between groups were calculated by examining differences in the number of voxels activated in corresponding ROIs between the groups for each paradigm. In order to correct for false positives and false negatives, Monte Carlo simulations were applied to the data based on the 8mm³ voxel size using AlphaSim in Analysis of Functional NeuroImage (AFNI) software (Ward et al., 2000) to determine the minimum number of voxels required in each cluster to be equivalent to the level of statistical significance at a family-wise error corrected threshold of p<0.05. This analysis resulted in an extent threshold of 80 contiguous voxels at a p<0.001 level for all contrasts with fixation and direct contrasts between conditions (transitive actions and intransitive actions) within groups.

Percent Signal Change. In addition to the activation analyses run using the general linear model in SPM8, percent signal change (PSC) values were extracted for all mental imitation conditions (transitive + intransitive) when contrasted with a fixation baseline. This contrast was utilized due to the fact that it included the largest amount of activation and activation that encompasses that seen in the separate contrasts. As such, utilization of this contrast offered the least chance of missing areas of activation present in any other contrast. Anatomical ROIs were defined using the WFU Pickatlas toolbox (Maldjian et al., 2003). These ROIs included bilateral regions associated with the Mirror Neuron System (IPL, IFG), motor functioning (cerebellum, SMA, precentral and postcentral gyri), and visual processing (extrastriate body area (EBA), MOG) as well as left insula, left hippocampus, STS, and LMFG. Bilateral EBA ROIs were defined spherically (centralized at: +/-46 -70 0.65; r=8mm). The time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within each ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. For each participant, the intensity of fMRI signal per voxel in all the previously defined anatomical ROIs for the experimental task was compared to that for the fixation baseline using a *t*-test with a statistical significance level of p < 0.05. The average percentage change in signal intensity was then calculated for each ROI and the statistically significant difference was tested between the mental rotation task and fixation baseline. Thus for each ROI, for each participant, the mean percent change in signal intensity reflected the amount of difference in the BOLD contrast-related changes between all experimental tasks and the fixation baseline. In order to explore the relationship between neural activation and scores on neuropsychological measures, bivariate correlations were

run in SPSS between scores on measures of ASD symptoms (AQ, SCQ), empathy, and PIQ with PSC values for the overall group.

Functional Connectivity. Functional connectivity (correlation in time between activation of brain regions) was computed separately for each participant as a correlation between the average time course of all the activated voxels in each member of a pair of regions of interest (ROIs). This analysis utilized the same ROIs used for the PSC analysis which were based on areas main clusters of activation in the group activation map for each experimental condition contrasted to the fixation baseline as well as ROIs based on apriori hypotheses. Labels for the ROIs were assigned with reference to the parcellation of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) single subject T1 weighted dataset carried out by Tzourio-Mazoyer and colleagues (2002). The activation time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within the ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. The functional connectivity correlation was computed on the images from the experimental conditions (transitive + intransitive). As such, it reflects the synchronization between the activation in two areas while the participant is performing the task and not during the fixation condition. Fisher's r to z transformation was then applied to the correlation coefficients for each participant prior to averaging and statistical comparison of the two groups. These ROIs were also separately clustered into networks based on function (MNS, motor regions, visual regions, insula, thalamus) and a network analysis was run analyzing the correlation between activation time courses between networks. In order to explore the relationship between functional connectivity patterns and scores on neuropsychological measures, bivariate correlations were run in

SPSS between scores on measures of ASD symptoms (AQ, SCQ), empathy, and PIQ with FCA network connectivity values for the overall group.

3. Results

Overview

This study examined the role of MNS in mediating mental simulations of actions without actual motor movement. The main results are: 1) There were no statistically significant group differences in performance accuracy across simulating transitive and intransitive actions. However, the participants with ASD were significantly slower, relative to TD, in response time in both conditions; 2) Processing mental imitation when contrasted with fixation yielded significant activity in core MNS regions in both ASD and TD groups. The ASD group also demonstrated additional activation in the right fusiform and left hippocampus; 3) Neither group demonstrated greater levels of activation for transitive actions when directly contrasted with intransitive actions. However, the ASD group showed several areas of increased activation while processing intransitive actions relative to transitive actions; 4) Group differences in activation involved ASD group, relative to TD, showing decreased right angular gyrus activation for transitive actions; and increased activation in ASD, relative to TD, in right middle temporal cortex for intransitive actions; 5) The ASD group showed significantly increased percent change in signal intensity in several areas including LIFG, and this activity was correlated with motor ability; and 6) Greater functional connectivity was seen between the insula and several brain regions in the ASD group compared to TD group.

3.1 Neuropsychological Testing Results

While the participants in both ASD and TD groups were matched on age and IQ, they differed significantly on several assessment measures. Consistent with the previous literature and our hypothesis, the ASD group had significantly lower scores on the EQ (Mean=24) than the TD group (Mean=43) [t(27)= -5.84, p<0.01]. The ASD group also scored significantly higher on both measures of autism symptomatology, the AQ [t(27)=4.25, p<0.01] and the SCQ [t(26)=6.89, p<0.01] suggesting more autistic traits in ASD participants. In terms of motor skills, the ASD group displayed significantly greater difficulty on the PANESS compared to the TD group [t(26)=4.25, p<0.01]. There were no significant group differences on other neuropsychological measures including those assessing IQ and theory-of-mind (see Table 1).

Insert Table 1 about here

3.2 Behavioral Results

A two-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the effect of group (ASD or TD) and condition (transitive or intransitive) on accuracy and reaction time separately. Results of this analysis revealed a statistically significant main effect of condition [F(1,516) = 4.29, p<0.05], with greater accuracy for processing transitive actions (Transitive *M*=0.45; Intransitive *M*=0.36). However, the effect size was relatively small (partial eta squared = 0.01). The main effect of group did not reach statistical significance [F(1,516) = 1.41, p>0.05]; nor was there any significant interaction between group and condition [F(2,516) = 0.06, p>0.05]. Regarding reaction time, a statistically significant main effect of group was found [F(1,516) = 34.75, p<0.01], partial eta squared = 0.06]. However, there was not a significant main effect of condition [F(1,516) = 1.57, p<0.05] or a significant group by condition interaction [F(2,516) = 3.65, p<0.05]. For all stimuli (transitive and intransitive), the ASD group showed significantly slower reaction times than the TD group [ASD *M*=3304.28ms; TD *M*=2715.96ms]. Since IQ can be a factor influencing participants' performance, a regression analysis was conducted to determine the amount of variance in accuracy that could be accounted for by IQ (VIQ and PIQ). Results of this analysis indicated no significant relationship between IQ and overall accuracy for either the ASD group [F(12,2)=0.97, p>0.05] or the TD group [F(13,2)=0.94, p<0.05].

Brain Activation Results

3.3 Within-Group Activation

When mental imitation was contrasted with fixation, significantly increased activation was seen in core Mirror Neuron System (MNS) regions (bilateral IFG and IPL) in both TD and ASD groups (p<0.001; k = 80 contiguous $2mm^3$ voxels determined by Monte Carlo simulation). Both groups also displayed activation in the right anterior insula and right inferior to right middle temporal gyrus. Both the TD and ASD group also displayed thalamus activation, with the ASD group in the right hemisphere and TD in the left. Additionally, the TD group demonstrated activation in the calcarine sulcus and the right supplementary motor area (SMA), regions primarily associated with visual processing and motor control respectively. The ASD group, however, showed greater activation in the fusiform gyrus and hippocampus, suggesting a possible reliance on working memory to perform the task (see Figure 2 & Table 2).

Insert Figure 2 and Table 2 about here

Processing transitive actions, when compared with processing intransitive actions, did not elicit increased activation in ASD or TD group. However, the opposite contrast (intransitive > transitive), had the ASD group showing greater levels of activation in a few different regions, such as the left lingual gyrus, left middle occipital gyrus (LMOG), left calcarine sulcus (LCALC) as well as the right precuneus. The TD group did not have any areas of increased activation for the intransitive action condition, perhaps indicating a similar neural approach to both tasks (see Figure 3).

Insert Figure 3 about here

3.4 Group Differences in Brain Activation

Group differences in brain activation were examined using a two-sample t-test. When mental imitation was contrasted with fixation, there were no statistically significant differences in group activation patterns (p<0.005, cluster size = 80mm³). However, when processing transitive actions was compared with fixation, the ASD participants, relative to TD, showed significantly reduced activation in the right angular gyrus. The ASD group did not demonstrate any areas of increased activation over the TD group in this contrast. Processing intransitive actions (relative to fixation), on the other hand, elicited significantly greater activity in the ASD group, relative to TD, in right middle temporal gyrus (RMTG). ASD group also showed increased activity (intransitive vs. transitive) in right thalamus and right precentral gyrus, regions found to be involved in motor control and integration of sensory information (see Figure 4).

3.5 Percent Signal Change (PSC)

Percent Signal Change values were extracted for individual participants for activated voxels from anatomically defined ROIs. These ROIs were defined based on the group level activation for all participants (ASD + TD) for the mental imitation vs. fixation contrast so that it best represented the activation in response to the task. Significantly increased psc values were found in ASD participants, relative to TD, in areas related to motor control/execution and integration of sensory input including the right precentral gyrus [t(21)=2.05, p=0.05], the right postcentral gyrus [t(21)=2.13, =0.05], and the right cerebellum [t(21)=4.13, p<0.01]. The ASD group also displayed increased psc in the LIFG [t(21)=2.68, p=0.01]. The TD group did not show any regions of increased psc as compared to the ASD group (see Figure 5).

Insert Figure 5 about here

3.6 Functional Connectivity

Functional connectivity was examined comparing individual ROIs and their connectivity with all other ROIs. Since this resulted in a large number of statistical comparisons, none of the results of this analysis survived multiple comparison for statistical significance in group difference. Thus, a follow-up network connectivity analysis was conducted to examine group differences in functional connectivity between the MNS and related brain networks (including the motor system and visual system as well as regions like insula, EBA and STS). Results of this analysis indicated significantly greater connectivity (ASD > TD) between the insula and motor system in ASD participants [t(21)=2.04, p=0.05]. A second level network analysis involving networks created based on lobes and hemispheres (where different ROIs belonged to) revealed greater functional connectivity (ASD > TD) of the insula with left parietal [t(22)=2.15, p<0.05] and right temporal lobe [t(21)=2.08, p=0.05] networks (see Figure 6). These findings are consistent with recent research findings of aberrant, rather than reduced, connectivity in ASD and, in particular, findings of increased functional connectivity within many circuits involving early developing areas such as the insula (Di Martino et al., 2011).

Insert Figure 6 about here

3.7 Brain-Behavior Relationships

To examine the relationship between brain activation and measures of neuropsychological characteristics, bivariate correlations were conducted between psc values and scores on neuropsychological measures related to ASD symptoms, IQ, motor, and visual-motor skills. A significant negative correlation was found between psc in the LIFG and VMI scores [r= -0.53, p<0.05] for the overall group of participants. VMI scores were also negatively correlated with psc in the left precentral gyrus [r=-0.51, p<0.05]. These results demonstrate that higher levels of visual-motor ability were correlated with less reliance on activation of these regions (LIFG and left precentral gyrus) for this task (see Figure 7). Functional connectivity was also found to be correlated with behavioral measures. For example, greater connectivity between the MNS and Motor System was significantly positively correlated with overall accuracy in all participants [r=0.47, p<0.05]. In addition, the MNS-Insula connectivity was also positively correlated with accuracy [r=0.55, p<0.05] (see Figure 7).

4. Discussion

4.1 Intact Ability for Mental Imitation in ASD?

Results indicated that the groups performed equally well on mental imitation tasks. Both groups also demonstrated increased difficulty with stimuli depicting intransitive actions. While these findings contradict the hypothesis of decreased accuracy on the mental imitation task for the ASD group, the ASD group did take significantly longer to perform the tasks. In conjunction with the neuroimaging results, this suggests the ASD group is relying on a different neural approach to the task. By reducing the ease and immediacy, use of a different cognitive approach could affect the ability to use these strategies in a real world social environment.

There are several possible explanations for the finding of intact accuracy for the ASD group on a task requiring complex mental imitation. Given that imitation skills increase with age (Williams et al., 2004) and with cognitive functioning (Turner, Pazdol, & Stone, 2002), the current findings of intact accuracy in ASD may reflect characteristics of the study participants (all pre-adolescents or older with average to above average cognitive functioning). The explicit nature of the task may have also resulted in increased accuracy, while individuals with ASD may have more difficulty utilizing these skills naturally in a social setting (Raymaekers et al., 2009). The intact ability to perform this task may also suggest that the core deficit in imitation in autism is motor execution difficulties.

4.2 Findings of Intact (or Even Increased) MNS Functioning in ASD

Analysis of within-group activation patterns revealed that both groups show activation in core MNS regions (IFG and IPL) during mental imitation tasks. Additionally, an analysis of between-group activation differences reveals no areas of reduced activation in the MNS for the ASD group. These results are inconsistent with the hypothesis of reduced IFG activation in the ASD group but in line with recent studies failing to find reduced activation within the MNS in autism (Dinstein et al., 2010; Press et al., 2010; Fan et al., 2010; Raymaekers et al., 2009). PSC results indicated, instead, that the ASD group showed greater activation in the LIFG than TD controls (Tesink et al., 2009; Moss et al., 2005). In conjunction with increased reaction times for the ASD group, greater activation in the LIFG may indicate that they are working harder to produce the same results. Martineau and colleagues (2010) suggested that hyperactivation of the pars opercularis (a component of the IFG) in subjects with autism provides support for the hypothesis of atypical (but not reduced) activity within the MNS. The majority of group activation and functional connectivity differences for the current study, however, fell within regions outside of the MNS. This finding suggests that the abnormal pattern of reliance on additional neural regions may underlie the noted deficits in imitation.

4.3 Increased Reliance on Motor Planning and Theory-of-Mind in the TD Group

Despite both activating core regions of the MNS, the ASD and TD groups displayed several differences in activation patterns. The TD group showed increased activation in the right SMA and the right angular gyrus. The SMA is believed to be involved in planning and performing complex movements requiring sequences of actions (Decety et al., 1997; Grezes et al., 1998; Nachev et al., 2008) and has been demonstrated to show reduced activation in autism (Marsh & Hamilton, 2011). It has been suggested that SMA dysfunction in ASD may help explain difficulties understanding as well as performing chained action sequences in individuals with ASD (Fabbri-Destro et al., 2009; Cattaneo et al., 2007; Marsh & Hamilton, 2011).

Situated at the temporal-parietal junction (TPJ), the right angular gyrus is a key neural region for theory-of-mind (Happe et al., 1996; Frith & Frith, 1999; Saxe & Kanwisher, 2003; Decety & Lamm, 2007). Consistent with the current results, past studies have found reduced activation in this region for ASD (Castelli et al., 2002; Pelphrey et al., 2005; Murdaugh et al., 2014). In TD individuals, this region is not only a part of the mentalizing network, working with the MNS in order to facilitate self-other connections necessary for imitation. Activation in this region specific to the TD group may provide additional evidence that the ASD group deployed a separate – possibly compensatory – strategy to perform the task.

4.4 Increased ASD Reliance on Limbic System and Memory

The ASD group demonstrated an increased reliance on subcortical/ limbic structures to perform mental imitation tasks. When activation for all mental imitation stimuli were contrasted with fixation, the ASD group displayed unique activation in the right fusiform gyrus and the left hippocampus. Previous studies have frequently found the fusiform to be less activated in ASD individuals (Di Martino et al., 2009). However, activation in this region is modulated by selective attention (Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; Hooker et al., 2003). Therefore, the explicit nature of the current task might explain the current findings. As part of the limbic system, the hippocampus is an early developing neural region. It is involved in recall of action sequences (Muller et al., 2002) and part of a bottom-up approach to imitation learning (Gaussier et al., 1998). Thus, activation in this region suggests that the ASD group is remembering previous events in which they performed or watched another person perform the action depicted.

Examination of areas of increased activation for intransitive (over transitive) actions, revealed increased activation in the right thalamus for the ASD group. The thalamus is believed to also play a crucial role in visuospatial memory (Van der Werf et al., 2003). Increases in activation in both the hippocampus and thalamus suggest that the ASD group is relying on memory to complete the task. However, the thalamus is also involved in focusing attention and screening out distracting stimuli (Van der Werf et al., 2003). Therefore, the increased activation for the intransitive condition could indicate difficulty determining salient features and filtering out extra stimuli. Consistent with this hypothesis, the ASD group also demonstrated increased activation for intransitive stimuli in the RMTG, a region involved in both verbal and nonverbal semantic functioning, including representation of motion and actions (Devlin et al., 2002; Martin, 2007; Tranel et al., 2005). Therefore, RMTG activation also suggests that the ASD group is utilizing extra neural resources attempting to search for and interpret meaningful nonverbal cues.

Regardless of the specific role played these regions, current findings are consistent with previous findings of increased connectivity with and reliance on limbic system structures in autism (Di Martino et al., 2011; Iidaka et al., 2012; Kleinhans et al., 2008; Murphy et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2006) and compliment a recent proposal that the MNS in autism is more heavily connected with subcortical regions (Williams & Waiter, 2006). It has been suggested that this difference might explain the seemingly reduced social function of the MNS in autism (Lewis, 2004; Williams & Waiter, 2006).

4.5 Different Approach to Transitive vs. Intransitive Stimuli – Only for ASD?

Results of the current study indicate that the TD group utilized a similar neural approach to both tasks. However, while ASD participants did not show any increase in activation for the transitive condition (over the intransitive condition), they did rely on additional neural resources to complete stimuli involving intransitive actions. More specifically, they demonstrated increased activation in the LMOG, LCALC, and left lingual gyrus. Consistent with previously described findings of an increased reliance on memory in the ASD group, the left lingual gyrus has been implicated not only in visual processing but also the encoding and recollection of visual memories (Machielsen et al., 2000; Cho et al., 2012). The ASD group also showed increased activation in regions associated with motor imagery (Porro et al., 1996) and with identifying and inhibiting distracting stimuli (Van der Werf et al., 2003; Fischer & Whitney, 2012), potentially representing an increased reliance on compensatory mechanisms for intransitive stimuli.

4.6 Limitations and Future Directions

Contrary to hypotheses, the ASD group showed an intact ability to perform mental imitation tasks and activation in the core components of the MNS, with abnormal patterns of activation in regions external to the MNS. However, there are several aspects of the current study which may affect the generalizability of results. Given the previously established link between age (Williams et al., 2004) and cognitive functioning (Turner et al., 2002) with imitation skills in autism, the current results may be significantly influenced by these subject characteristics. Additionally, the structured environment of the fMRI task may mask difficulties associated with imitation in real-world social settings including lack of attention and the presence of more motivating stimuli (Trevarthen & Aitken, 2001; Smith et al., 2006). While neural activation patterns suggest that the ASD group utilized a unique cognitive approach to the task, no qualitative data was gathered from subjects regarding the specific approach used.

Future research should focus on assessing the generalizability of current results. Longitudinal studies will be particularly important given recent findings that a critical developmental shift occurring around puberty may account for inconsistent findings in ASD (Peper et al., 2011; Uddin et al., 2013). It will also be important to continue to gather additional information regarding the impact of other participant characteristics including cognitive level, functional level, and gender. The results of the current study also suggest that research should examine both integrated functioning within the MNS and also between the MNS and related neural regions. Current findings indicate that imitation deficits may result from abnormalities in the integrated functioning of the MNS with limbic, visual, and mentalizing systems.

5. Conclusions

Overall, results of the current study indicate that the participants with ASD were able to perform the mental imitation task as well as TD participants and showed no areas of reduced activation in the core MNS regions compared to the TD group. However, results of activation and functional connectivity analyses indicate that the ASD group utilized a different neural approach than subjects in the TD group. The main group differences were found in the activation and connectivity with regions outside the MNS. More specifically, the ASD group showed a stronger reliance on integration of the MNS with limbic regions and greater activation in areas contributing to nonverbal semantic processing. The TD group, however, relied more on activation in the right TPJ, an area associated with theory-of-mind. These results indicate that the ASD group may be utilizing a unique strategy to perform the task. Further research is needed to elucidate the degree to which subject and/or study characteristics could be influencing these findings and the extent to which the unique cognitive strategy used by the ASD group may influence the effective implementation of imitation skills in a real-world social environment.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the NIH T-32 Training grant (T32 NS061788-01), the Eunice Kennedy Shriver Pilot Study Award (5P30HD038985), and the UAB Department of Psychology faculty start-up funds. The authors would like to thank Lauren Libero, Thomas DeRamus, Amy Lemelman, Soumya Sivaraman, Kacy Clayton, and Cline Martin for their help with different aspects of this study. The authors would like to thank all participants and families for helping us by taking part in this study.
References

- Avikainen, S., Kulomaki, T., Hari, R., 1999. Normal movement reading in Asperger subjects. Neuroreport, 10(17), 3467-3470.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Ring, H., Chitnis, X., Wheelwright, S., Gregory, L., Williams, S., Brammer, M., Bullmore, E., 2006. *fMRI of parents of children with Asperger Syndrome: a pilot study.* Brain Cogn, 61(1), 122-130.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., Plumb, I., 2001. The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger Syndrome or high-functioning Autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 42(2), 241-51.
- Bennetto, L., 1999. A componential approach to imitation and movement deficits in *autism*. Dissertation Abstracts International, 60(2-B), 0819.
- Berument, S. K., Rutter, M., Lord, C., Pickles, A., Bailey, A., 1999. Autism screening questionnaire: diagnostic validity. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 175(5), 444-451.
- Bird, G., Leighton, J., Press, C., Heyes, C., 2007. Intact automatic imitation of human and robot actions in autism spectrum disorders. Proc Biol Sci, 274(1628), 3027-3031.
- Brian, J., Bryson, S. E., Garon, N., Roberts, W., Smith, I. M., Szatmari, P., Zwaigenbaum, L., 2008. *Clinical assessment of autism in high-risk 18-month*olds. Autism, 12(5), 433-456.
- Carr, L., Iacoboni, M., Dubeau, M. C., Mazziotta, J. C., Lenzi, G. L., 2003. Neural mechanisms of empathy in humans: a relay from neural systems for imitation to limbic areas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100(9), 5497-5502.
- Castelli, F., Frith, C., Happe, F., Frith, U., 2002. Autism, Asperger syndrome and brain mechanisms for the attribution of mental states to animated shapes. Brain, 125(8), 1839-1849.
- Cattaneo, L., Fabbri-Destro, M., Boria, S., Pieraccini, C., Monti, A., Cossu, G., Rizzolatti, G., 2007. *Impairment of actions chains in autism and its possible role in intention understanding*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 17825-17830.
- Cho, S., Metcalfe, A. W. S., Young, C. B., Ryali, S., Geary, D. C., Menon, V., 2012. *Hippocampal-Prefrontal Engagement and Dynamic Causal Interactions in the Maturation of Children's Fact Retrieval*. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 24(9), 1849-1866.

- Davare, M., Andres, M., Cosnard, G., Thonnard, J. L., Olivier, E., 2006. Dissociating the role of ventral and dorsal premotor cortex in precision grasping. J Neurosci, 26(8), 2260-2268.
- Decety, J., Lamm, C., 2007. *The role of the right temporoparietal junction in social interaction: how low-level computational processes contribute to meta-cognition*. Neuroscientist, 13(6), 580-593.
- Decety, J., Grezes, J., Costes, N., Perani, D., Jeannerod, M., Procyk, E., Grassi, F., Fazio, F., 1997. Brain activity during observation of actions — Influence of action content and subject's strategy. Brain, 120, 1763-1777.
- DeMyer, M. K., Hingtgen, J. N., Jackson, R. K., 1981. *Infantile autism reviewed: a decade of research*. Schizophr Bull, 7(3), 388-451.
- Devlin, J. T., Russell, R. P., Davis, M. H., Price, C. J., Moss, H. E., Fadili, M. J., Tyler, L. K., 2002. Is there an anatomical basis for category-specificity? Semantic memory studies in PET and fMRI. Neuropsychologia, 40(1), 54-75.
- Di Martino, A., Kelly, C., Gradzinski, R., Zuo, X. N., Mennes, M., Mairena, M. A., Lord, C., Castellanos, F. X., Milham, M. P., 2011. *Aberrant striatal functional connectivity in children with autism*. Biol Psychiatry, 69(9), 847-56.
- Di Martino, A., Ross, K., Uddin, L. Q., Sklar, A. B., Castellanos, F. X., Milham, M. P., 2009. Functional brain correlates of social and nonsocial processes in autism spectrum disorders: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry, 65(1), 63-74.
- Dinstein, I., Thomas, C., Humphreys, K., Minshew, N., Behrmann, M., Heeger, D. J., 2010. *Normal movement selectivity in autism*. Neuron, 66(3), 461-469.
- Fabbri-Destro, M., Cattaneo, L., Boria, S., Rizzolatti, G., 2009. *Planning actions in autism*. Exp Brain Res, 192(3), 521-525.
- Fan, Y. T., Decety, J., Yang, C. Y., Liu, J. L., Cheng, Y. W., 2010. Unbroken mirror neurons in autism spectrum disorders. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 51(9), 981-988.
- Fischer, J., Whitney, D., 2012. Attention gates visual coding in the human pulvinar. Nat Commun, 3, 9.
- Fishman, I., Keown, C. L., Lincoln, A. J., Pineda, J. A., Müller, R. A., 2014. *Atypical cross talk between mentalizing and mirror neuron networks in autism spectrum disorder*. JAMA psychiatry, 71(7), 751-760.

- Frith, C. D., Frith, U., 1999. Interacting minds—a biological basis. Science, 286(5445), 1692-1695.
- Gallese, V., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., Rizzolatti, G., 1996. Action recognition in the premotor cortex. Brain, 119, 593-609.
- Gaussier, P., Moga, S., Quoy, M., Banquet, J. P., 1998. From perception-action loops to *imitation processes: A bottom-up approach of learning by imitation*. Applied Artificial Intelligence, 12(7-8), 701-727.
- Glazebrook, C., Gonzalez, D., Hansen, S., Elliott, D., 2009. The role of vision for online control of manual aiming movements in persons with autism spectrum disorders. Autism, 13(4), 411-433.
- Goldman, A. I., 2005. Imitation, Mind Reading, and Simulation. In S. Hurley & N. Chater (Eds.), Perspectives on Imitation: Imitation, Human Development, and Culture (p. 92). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Gowen, E., Hamilton, A., 2012. *Motor abilities in autism: A review using a computational context*. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 43(2) 323-344.
- Gowen, E., Stanley, J., Miall, R. C., 2008. *Movement interference in autism-spectrum disorder*. Neuropsychologia, 46(4), 1060-1068.
- Grezes, J., Costes, N., Decety, J., 1998. *Top-down effect of strategy on the perception of human biological motion: A PET investigation*. Cogn. Neuropsychology, 15, 553– 582.
- Hamilton, A. F., 2008. *Emulation and mimicry for social interaction: a theoretical approach to imitation in autism.* Q J Exp Psychol, 61(1), 101–115.
- Hamilton, A. F., Brindley, R. M., Frith, U., 2007. Imitation and action understanding in autism spectrum disorders: How valid is the hypothesis of a deficit in the mirror neuron system? Neuropsychologia, 45, 1859-1868.
- Happe, F., Ehlers, S., Fletcher, P., Frith, U., Johansson, M., Gillberg, C., Dolan, R., Frackowiak, R., Frith, C., 1996. 'Theory of mind' in the brain. Evidence from a PET scan study of Asperger syndrome. Neuroreport, 8(1), 197-201.
- Heimann, M., Ullstadius, E., 1999. Neonatal imitation and imitation among children with autism and Down syndrome. In J. Nadel & G. Butterworth (Eds.). Imitation in infancy (pp. 235-253). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

- Hepburn, S. L., Stone, W. L., 2006. Brief Report: Using the Behavioral Style Questionnaire to assess temperament in young children with autism spectrum disorders. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 36(5), 637-642.
- Hobson, R. P., Hobson, J. A., 2008. *Dissociable aspects of imitation: a study in autism.* J Exp Child Psychol, 101(3), 170-185.
- Hoffman, E. A., Haxby, J. V., 2000. Distinct representations of eye gaze and identity in the distributed human neural system for face perception. Nat Neurosci, 3(1), 80-84.
- Hooker, C. I., Paller, K. A., Gitelman, D. R., Parrish, T. B., Mesulam, M. M., Reber, P. J., 2003. *Brain networks for analyzing eye gaze*. Brain Res Cogn Brain Res, 17(2), 406-418.
- Iacoboni, M., 2005. Neural mechanisms of imitation. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 15(6), 632-7.
- Iacoboni, M., Dapretto, M., 2006. The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. Nat Rev Neurosci, 7(12), 942–951.
- Iacoboni, M., Koski, L. M., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Woods, R. P., Dubeau, M. C., Mazziotta, J. C., & Rizzolatti G. (2001). Reafferent copies of imitated actions in the right superior temporal cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U. S. A.*, 98(24), 13995-9.
- Iidaka, T., Miyakoshi, M., Harada, T., Nakai, T., 2012. White matter connectivity between superior temporal sulcus and amygdala is associated with autistic trait in healthy humans. Neurosci Lett, 510(2), 154-158.
- Jeannerod, M., 1994. *The representing brain neural correlates of motor intention and imagery*. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 17(2), 187-202.
- Kana, R. K., Wadsworth, H. M., Travers, B. G., 2011. A systems level analysis of the mirror neuron hypothesis and imitation impairments in autism spectrum disorders. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 35(3), 894-902.
- Kleinhans, N. M., Richards, T., Sterling, L., Stegbauer, K. C., Mahurin, R., Johnson, L. C., Greenson, J., Dawson, G., Aylward, E., 2008. Abnormal functional connectivity in autism spectrum disorders during face processing. Brain, 131, 1000-1012.
- Lam, K. S., Aman, M. G., 2007. The Repeitive Behavior Scale-Revised: independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord, 37(5), 855-66.

- Leighton, J., Bird, G., Charman, T., Heyes, C., 2008. Weak imitative performance is not due to a functional 'mirroring' deficit in adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. Neuropsychologia, 46(4), 1041-1049.
- Lewis, M., 2004. *Repetitive behavior in autism.* Presentation delivered at the annual meeting of the International Society for Autism Research, Sacramento.
- Machielsen, W. C., Rombouts, S. A., Barkhof, F., Scheltens, P., Witter, M. P., 2000. *fMRI of visual encoding: reproducibility of activation*. Hum Brain Mapp, 9(3), 156-164.
- Maldjian, J. A., Laurienti, P. J., Kraft, R. A., Burdette, J. H., 2003. An automated method for neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. Neuroimage, 19(3), 1233-1239.
- Marsh, L. E., Hamilton, A. F., 2011. *Dissociation of mirroring and mentalising systems in autism*. Neuroimage, 56(3), 1511-1519.
- Martin, A., 2007. *The representation of object concepts in the brain*. Annu Rev Psychol, 58, 25-45.
- Martineau, J., Andersson, F., Barthelemy, C., Cottier, J. P., Destrieux, C., 2010. *Atypical activation of the mirror neuron system during perception of hand motion in autism.* Brain Res, 1320, 168-175.
- Minshew, N. J., Goldstein, G., Siegel, D. J., 1997. Neuropsychologic functioning in autism: Profile of a complex information processing disorder. Journal of International Neuropsychological Society, 3(4), 303–316.
- Moss, H. E., Abdallah, S., Fletcher, P., Bright, P., Pilgrim, L., Acres, K., Tyler, L. K., 2005. Selecting among competing alternatives: selection and retrieval in the left inferior frontal gyrus. Cereb Cortex, 15(11), 1723-1735.
- Mostofsky, S. H., Dubey, P., Jerath, V. K., Jansiewicz, E. M., Goldberg, M. C., Denckla, M. B., 2006. Developmental dyspraxia is not limited to imitation in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 12(3), 314-326.
- Mozaz, M., Rothi, L. J., Anderson, J. M., Crucian, G. P., Heilman, K. M., 2002. Postural knowledge of transitive pantomimes and intransitive gestures. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 8(7), 958-962.
- Muller, R. A., Kleinhans, N., Pierce, K., Kemmotsu, N., Courchesne, E., 2002. *Functional MRI of motor sequence acquisition: effects of learning stage and performance*. Cognitive Brain Research, 14(2), 277-293.

- Murdaugh, D. L., Nadendla, K. D., Kana, R. K., 2014. *Differential role of* temporoparietal junction and medial prefrontal cortex in causal inference in autism: an independent component analysis. Neurosci Lett, 568, 50-55.
- Murphy, E. R., Foss-Feig, J., Kenworthy, L., Gaillard, W. D., Vaidya, C. J., 2012. Atypical Functional Connectivity of the Amygdala in Childhood Autism Spectrum Disorders during Spontaneous Attention to Eye-Gaze. Autism Res Treat, 2012, 652408.
- Nachev, P., Kennard, C., Husain, M., 2008. Functional role of the supplementary and pre-supplementary motor areas. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 9(11), 856-869.
- Newman-Norlund, R. D., Ondobaka, S., van Schie, H. T., van Elswijik, G., Bekkering, H., 2010. Virtual lesions of the IFG abolish response facilitation for biological and non-biological cues. Front Behav Neurosci, 4(5), 1-7.
- Oberman, L. M., Ramachandran, V. S., 2007. *The simulating social mind: the role of the mirror neuron system and simulation in the social and communicative deficits of autism spectrum disorders*. Psychol Bull, 133(2), 310-27.
- Oberman, L. M., Ramachandran, V. S., Pineda, J. A., 2008. *Modulation of mu* suppression in children with autism spectrum disorders in response to familiar or unfamiliar stimuli: The mirror neuron hypothesis. Neuropsychologia, 46(5), 1558-65.
- Ozonoff, S., Young, G. S., Goldring, S., Greiss-Hess, L., Herrera, A. M., Steele, J., Macari, S., Hepburn, S., Rogers, S. J., 2008. *Gross motor development, movement abnormalities, and early identification of autism.* J Autism Dev Disord, 38(4), 644-656.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., Michelich, C. R., Allison, T., McCarthy, G., 2005. Functional anatomy of biological motion perception in posterior temporal cortex: an FMRI study of eye, mouth and hand movements. Cereb Cortex, 15(12), 1866-1876.
- Peper, J. S., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., Crone, E. A., van Honk, J., 2011. Sex steroids and brain structure in pubertal boys and girls: a mini-review of neuroimaging studies. Neuroscience, 191, 28-37.
- Piaget, J., 1962. *The role of imitation in the formation of representations*. Evol Psychiatr (Paris), 27, 141-150.
- Porro, C. A., Francescato, M. P., Cettolo, V., Diamond, M. E., Baraldi, P., Zuiani, C., Bazzocchi, M., diPrampero, P. E., 1996. *Primary motor and sensory cortex* activation during motor performance and motor imagery: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Journal of Neuroscience, 16(23), 7688-7698.

- Press, C., Richardson, D., Bird, G., 2010. *Intact imitation of emotional facial actions in autism spectrum conditions*. Neuropsychologia, 48(11), 3291-3297.
- Provost, B., Lopez, B. R., Heimerl, S., 2007. A comparison of motor delays in young children: autism spectrum disorder, developmental delay, and developmental concerns. J Autism Dev Disord, 37(2), 321-328.
- Raymaekers, R., Wiersema, J. R., Roeyers, H., 2009. *EEG study of the mirror neuron* system in children with high functioning autism. Brain Res, 1304, 113-121.
- Rizzolatti, G., Matelli, M., 2003. Two different streams form the dorsal visual system: anatomy and functions. Exp Brain Res, 153(2), 146-57.
- Rizzolatti, G., Fadiga, L., Gallese, V., Fogassi, L., 1996. *Premotor cortex and the recognition of motor actions*. Cognitive Brain Research, 3, 131-141.
- Rogers, S., 1999. *An examination of the imitation deficit in autism*. In J. Nadel & G. Butterworth (Eds.), *Imitation in Infancy* (pp. 254–279). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Rogers, S. J., Williams, J. H. G., 2006. *Imitation and the social mind: Autism and typical development*. The Guildford Press: New York, NY.
- Rogers, S. J., Bennetto, L., McEvoy, R., Pennington, B. F., 1996. *Imitation and pantomime in high-functioning adolescents with autism spectrum disorders*. Child Dev, 67(5), 2060-2073.
- Rogers, S. J., Hepburn, S. L., Stackhouse, T., Wehner, E., 2003. Imitation performance in toddlers with autism and those with other developmental disorders. J Child Psychol. Psychiatry, 44, 763-781.
- Rogers, S. J., Young, G. S., Cook, I., Giolzetti, A., Ozonoff, S., 2008. Deferred and immediate imitation in regressive and early onset autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 49(4), 449-457.
- Saxe, R., Kanwisher, N., 2003. People thinking about thinking people. The role of the temporo-parietal junction in "theory of mind". Neuroimage, 19(4), 1835-1842.
- Schulte-Ruther, M., Markowitsch, H. J., Fink, G. R., Piefke, M., 2007. Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in face-to-face interactions: a functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy. J Cogn Neurosci, 19(8), 1354-1372.
- Shih, P., Shen, M., Ottl, B., Keehn, B., Gaffrey, M. S., Muller, R. A., 2010. Atypical network connectivity for imitation in autism spectrum disorder. Neuropsychologia, 48(10), 2931-2939.

- Smith, I. M., Bryson, S. E., 1998. Gesture imitation in autism I: nonsymbolic postures and sequences. Cogn Neuropsychol, 15, 747-770.
- Smith, I. M., Lowe-Pearce, C., Nichols, S. L., 2006. Assessment of Imitation Abilities in Autism: Conceptual and Methodological Issues. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development (pp. 384-385). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Spengler, S., Bird, G., Brass, M., 2010. Hyperimitation of actions is related to reduced understanding of others' minds in autism spectrum conditions. Biol Psychiatry, 68(12), 1148-1155.
- Stewart, H. J., McIntosh, R. D., Williams, J. H., 2013. A specific deficit of imitation in autism spectrum disorder. Autism Res, 6(6), 522-530.
- Stone, W. L., Ousley, O. Y., Littleford, C. D., 1997. *Motor imitation in young children* with autism: what's the object? J Abnorm Child Psychol, 25(6), 475-485.
- Tesink, C. M., Buitelaar, J. K., Petersson, K. M., van der Gaag, R. J., Kan, C. C., Tendolkar, I., Hagoort, P., 2009. Neural correlates of pragmatic language comprehension in autism spectrum disorders. Brain, 132(7), 1941-1952.
- Tomasello, M., Kruger, A., Ratner, H., 1993. *Cultural Learning*. Behav and Brain Sci, 16, 495-552.
- Tranel, D., Martin, C., Damasio, H., Grabowski, T. J., Hichwa, R., 2005. Effects of nounverb homonymy on the neural correlates of naming concrete entities and actions. Brain Lang, 92(3), 288-299.
- Trevarthen, C., Aitken, K. J., 2001. *Infant intersubjectivity: Research, theory, and clinical applications*. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 42(1), 3-48.
- Turner, L., Pozdol, S., Stone, W. L., 2002. Changes in social-communicative skills from age 2 to age 3 in children with autism. Poster presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research. Orlando, FL.
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., Mazoyer, B., Joliot, M., 2002. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI singlesubject brain. Neuroimage, 15(1), 273-289.
- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K., Menon, V., 2013. *Reconceptualizing functional brain* connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. Front Hum Neurosci, 7, 458.

- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K., Lynch, C. J., Khouzam, A., Phillips, J., Feinstein, C., Ryali, S., Menon, V., 2013. Salience network-based classification and prediction of symptom severity in children with autism. JAMA Psychiatry, 70(8), 869-879.
- Van der Werf, Y. D., Scheltens, P., Lindeboom, J., Witter, M. P., Uylings, H. B. M., Jolles, J., 2003. Deficits of memory, executive functioning and attention following infarction in the thalamus; a study of 22 cases with 104ehavior104 lesions. Neuropsychologia, 41(10), 1330-1344.
- Ward, B. D., 2000. *Simultaneous inference for fMRI data*. AFNI 3dDeconvolve Documentation, Medical College of Wisconsin.
- Wicker, B., Keysers, C., Plailly, J., Royet, J. P., Gallese, V., Rizzolatti, G., 2003. Both of us disgusted in my insula: the common neural basis of seeing and feeling disgust. Neuron, 40(3), 655-664.
- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., 2006. Neuroimaging Self-Other Mapping in Autism. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development (p. 370). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Williams, J. H., Massaro, D. W., Peel, N. J., Bosseler, A., Suddendorf, T., 2004. Visualauditory integration during speech imitation in autism. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 25, 559–575.
- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., Gilchrist, A., Perrett, D. I., Murray, A. D., Whiten, A., 2006. Neural mechanisms of imitation and 'mirror neuron' functioning in autistic spectrum disorder. Neuropsychologia, 44(4), 610-621.
- Williams, J. H., Whiten, A., Singh, T., 2004. *A systematic review of action imitation in autistic spectrum disorder*. J Autism Dev Disord, 34(3), 285-299.
- Williams, J. H., Whiten, A., Suddendorf, T., Perrett, D. I., 2001. *Imitation, mirror neurons and autism.* Neurosci and Biobehav Rev, 25, 287-295.

		1
		1

	ASD			TD			
Measure	n = 14	Range	S.D	n = 15	Range	S.D	p-value
Age	13	8-17	2.8	11	8-15	1.77	0.08
EQ	24	9-42	7.11	43	23-54	9.63	< 0.01
SQ	26	15-50	8.77	29	18-40	7.01	0.42
FSIQ	111	85-126	14.9	103	83-130	15.17	0.21
VIQ	107	75-128	16.59	104	84-134	19.24	0.64
PIQ	111	93-124	11.37	102	84-130	12.04	0.08
SCQ	18	6-31	7.25	3	0-10	3.56	< 0.01
VMI	92	66-117	13.04	97	71-110	9.41	0.26
VMI Motor	91	51-110	13.99	91	75-105	10.36	0.99
PANESS	57	39-78	12.31	46	36-71	9.19	0.01
AQ	78	28-135	30.31	31	5-67	21.62	< 0.01
RME	19	15-24	2.27	20	17-25	2.32	0.23
Imitation	127	108-130	6.22	129	127-130	1.29	0.31

Table 1. Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group.

Table 2. Table displaying areas of activation for each group when all mental imitation conditions are contrasted with fixation.

Region	X	у	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Middle Temporal/Calcarine	38	-50	4	R	NA	15974	13.76
Inferior Frontal	-48	6	28	L	44	2019	12.77
Insula/Inferior Frontal	34	24	-2	R	NA	474	8.59
Middle/Inferior Frontal	34	4	40	R	9	1477	7.04
Supplementary Motor	2	24	48	R	8	463	6.92
Thalamus	26	-30	2	R	NA	219	6.25

Mental Imitation vs. Fix (TD)

Mental Imitation vs. Fix (ASD)

Region	X	у	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Inferior Temporal/Fusiform	46	-56	-8	R	NA	20893	16.03
Hippocampus/Thalamus	-30	-30	-6	L	NA	537	8.41
Inferior/Middle Frontal	-40	26	8	L	45	2892	8.11
Inferior Frontal	52	12	28	R	44	1572	7.43
Insula	38	22	-6	R	NA	113	5.81

Figure Captions

Figure 1. Figure showing example mental imitation stimuli. Participants were provided with a cartoon image of an individual with their hand missing. They were asked to choose from three answer choices the hand image that would most appropriately complete the picture. Top: Example transitive stimuli of person ironing (Correct response: C). Bottom: Example intransitive stimuli of people at a meeting clapping (Correct response: B).

Figure 2. The activation pattern for processing mental imitation contrasted with fixation for each group (p < 0.001; cluster = 80 mm³).

Figure 3. The activation pattern for processing transitive and intransitive actions contrasted separately with fixation for each group (p < 0.001; cluster = 80 mm³).

Figure 4. Group differences in activation for transitive and intransitive conditions when contrasted with a fixation. The TD group shows greater levels of activation in the right angular gyrus while the ASD group shows greater levels of activation in the right middle temporal area.

Figure 5. Graph displaying areas of increased psc values for the ASD group. The ASD group showed significantly greater psc in the LIFG, right cerebellum, right precentral gyrus, and right postcentral gyrus.

Figure 6. Graph displaying networks of increased functional connectivity in the ASD group(ASD >TD): increased connectivity of the insula with the left parietal and the right temporal networks.

Figure 7. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between psc values and neuropsychological test scores: A) Negative correlation between VMI scores and psc in the LIFG and left precentral gyrus for all participants; (B) Significant positive correlations of *MNS:Motor* and *MNS:Insula* connectivity with performance accuracy.

Figure 1. Figure showing example mental imitation stimuli. Participants were provided with a cartoon image of an individual with their hand missing. They were asked to choose from three answer choices the hand image that would most appropriately complete the picture. Top: Example transitive stimuli of person ironing (Correct response: C). Bottom: Example intransitive stimuli of people at a meeting clapping (Correct response: B).





Figure 2. The activation pattern for processing mental imitation contrasted with fixation for each group (p < 0.001; cluster = 80 mm³).

Figure 3. The activation pattern for processing transitive and intransitive actions contrasted separately with fixation for each group (p < 0.001; cluster = 80 mm³).



Figure 4. Group differences in activation for transitive and intransitive conditions when contrasted with a fixation. The TD group shows greater levels of activation in the right angular gyrus while the ASD group shows greater levels of activation in the right middle temporal area.



Figure 5. Graph displaying areas of increased psc values for the ASD group. The ASD group showed significantly greater psc in the LIFG, right cerebellum, right precentral gyrus, and right postcentral gyrus.





Figure 6. Graph displaying networks of increased functional connectivity in the ASD group(ASD >TD): increased connectivity of the insula with the left parietal and the right temporal networks.

Figure 7. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between psc values and neuropsychological test scores: A) Negative correlation between VMI scores and psc in the LIFG and left precentral gyrus for all participants; (B) Significant positive correlations of *MNS:Motor* and *MNS:Insula* connectivity with performance accuracy.



THE MIRROR NEURON NETWORK AND MOTOR IMITATION IN CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS WITH AUTISM

by

HEATHER M. WADSWORTH¹, HRISHIKESH DESHPANDE², AMY LEMELMAN¹, & RAJESH K. KANA¹

¹Department of Psychology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA

²Department of Radiology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, USA

Corresponding Author:

Rajesh K. Kana, Ph.D. Department of Psychology University of Alabama, Birmingham CIRC 235G, 1719 6th Ave South Birmingham, AL 35294-0021 Phone: 205-934-3171; Fax: 205-975-6330 E-mail: <u>rkana@uab.edu</u>

In preparation for submission to: Neuropsychologia

Format adapted for dissertation

Abstract

While imitation has consistently been reported to be an area of particular deficit in autism spectrum disorder (ASD), the exact nature of this deficit remains unclear. Although a dysfunction in the brain's mirror neuron system (MNS) has been proposed to explain this, the reliability of this account is under debate. The current study used fMRI to examine the integrated functioning of the regions that are part of the MNS, and the communication between this network and other brain areas in children and adolescents with ASD during a motor imitation task. Fifteen ASD and 13 age-and-IQ-matched typically developing (TD) children were asked to imitate, in the MRI scanner, a series of hand gestures. Intact performance on imitation in both ASD and TD groups was accompanied by strong activation in areas considered part of the MNS, such as the ventral premotor cortex (PMv) and the inferior parietal lobule (IPL). Group difference analyses revealed significantly increased activity in ASD participants, relative to TD, in mirror and motor areas including PMv, supplementary motor area (SMA), inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), and extrastriate body area (EBA). The ASD participants also showed significantly increased functional connectivity, than TD participants, of the visual network with insula and superior temporal sulcus (STS). Overall, our study found robust MNS activity accompanied by typical imitation performance in ASD children. These findings provide new evidence for a lack of MNS dysfunction in ASD at least in the context of a simple motor imitation task.

Keywords: mirror neuron, imitation, autism, fMRI, functional connectivity **Word Count:** 7, 339

1. Introduction

Imitation is a fundamental aspect of human social behavior and plays a critical role in the acquisition of knowledge (Bandura, 1977; Hurley & Chater, 2005) as well as in the development of social, communication, and motor skills (Tomasello, Kruger, & Ratner, 1993). By providing children with information about the actions and intentions of the physical and the social world, imitation assists in social learning (Rogers et al., 2003) and forms the foundation for future social development. Early imitative skills are correlated with social engagement (Masur, 2006; Young et al., 2011) and predict nonverbal communication skills (Heimann et al., 2006), language development (McEwen et al., 2007; Rose, Feldman, & Jankowski, 2009), social understanding (Meltzoff, 1995), and cognitive skills (Strid et al., 2006). Additionally, being imitated helps build rapport (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999), increases altruistic behavior (van Baaren et al., 2004), and increases trust (Bailenson & Yee, 2005). Thus, the ability to imitate has benefits that span multiple levels of social and cognitive functioning.

Imitation plays an important role in characterizing the social and communicative impairments seen in individuals with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). Evidence from behavioral research has led to the proposal that imitation is a core deficit in autism (Rogers & Pennington, 1991; Williams, Whiten, & Singh, 2004; Rogers et al., 2003; Charman et al., 2005; Turan & Ökçün Akçamuş, 2013). Given the importance of imitation in social and cognitive development, it has been suggested that imitation deficits in ASD may result in a range of difficulties including deficits in face-processing (Hadjikhani et al., 2007), theory-of-mind (Williams et al., 2006), empathy (Oberman & Ramachandran, 2007), and joint attention (Villalobos et al., 2005). However, not all forms of imitation appear equally impaired in autism. For instance, ASD individuals demonstrate specific deficits in spontaneous imitation, but perform better on tasks that elicit imitation explicitly (McDuffie et al., 2007; Ingersoll, 2008). They also seem to have greater difficulty imitating meaningless gestures over those involving meaning or those with objects (Williams, Whiten, & Singh, 2004). Studies indicate that children with ASD show improvement in imitation skills over time (Heimann & Ullstadius, 1999; Stone, Ousley, & Littleford, 1997), with the ability to imitate simple, single-step actions improving with age (Hepburn & Stone, 2006). Imitation deficits in older children and adults with ASD are more likely to reflect difficulty imitating more complex actions (Rogers, 1999; Rogers et al., 1996) or in getting the "attitude" or "style" of an action correct (Hobson & Lee, 1999).

Although, as studies mentioned above suggest, imitation deficit has been reported widely in autism, there are several recent studies that found intact imitation skills in autism (Bird et al., 2007; Dinstein et al., 2010; Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007; Press, Richardson, & Bird, 2010; Spengler, Bird, & Brass, 2010). Nevertheless, some of these studies question if ASD individuals imitate in the same way as those without autism and if they would automatically do so in a real-world situation (e.g., Carpenter, Pennington, & Rogers, 2001; Charman & Baron-Cohen, 1994; Cook & Bird, 2011). Previous findings suggest that typically developing (TD) children will imitate "socially", copying all of the actions of an adult, while those with ASD will imitate "efficiently", copying only the necessary steps (Marsh et al., 2013). If an action has a clear goal, most people emulate the goal of the action. However, if there is no clear goal, they imitate the kinematic aspects of the action (Rumiati & Tessari, 2002). ASD individuals rely on a

goal-directed strategy, even in the absence of visual goals (Wild et al., 2011). This is thought to result from difficulties identifying key kinematic clues (Gowen, 2012), an important component of understanding other people's actions and identifying when to imitate for appropriate social interaction (Hamilton, Brindley, & Frith, 2007). Thus, individuals with ASD may be less flexible in their approach to imitation resulting in successful imitation in some cases and failure in many others.

Imitation involves copying of both the goal and style of an action voluntarily (Whiten et al., 2004) and likely requires the integrated functioning of several component skills (Want & Harris, 2002; Bennetto, 1999; Hamilton, 2008), such as perception-action coupling, visual attention, short-term memory, body schema, mental state attribution, and agency (Decety, 2006). Imitation also likely involves attentional flexibility, deficits in which influence the foci of attention during social interaction tasks (Klin et al., 2002) and, as such, may impact imitation in autism (Williams & Waiter, 2006). Given the need for motor production for imitation, motor deficits may also affect imitation skills (Rogers et al., 2003; Mostofsky et al., 2006). It has been hypothesized that ASD individuals may also lack internal motivation, in that their decreased interest in others may lead them to look at other people less frequently and make them less motivated to copy their actions (Dawson et al., 2002; Trevarthen & Aitken, 2001). Thus, the social, cognitive, and motor aspects of imitation may be mediated by the coordinated functioning of several brain areas, especially the mirror neuron system (MNS) (Rizzolatti, Fogassi, & Gallese, 2001). It is thought that these neurons provide the basis for action understanding (Lestou, Pollick, & Kourtzi, 2008) and, as such, are directly involved in imitation (Iacoboni et al., 1999; Koski et al., 2002, 2003; Heiser et al., 2003). While debated, research suggests that

the core regions of the human MNS are the caudal inferior frontal gyrus (IFG)/ventral pre-motor cortex (PMv) and the rostral inferior parietal lobe (IPL) (Iacoboni, 2005; Iacoboni et al., 2001; Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006). These individual regions likely serve separate functions, with the IFG/PMv involved in action planning (Hamilton, 2008) and perception-action coupling (Newman-Norlund et al., 2010), and the IPL in mediating the spatiotemporal, perceptual, and goal coding aspects necessary for imitation (Rizzolatti & Matelli, 2003; Hamilton, 2008). The superior temporal sulcus (STS) is believed to work with the MNS by coding visual input and sending those signals to the core regions of the MNS (Hamilton, 2008).

Previous findings of limited or lack of MNS response in autism have led to the "broken mirror hypothesis" (Williams et al., 2001; Oberman & Ramachandran, 2007; Ramachandran & Oberman, 2006), an account receiving substantial attention in recent years. Several studies have provided evidence that individuals with ASD improperly engage the MNS during imitation (for a review see Williams, 2008; Bernier & Dawson, 2009; Kana, Wadsworth, & Travers, 2011). However, several recent studies have failed to find a decreased MNS response in autism in a variety of imitation tasks (Press, Richardson, & Bird, 2010; Fan et al., 2010; Raymaekers, Wiersema, & Roeyers, 2009), providing evidence against a global dysfunction of this system in autism (Hamilton, 2013). Given that imitation is more than simply mirroring actions (Southgate & Hamilton, 2008), a more complete understanding of the imitation deficit in autism is likely to emerge from an analysis of the MNS in the context of the wider neural networks involved. As the MNS works closely with regions comprising the limbic system (Iacoboni, 2005; Dapretto et al., 2006), aberrant activation in limbic regions in ASD

(Dapretto et al., 2006; Uddin et al., 2009; Dickstein et al., 2013) may interfere with MNS functioning. The MNS is also strongly influenced by top-down control mechanisms (Spunt, Satpute, & Lieberman, 2011; Naeem et al., 2012), where ASD individuals experience considerable difficulties (e.g., Lopez et al., 2005; Hill, 2004; Kenworthy et al., 2010; Hamilton, 2008; Gomot & Wicker, 2012). In addition to aberrant executive control mechanisms, research also indicates that individuals with ASD show increased activation in regions associated with processing memory (Shih et al., 2010), which is important for imitation of meaningful actions. ASD individuals show greater reliance on these regions for imitation even in the absence of visual goals (Wild et al., 2011). Imitation difficulties may also arise from problems related to motor planning or execution. Since the MNS acts to map the actions of others onto one's own motor system, deficits in imitation may result from poor motor performance or ineffective connectivity between the MNS and motor systems. Motor difficulties seen in individuals with ASD (e.g., Fournier et al., 2010) have been implicated in the imitation deficits observed in the disorder (Mostofsky et al., 2006; Enticott et al., 2012; Théoret et al., 2005). Therefore, mirroring mechanism, mediated by motor as well as other networks, may respond differently in individuals with autism, especially in the context of imitation.

The goal of the current study was to examine the role of MNS in mediating motor imitation in high-functioning children and adolescents with autism using a hand gesture task. Since attention can have an impact on imitation performance, sustained attention and attentional flexibility were also assessed outside the scanner. Given the simple nature of the task, it was predicted that both groups would be able to imitate the gestures well. Based on previous research (Dapretto et al., 2006; Kana et al., 2009; Shih et al., 2010), we also expected that the ASD group would show decreased activation and connectivity within the frontal component of the MNS (PMv/IFG) and demonstrate aberrant patterns of activation and connectivity between the MNS and other neural regions involved in the production of imitation.

2. Materials & Method

2.1 Participants

Seventeen high-functioning children and adolescents with ASD and 17 age and IQ-matched TD control participants took part in this fMRI study (age range: 8 to 17 years; minimum Full Scale and Non-Verbal IQ: 75, measured using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scales of Intelligence [WASI]). Participants with ASD were recruited through the research subject database of the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory at the University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB), the Alabama Autism Society, and flyers posted at local ASD-related treatment and evaluation centers. All participants were diagnosed with an ASD. Current and past ASD symptoms were assessed using the Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ) – Lifetime Version (Berument et al., 1999) (ASD mean/SD = 17/8.29; TD mean/SD = 3/3.66), the Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001) (mean ASD/SD = 78/28.67; TD mean/SD = 32/23.18), and the Repetitive Behavior Scale – Revised (Lam & Aman, 2007) (ASD mean/SD = 29.71/26.70). TD participants were recruited using flyers and advertisements on the UAB campus, flyers posted in local community centers (e.g., libraries, YMCAs), and through the Cognition, Brain, and Autism Laboratory's research subject database. Participants were not included in the study if they indicated having worked with metal or having metal implanted in their bodies (either surgically or accidentally) or if they had a

history of psychiatric disorders. No participants indicated having a cognitive disorder, anxiety disorder, schizophrenia, or obsessive compulsive disorder. Out of the 34 participants scanned (17 ASD and 17 TD), six participants' data were not usable due to head motion artifacts resulting in a final sample of 15 ASD and 13 TD control participants (see table 1 for detailed participant information).

Insert Table 1 about here

2.2 Overall Experimental Procedure

Participants took part in 2 separate sessions: 1) Assessment; and 2) MRI scanning. The first session lasted approximately two hours, during which the participants completed a series of screening measures and neuropsychological tests including demographics, visual-motor skills, ASD-related symptomology, medication history, and diagnosis. In order to analyze the relationship between attention and imitation skills, attention was measured using the computerized children's Attention Networks Task (ANT; Fan et al., 2002). Motor skills were also analyzed using the Physical and Neurological Examination for Soft Signs (PANESS; Denckla, 1985). During the second session, which also lasted approximately 2 hours, participants were prepared for the MRI scan, performed a computer practice task outside the scanner to ensure that they understood the directions for the task, and performed the tasks in the MRI scanner.

2.3 Stimuli and Experimental Paradigm

Participants were shown 24 high-resolution hand images, presented one at a time and centered on the screen, showing a range of meaningless hand gestures (see Figure 1). These stimuli were adapted from answer choice images included in a praxis paradigm developed by Heilman and colleagues (Mozaz et al., 2002). Images were selected for inclusion based on ability to perform while lying in the scanner as well as the representation of a meaningless gesture. Images selected for inclusion were modeled and re-photographed using a high-resolution color camera in order to increase the resolution of images presented. Each stimulus was displayed on the screen for a period of 4000ms with an inter-stimulus interval of 6000 ms in an event-related design. Participants were instructed to use their right hand to imitate the same hand action they saw in the image. In order to control for potential practice effects, the order of presentation of stimuli within the experiment was randomized across participants. Participants were also presented with a fixation condition after every four imitation stimuli for a total of 6 fixation periods. During fixation, participants were shown a white cross centered on a black background and instructed to relax and wait for the next image to appear. Each fixation was displayed on the screen for a period of 24000ms. In a post-scanning computer session, participants were asked to imitate hand motions of the same stimuli they saw in the scanner. Their imitative acts were video recorded and coded for their style, accuracy, and precision based on the taxonomy suggested by Buxbaum and colleagues (2000). Two independent researchers also coded the tapes and inter-rater reliability was established.

Insert Figure 1 about here

2.4 Image Acquisition

All fMRI scans were acquired using the Siemens 3.0 Tesla Allegra head-only scanner (*Siemens* Medical Inc., Erlangen, Germany) located at the UAB Civitan

International Research Center (CIRC). For structural imaging, initial high resolution T1weighted scans were acquired using a 160-slice 3D MPRAGE (Magnetization Prepared Rapid Gradient Echo) volume scan with repetition time (TR) = 200 ms, echo tile (TE) =3.34 ms, flip angle = 12° , field of view (FOV) = 25.6 cm, 256 X 256 matrix size, and 1 mm slice thickness. A single-shot gradient-recalled echo-planar pulse sequence was used to acquire functional images (TR= 1000 ms, TE = 30ms, flip angle = 60 degrees, FOV = 24 cm, matrix = 64×64). Seventeen adjacent obligue axial slices were acquired in an interleaved sequence with 5 mm slice thickness, 1 mm slice gap, a 24 X 24 cm field of view (FOV), and a 64 X 64 matrix, resulting in an in-plane resolution of 3.75 X 3.75 X 5 mm. The stimuli were rear-projected onto a translucent plastic screen and participants viewed the screen through a mirror attached to the head coil. Quality control checks were applied to the acquired data to examine the signal to noise ratio, temporal signal to noise ratio, ghosting, and head motion artifacts. Data that did not meet quality standards were not included in further analyses. In addition, the head motion for each participant, quantified in three translational (x, y, and z) and three rotational (pitch, roll, and yaw) dimensions were entered into the general linear model as regressors of no-interest.

2.5 Behavioral and Neuropsychological Data Analyses

Scores from neuropsychological measures for each participant were entered into SPSS 16.0 statistical software (*SPSS* Inc., Chicago, IL). Between-group t-tests were run in order to compare group means on each measure. Data on each participant's accuracy during the out of scanner imitation task was also entered into SPSS. A two-way between groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was also performed to examine the effects of group and condition on both reaction time and accuracy of the ANT. The relationship between behavioral performance on the ANT and neural activation in mirror neuron regions (LIFG, RIFG, LIPL, RIPL) was examined using multiple regression analyses.

2.6 fMRI Data Analyses

Imaging analysis included brain activation, change in percent signal intensity, and functional connectivity. In addition, bivariate correlation analyses were used to examine the correlation between percent signal change values and functional connectivity in specified ROIs and scores on neuropsychological measures assessing PIQ, empathy, and motor skills.

Brain activation. To examine brain activation, the data were pre-processed and statistical analyses were carried out using Statistical Parametrical Mapping, version 8 software (SPM8; Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK). Images were corrected for slice acquisition timing, motion-corrected, normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template, re-sampled to 8-mm³ voxels, and smoothed with an 8 mm FWHM filter. The general linear model was utilized to perform statistical analyses on both individual and group data. Activated regions of interest (ROIs), or clusters with statistically significant activation were identified using a t-statistic on a voxel by voxel basis. In order to control for motion during scanning, artifact detection was performed using the Artifact Detection Tools (ART) toolbox

(http://www.nitrc.org/projects/artifact_detect/). This tool provided information regarding each subject's motion (in mm) as a function of time. These motion variables (in the x, y, and z planes as well as yaw, pitch, roll rotational dimensions) were then utilized as nuisance regressors for analysis of each subject's activation data. Differences in activation between groups were calculated by examining differences in the number of voxels activated in corresponding ROIs between the groups for each paradigm. In order to correct for false positives and false negatives, Monte Carlo simulations were applied to the data based on the 8mm^3 voxel size using AlphaSim in Analysis of Functional NeuroImage (AFNI) software (Ward, 2000) to determine the minimum number of voxels required in each cluster to be equivalent to the level of statistical significance at a familywise error corrected threshold of p<0.05. This analysis resulted in an extent threshold of 136 contiguous voxels at a p<0.001 level for all contrasts within groups.

Percent Signal Change. In addition to the activation analyses run using the general linear model in SPM8, percent signal change (PSC) values were extracted for all imitation stimuli when contrasted with a fixation baseline. Anatomical ROIs utilized were defined using the WFU Pickatlas toolbox (Maldjian et al., 2003). These ROIs included 8 sets of bilateral regions: inferior parietal lobule (LIPL, RIPL), inferior frontal gyrus (LIFG, RIFG), superior temporal sulcus (LSTS, RSTS), middle occipital gyrus (LMOG, RMOG), supplementary motor area (LSMA, RSMA), precentral gyrus (LPRCN, RPRCN), postcentral gyrus (LPSCN, RPSCN), cerebellum (LCBELL, RCBELL); and left middle temporal gyrus (LMTG), left insula (LINS), left hippocampus, and left middle frontal gyrus (LMFG). In addition to these anatomically defined ROIs, bilateral extrastriate body area (LEBA, REBA) was also defined spherically (centralized at: +/-46 -70 1; radius=8mm). The time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within each ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. For

each participant, the intensity of fMRI signal per voxel in all the previously defined anatomical ROIs for the experimental task was compared to that for the fixation baseline using a *t*-test with a statistical significance level of p < 0.05. The average percentage change in signal intensity was then calculated for each ROI and the statistically significant difference was tested between the imitation task and fixation baseline. Thus for each ROI, for each participant, the mean percent change in signal intensity reflected the amount of difference in the BOLD contrast-related changes between the experimental (imitation) task and the fixation baseline.

Functional Connectivity. Functional connectivity (correlation in time between activation of brain regions) was computed separately for each participant as a correlation between the average time course of all the activated voxels in each member of a pair of regions of interest (ROIs). This analysis utilized the same ROIs used for the PSC analysis which were based on areas main clusters of activation in the group activation map for imitation conditions contrasted to the fixation baseline as well as ROIs based on apriori hypotheses. Labels for the ROIs were assigned with reference to the parcellation of the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) single subject T1 weighted dataset carried out by Tzourio-Mazoyer and colleagues (Tzourio-Mazoyer et al., 2002). The activation time course extracted for each participant over the activated voxels within the ROI originated from the normalized and smoothed images, which were high-pass filtered and had the linear trend removed. The functional connectivity correlation was computed on the images from all imitation stimuli. As such, it reflects the synchronization between the activation in two areas while the participant is performing the task and not during the fixation condition. Fisher's r to z transformation was then applied to the correlation

coefficients for each participant prior to averaging and statistical comparison of the two groups. These ROIs were also separately clustered into networks based on function (MNS, motor regions, visual regions, insula, thalamus) and a network analysis was run analyzing the correlation between activation time courses between networks. In order to explore the relationship between functional connectivity patterns and scores on neuropsychological measures, bivariate correlations were run in SPSS between scores on measures of motor skills (PANESS), empathy, and PIQ with FCA network connectivity values for the overall group.

3. Results

3.1 Overview

The main results of this study are summarized as follows: 1) Both ASD and TD groups showed strong activation in ventral premotor cortex along with ventral temporal and occipital areas while imitating actions; 2) The ASD group showed significantly increased activation (ASD >TD) in lingual gyrus and middle temporal cortex during imitation; 3) Analysis of percent change in signal showed significantly increased activity in ASD participants (ASD > TD) in several regions, such as RIFG, LEBA, right cerebellum, and RSMA; 4) Functional connectivity measures indicated greater posterior area connectivity in ASD participants (ASD > TD), especially connectivity of the visual network with STS and insula; and 5) There were no statistically significant group differences in imitation ability and attention.

3.2 Neuropsychological Testing

Participants in both groups differed significantly on several measures of neuropsychological assessment. For empathizing ability, the ASD group had significantly lower scores on the EQ (ASD M=24) than the TD group (TD M=42) [t(26)= -5.34, p<0.01]. The ASD group also scored significantly higher on both measures of autism symptomatology, the AQ [t(25)=3.97, p<0.01] and the SCQ [t(25)=5.30, p<0.01]. In terms of motor skills, the ASD group displayed significantly greater difficulty as indicated by the PANESS scores [t(26)=2.36, p<0.05]. While not significant, the ASD group also showed borderline significantly lower scores on the Reading the Mind in the Eyes Task [t(27)=-1.99, p=0.06]. The groups did not differ significantly on other neuropsychological measures including IQ and visual-motor skills (see Table 1).

Insert Table 1 about here

3.3 Behavioral Results

Measures of imitation ability were recorded and coded for accuracy outside the MRI scanner following each participant's scan. This was done in order to allow for better measurement of imitation ability in real-world environments where participants are able to see their hands/arms and are allowed a free range of movement, in contrast to the restricted space in the MRI scanner. A two-tailed between-group t-test performed to examine group differences in imitation ability revealed no statistically significant differences [ASD M=127; TD M=129; t(25)=-1.30, p=0.21]. In addition, qualitative analysis showed that all subjects within both groups were generally able to perform the task, with scores ranging from 108-130 for the ASD group and from 127-130 for the TD

group. A two-way between-groups analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to explore the effect of group (ASD or TD) and attention networks task (ANT) task condition (congruent, incongruent, or neutral) on ANT accuracy and reaction time separately. Results of this analysis revealed a significant main effect of group [F(1,69) = 6.26, p<0.05] and a main effect of condition [F(2,69) = 3.50, p<0.05] but no group x condition interaction [F(2,69)=0.11, p>0.05] for reaction time. Follow up analyses revealed, however, that there were no significant differences in reaction time between groups for any of the conditions analyzed separately [Congruent: t(26)=-1.40, p>0.05; Incongruent: t(26)=-1.55, p>0.05; Neutral: t(26)=-1.39, p>0.05]. Both groups were significantly slower for incongruent trials compared with congruent trials [Incongruent M= 841.95, Congruent M=723.88; t(54)=-2.43, p>0.05]. There was also no main effect of group [F(1,69) = 0.56, p>0.05] or condition [F(2,69)=0.47, p>0.05] for accuracy; nor was there any group x condition interaction [F(2.69)=0.47, p>0.05].

A multiple regression was conducted to determine the role of attention on imitation performance with psc values from core MNS ROIs as dependent variable and ANT accuracy and RT as independent variables. We found a marginally significant relationship between psc in RIFG and overall RT on the ANT for all participants [F(3,25)=2.60, p=0.08]. Follow-up correlation analyses revealed a significant relationship between RIFG psc and RT for all conditions separately [Congruent: r=0.40, p=0.05; Incongruent: r=0.51, p=0.01; Neutral: r=0.51, p=0.01]. RIFG psc values were not, however, significantly related to accuracy [F(3,25)=0.60, p>0.05]. Regression analyses also revealed that, within the ASD group, there was a significant relationship between LIFG psc values and RT for incongruent trials (r=0.61, p<0.05). A significant
relationship between psc in the RIPL and overall RT on the ANT was also found for TD participants [F(3,10) = 4.01, p<0.05]. Follow-up correlation analyses revealed a significant relationship between RIPL psc and RT for incongruent stimuli for the TD group [Incongruent: r= -0.40, p<0.05]. However, there was no relationship between psc in the RIPL and RT on the ANT for the ASD group [F(3,12] = 1.17, p>0.05]. Also, no relationship was found between ANT overall RT and psc in the LIPL for either the TD [F(3,10) = 1.90, p>0.05] or the ASD [F(3,12) = 0.93, p>0.05] group.

3.4 Within-Group and Between-Group Activation Patterns

The ASD and TD participants showed strong activation in core MNS regions (Ventral premotor cortex including IFG and precentral gyrus along with IPL) as well as in occipital and ventral temporal areas while imitating actions (p<0.001; k = 136 contiguous 2mm³ voxels determined by Monte Carlo simulation). In addition to these areas of common activation, the ASD group alone also displayed activation in the right anterior insula, thalamus, and right middle frontal gyrus (RMFG). The TD group, on the other hand, showed increased activation for imitation in the right cerebellum, right fusiform gyrus, right inferior temporal gyrus (RITG), LSTS, and right lingual gyrus (see Figure 3 & Table 2). A two-sample t-test in SPM8 to examine group differences revealed significant increase in activation during imitation in ASD, relative to TD, participants in the left middle temporal gyrus, the left lingual gyrus, and the left parahippocampal gyrus, areas involved in visual processing (Epstein & Kanwisher, 1998; Bogousslavsky et al., 1987; Mangun et al., 1998), memory retrieval (Decety et al., 1997; Visser et al., 2012; Cho et al., 2012; Menon et al., 2000), and encoding the location of items in space

(Sommer et al., 2005; Maguire et al., 1998). No significant differences in activation within core MNS regions were found. The TD group did not show any areas of increased activation over the ASD group (p<0.005, with an extent threshold of 144 contiguous 2mm³ voxels) (see Figure 2).

Insert Figure 2 and Table 2 about here

3.5 Percent Signal Change (psc)

PSC values were extracted for individual participants from activated voxels from a set of functionally determined, but anatomically defined ROIs. These ROIs were chosen based on the pattern of group level activation (for ASD + TD) in the imitation condition contrasted with a fixation baseline to best represent the activation for all participants during imitation. The ASD group, relative to TD, showed significantly increased psc in areas related to motor control/execution including the right cerebellum [t(24)=2.30, p<0.05] and the right SMA [t(25)=2.52, p=<0.05]. The ASD group also displayed increased psc in the left EBA [t(22)=2.30, p<0.05], a region involved specifically in the processing of visual stimuli related to the body (Downing et al., 2001). While there were no significant group differences in activation of the MNS areas in our SPM-based analysis, the ASD group displayed significantly greater psc for the anterior component of the MNS, the right IFG, when compared with the TD group [t(23)=2.05], p<0.05] (see Figure 4). A significant negative correlation between psc in the left EBA and PANESS scores was found for the overall group (r=-0.48, p<0.05). When the two groups were analyzed separately, both the ASD group and the TD group showed a significant negative correlation between PANESS scores and psc in the left EBA (ASD:

r= -0.62, p<0.05; TD: r= -0.78, p<0.05), suggesting greater motor difficulty was associated with less change in activation in this region.

Insert Figure 3 about here

A psc network analysis was also performed examining overall psc values during imitation in motor (LPSCN, RPSCN, LSMA, RSMA, REBA, LEBA, LCEBLL, RCEBLL), mirror (LIPL, RIPL, LIFG, RIFG), and visual (LMOG, RMOG) networks for each group. Results of the network analysis indicated increased motor related psc in the ASD group [t(171)=3.76, p<0.01]during the imitation task. Results also showed increased psc in both mirror [t(96)=3.31, p<0.01]and visual [t(49)=2.28, p<0.05] for the ASD group as compared with TD controls. Thus, results from psc analyses indicate not only an increased reliance on individual regions involved in these networks but in the overall networks for participants with ASD.

3.6 Functional Connectivity Analysis

Functional connectivity network analysis was conducted to examine group differences in connectivity between the MNS and related brain networks and regions (including the motor system and visual system as well as insula, EBA, and STS). There were no areas or networks of increased functional connectivity for the TD group. However, the ASD participants showed overconnectivity (ASD > TD) of the visual system with both the insula [t(22)=2.30, p<0.05] and STS [t(25)=2.57, p<0.05]. An additional lobe-based functional connectivity network analysis revealed significantly increased connectivity in ASD (ASD>TD) between the left and right occipital lobes [t(27)=2.71, p<0.05], between the left and right parietal lobes [t(24)=2.57, p<0.05], between the left emporal and left occipital lobes [t(26)=2.69, p<0.05], and between the left

temporal and right occipital lobes [t(26)=2.32, p<0.05] (see Figure 5). Thus, there were significant overconnectivity in ASD participants in relatively posterior areas of the brain, especially involving occipital, temporal, and parietal networks.

Insert Figure 4 about here

To examine the relationship between functional connectivity in identified hypothesis-based networks and measures of behavioral characteristics, bivariate correlations were run between connectivity values obtained from the network analysis and scores on neuropsychological measures. Results of this analysis indicated that PIQ scores were positively correlated with functional connectivity between the MNS and visual cortex (r=0.48, p<0.05). In addition PANESS scores for the whole group were also positively correlated with functional connectivity between the MNS and motor systems (r=0.44, p<0.05) (see Figure 6).

Insert Figure 5 about here

4. Discussion

This fMRI study of motor imitation in children and adolescents revealed intact imitation performance in ASD participants accompanied by robust MNS activity and increased functional connectivity. This finding is consistent with recent studies failing to find decreased activation of the MNS in ASD (e.g., Oberman, Ramachandran, & Pineda, 2008; Raymaekers, Wiersema, & Roeyers, 2009; Avikainen, Kulomaki, & Hari, 1999), especially an fMRI study involving similar paradigm using repetitive suppression (Dinstein et al., 2010). These results are also congruent with recent findings suggesting that individuals with ASD, although delayed, develop imitation skills and that imitation deficits present in older children and adults with autism may be limited to more complex imitative tasks (Rogers et al., 1996; Hobson & Lee, 1999; Avikainen et al., 2003). Studies previously finding decreased activation in the MNS in autism often included additional components that were not present in the current study including dynamic stimuli (e.g., Oberman et al., 2005; Martineau et al., 2008), emotional stimuli (e.g., McIntosh et al., 2006; Dapretto et al., 2006), or complex action planning components (e.g., Rogers et al., 1996). Such tasks are more demanding and may elicit deficits in activation and coordination in MNS in individuals with autism. Although no areas of decreased functional connectivity with frontal regions were found, these results are consistent with previous research indicating greater posterior and local functional connectivity in ASD (Courchesne et al., 2005; Sahyoun et al., 2010; Samson et al., 2012). Moreover, these findings are also consistent with recent neuroimaging studies which suggest that connectivity patterns in children with autism may be different from that of adults with children usually showing overconnectivity (Uddin, Supekar, & Menon, 2013; Supekar et al., 2013).

4.1 Increased Reliance on Visual and Memory Processing Regions in ASD

While the ASD group displayed differences in psc/functional connectivity patterns involving components of the MNS, between-group differences in neural recruitment were not limited to mirror regions. Consistent with previous research indicating an increased use of visual processing regions in ASD (e.g., Mottron et al., 2006; Soulières et al., 2011; Samson et al., 2012), the ASD group showed increased activation in several neural regions related to visual processing of information during the current imitation task. This included greater psc (compared with the TD group) in the EBA, a region involved in visual processing of body-related images (Downing et al., 2001) and a key component of the action observation network (AON) (Caspers et al., 2010; Koski et al., 2002). This activation within the AON may indicate that individuals with ASD are using "visual thinking" in order to imagine the action of the other or to produce a mental image of their own movement to assist in performing imitation. Of potential importance to the current task, the EBA has also been hypothesized to play a role in sorting self and other body images and connecting them (Myers & Sowden, 2008). As such, it is thought that this region may play a vital role in visual processing of selfother discrimination (Vocks et al., 2010). Results also indicated additional activation for the ASD group in the left lingual gyrus during imitation. This is consistent with previous findings of increased grey matter volume (Cauda et al., 2011) and activation (Noonan, Haist, & Muller, 2009) in this region for autism. The lingual gyrus has been shown to play a role in visual processing and daydreaming (Ganis, Thompson, & Kosslyn, 2004). Along with activation in the AON, this increased activation provides additional evidence for the use of mental imagery to perform the task and suggests a more visual approach to the imitation task.

Functional connectivity analyses also revealed evidence of increased reliance on visual system regions for the ASD group. Compared with TD participants, ASD participants demonstrated increased connectivity of the visual system with both the insula and STS. The ASD group also showed increased functional connectivity between the left and right occipital lobes, and between the left temporal lobe with both the left and right occipital lobes. Together this pattern of both increased activation and functional

connectivity in ASD suggests greater reliance on low-level visual processing to perform these imitations.

Group differences in activation also reveal an increased reliance on memory processing for the ASD group. More specifically, greater activation in the parahippocampal gyrus and middle temporal gyrus may both be associated with increased reliance on neural processing related to action memories. The parahippocampal gyrus is involved in processing related to memory of actions (Decety et al., 1997) and in familiarity based recognition processes (Yonelinas et al., 2002; Holdstock et al., 2005). Increased activation in the LMTG also suggests that the ASD group is potentially relying on semantic memory processing to imitate these relatively simple hand postures (Martin & Chao, 2001; Menon et al., 2002; Wei et al., 2012).

In addition to the region's previously mentioned role in visual processing, the lingual gyrus is also involved in memory processing (Bogousslavsky et al., 1987; Cho et al., 2012; Menon et al., 2000). As such, increased activation in this region for the ASD group may indicate that participants are attempting to identify the gesture or symbol created by the hand image displayed (Price et al., 1996; Farah, 2004). Each of these neural regions are components of the ventral visual stream, which has been implicated specifically in semantic processing necessary for imitation of meaningful (rather than meaningless) gestures (Rumiati et al., 2005). However, all of the stimuli used for this study displayed meaningless hand postures. Thus, activation of these regions suggests that individuals with ASD may be processing these stimuli through the same neural pathways as those generally reserved for processing of meaningful actions, resulting in increased reliance on memory mechanisms to determine the semantic role. Given the

intact ability of the ASD group to perform the imitations, this activation pattern may indicate the use of a compensatory mechanism. However, further examination would be necessary in order to determine how this neural pattern would hold if presented to participants unable to perform the imitations.

4.2 Increased Reliance on Motor-Related Regions in ASD

The ASD group also showed increased psc over the TD group in key motor regions including the cerebellum and SMA. The cerebellum has been implicated in visuomotor tasks requiring a combination of visual and kinesthetic information (Liu et al., 1999; Imamizu et al., 2000), an integration that is vital to imitation (Hagura et al., 2009). The SMA is also involved in motor planning and sequencing (see Nachev, Kennard, & Husain, 2008 for review). Previous research has found atypical activation in both of these regions in autism when individuals are executing motor tasks (Mostofsky et al., 2009). In addition to increased activation in these key motor regions, the ASD group also displayed greater activation in other neural regions previously implicated in motor planning and control including the RIFG and EBA. Along with its role in the MNS, the RIFG has also been implicated in control of fine motor movements (Liakakis, Nickel, & Seitz, 2011) and in motor response inhibition (Picazio et al., 2013; Menon et al., 2001; Rubia et al., 2003; Aron, Robbins, & Poldrack, 2004; Kana et al., 2007). Given the role of the RIFG in motor inhibition, this increased activation in the ASD group could indicate a need for additional top-down control of motor functioning in order to accomplish the simple imitation task. The finding of lower activation for the TD group might result as an artifact of the ease of task for this group (Wang et al., 2006; Hampshire et al., 2010; Hughes et al., 2013). Additional support for this hypothesis comes from regression results. These results indicated that psc in the RIFG was positively correlated with RT for all ANT attention tasks (congruent, incongruent, and neutral) for the overall group, suggesting that greater activation of this region is related to increased need for inhibition or control of attentional resources. Previous research suggests that reduced ASD symptoms are associated with increased grey matter volume in the RIFG (Parks et al., 2009), indicating that the additional activation in this region may serve a compensatory function.

While the EBA is primarily a visual region, it has also been found to activate not only during perception of other people's body parts, but also during goal-directed movements of the observer's body parts (Astafiev et al., 2004). As such, the EBA has been suggested to contribute to motor planning of goal-directed actions by providing a representation of the goal posture of an action plan (Zimmermann, Meulenbroek, & de Lange, 2012). Regression results indicated that PANESS scores were negatively correlated with psc in the left EBA for the overall group, suggesting that poorer motor skills were correlated with less reliance on the EBA during imitations. Thus, given the region's role in motor planning, increased activation in this region for ASD may also represent a compensatory neural approach to assist with motor functioning necessary for the task. Overall, increased activation in motor processing regions indicates that individuals with ASD required additional motor-related processing resources to perform the relatively simple imitations. Given a more complex imitation task, these motor difficulties may contribute to impaired or delayed performance in ASD (Mostofsky et al., 2006).

4.3 Overall Greater Reliance on Motor, Mirror, & Visual Regions in ASD

Overall results indicated that, despite intact ability to perform the simple hand imitations, the ASD group utilized a unique cognitive approach to accomplish the task. This approach was characterized by an increased reliance on mirror, visual, and motor processing regions for the ASD group compared to TD participants. In addition to activation and functional connectivity results indicating an increased reliance on individual regions comprising each of these networks, a psc analysis combining ROIs involved in each network (mirror, visual, and motor) further demonstrated significantly increased reliance on all three systems for this imitation task in the ASD group. There are two possible reasons for this finding. First, it could represent an innate difference in neural approach to imitation in individuals with ASD. However, it is also possible that the low activation in these regions for TD participants was due to the relatively simple nature of the imitation tasks included in the study. Therefore, the activation difference in the ASD group may not represent a unique neural approach to the task but, instead, result from increased difficulty of the task for these participants. Analyses examining brainbehavior relationships provide additional evidence that increased functional connectivity may be related to increased difficulty. More specifically, these results indicate that increased motor difficulty (as measured by the PANESS) is correlated with increased functional connectivity between mirror and motor system regions. Thus, a greater need for integrated use of the MNS and motor systems may represent an effect of motor difficulty. However, further research is necessary to determine the exact nature of group differences in neural activation and functional connectivity during imitation.

4.4 Study Limitations and Future Directions

Although the current study provided additional evidence of intact imitation ability despite the presence of aberrant activation and functional connectivity patterns in ASD, limitations of the current study should be considered when evaluating these findings. One limitation of the study was the use of a fairly homogeneous group of both TD and ASD participants. While research involving neuroimaging often requires specific subject characteristics (older, average cognitive functioning), these limitations also reduce the generalizability of results. Additional research is therefore necessary to determine the degree to which the unique patterns of activation in connectivity displayed in the ASD group are applicable to individuals of other ages or cognitive levels. Longitudinal or cross-sectional studies could further elucidate the developmental course of the aberrant processing pattern and imitation skills in ASD. Use of this study design and a range of imitation tasks of different complexities could also assist in determining if the aberrant processing pattern is related to the imitation difficulties observed in ASD and, if so, whether this processing pattern results in imitation or social processing deficits or develops later as a compensatory strategy.

Additionally, results from the current study suggest potential involvement of increased reliance on top-down motor control for the ASD group. Given that the controlled fMRI study environment may minimize reliance on these regions and, thus, mask the potential interfering effects of increased need for these regions, future research should evaluate neural processing patterns during imitation produced in a more realistic setting. The finding of increased MNS activation and intact behavioral performance for simple imitation in the ASD group provided additional evidence that the type and

complexity of imitation tasks used in previous research may underlie inconsistent of findings within the literature. Development of scales to determine the complexity of imitation tasks presented and the comparison of imitation tasks involving a range of complexity would assist in further elucidating the potential effects of the abnormal neural processing observed and at which point this results in decreased efficacy in producing imitations.

5. Conclusions

Results indicate an intact ability for simple hand imitations in ASD. While the ASD group did not demonstrate decreased activation in any of the core MNS regions, they did show increased activation and functional connectivity in mirror, motor, and visual neural systems. Consistent with previous research, these findings argue against a global deficit in the functioning of the MNS and against an overall deficit in imitation in ASD. However, they also provide evidence that, even when able to perform an imitation task, individuals with ASD demonstrate abnormalities in the neural approach to the task. Although these results demonstrate an intact ability for simple imitations in children and adolescents with ASD, the increased reliance on these neural systems for this task suggests that the ASD group may have experienced greater difficulty when performing these simple hand imitations. Given the simplistic nature of the current imitation task and the unrealistic environment presented during neuroimaging, future studies may provide additional information regarding the degree to which these abnormal processing patterns may affect more complex imitation tasks presented in real-world social environments.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the NIH T-32 Training grant (T32 NS061788-01), the Eunice Kennedy Shriver Pilot Study Award (5P30HD038985), and the UAB Department of Psychology faculty start-up funds. The authors would like to thank Lauren Libero, Thomas DeRamus, Soumya Sivaraman, Kacy Clayton, and Cline Martin for their help with different aspects of this study. The authors would like to thank all participants and families for helping us by taking part in this study.

References

- Aron, A. R., Robbins, T. W., & Poldrack, R. A. (2004). Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 8(4), 170-177.
- Astafiev, S. V., Stanley, C. M., Shulman, G. L., & Corbetta, M. (2004). Extrastriate body area in human occipital cortex responds to the performance of motor actions. *Nat Neurosci*, 7(5), 542-548.
- Avikainen, S., Kulomaki, T., & Hari, R. (1999). Normal movement reading in Asperger subjects. *Neuroreport*, 10(17), 3467-3470.
- Avikainen, S., Wohlschlager, A., Liuhanen, S., Hanninen, R., & Hari, R. (2003). Impaired mirror-image imitation in Asperger and high-functioning autistic subjects. *Curr Biol*, 13(4), 339-341.
- Bailenson, J. N., & Yee, N. (2005). Digital chameleons: automatic assimilation of nonverbal gestures in immersive virtual environments. *Psychol Sci*, 16(10), 814-819.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Oxford, England: Prentice-Hall.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger Syndrome or high-functioning Autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 42(2), 241-51.
- Bennetto, L. (1999). A componential approach to imitation and movement deficits in autism. *Dissertation Abstracts International, 60 (2-B)*, 0819.
- Bernier, R., & Dawson, G. (2009). The role of mirror neuron dysfunction in autism. In *Mirror Neuron Systems* (pp. 261-286). Humana Press.
- Berument, S. K., Rutter, M., Lord, C., Pickles, A., & Bailey, A. (1999). Autism screening questionnaire: diagnostic validity. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 175(5), 444-451.
- Bird, G., Leighton, J., Press, C., & Heyes, C. (2007). Intact automatic imitation of human and robot actions in autism spectrum disorders. *Proc Biol Sci*, 274(1628), 3027-3031.
- Bogousslavsky, J., Miklossy, J., Deruaz, J. P., Assal, G., & Regli, F. (1987). Lingual and Fusiform Gyri in Visual Processing — a Clinicopathological Study of Superior Altitudinal Hemianopia. *Journal of Neurology Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 50(5), 607-614.

- Buxbaum, L. J., Giovannetti, T., & Libon, D. (2000). The role of the dynamic body schema in praxis: evidence from primary progressive apraxia. *Brain Cogn*, 44(2), 166-191.
- Carpenter, M., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (2001). Understanding of others' intentions in children with autism. *J Autism Dev Disord*, *31*(6), 589-599.
- Caspers, S., Zilles, K., Laird, A. R., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2010). ALE meta-analysis of action observation and imitation in the human brain. *Neuroimage*, 50(3), 1148-1167.
- Cauda, F., Geda, E., Sacco, K., D'Agata, F., Duca, S., Geminiani, G., & Keller, R. (2011). Grey matter abnormality in autism spectrum disorder: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 82(12), 1304-1313.
- Charman, T., & Baron-Cohen, S. (1994). Another look at imitation in autism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 6(3), 403–413.
- Charman, T., Taylor, E., Drew, A., Cockerill, H., Brown, J. A., & Baird, G. (2005). Outcome at 7 years of children diagnosed with autism at age 2: predictive validity of assessments conducted at 2 and 3 years of age and pattern of symptom change over time. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 46(5), 500-513.
- Chartrand, T. L., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: The perception-behavior link and social interaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76, 893–910.
- Cho, S., Metcalfe, A. W. S., Young, C. B., Ryali, S., Geary, D. C., & Menon, V. (2012). Hippocampal-Prefrontal Engagement and Dynamic Causal Interactions in the Maturation of Children's Fact Retrieval. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 24(9), 1849-1866.
- Cook, J., & Bird, G. (2011). Social attitudes differentially modulate imitation in adolescents and adults. *Exp Brain Res*, 211(3-4), 601-612.
- Courchesne, E., Redcay, E., Morgan, J. T., & Kennedy, D. P. (2005). Autism at the beginning: microstructural and growth abnormalities underlying the cognitive and behavioral phenotype of autism. *Dev Psychopathol*, *17*(3), 577-597.
- Dapretto, M., Davies, M.S., Pfeifer, J.H., Scott, A.A., Sigman, M., Bookheimer, S.Y., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Understanding emotions in others: mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nature Neuroscienc.*, 9, 28-30.

- Dawson, G., Webb, S., Schellenberg, G. D., Dager, S., Friedman, S., Aylward, E., & Richards, T. (2002). Defining the broader phenotype of autism: Genetic, brain, and behavioral perspectives. *Dev Psychopathol*, 14(3), 581-611.
- Decety, J. (2006). A Cognitive Neuroscience View of Imitation. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development* (pp. 251-274). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Decety, J., Grezes, J., Costes, N., Perani, D., Jeannerod, M., Procyk, E., Grassi, F., Fazio, F. (1997). Brain activity during observation of actions — Influence of action content and subject's strategy. *Brain*, 120, 1763-1777.
- Denckla, M. B. (1985). Revised Neurological Examination for Subtle Signs (1985). *Psychopharmacol Bull, 21*(4), 773-800.
- Dickstein, D. P., Pescosolido, M. F., Reidy, B. L., Galvan, T., Kim, K. L., Seymour, K. E., Laird, A. R., Di Martino, A., Barrett, R. P. (2013). Developmental metaanalysis of the functional neural correlates of autism spectrum disorders. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 52(3), 279-289 e216.
- Dinstein, I., Thomas, C., Humphreys, K., Minshew, N., Behrmann, M., & Heeger, D. J. (2010). Normal movement selectivity in autism. *Neuron*, *66*(3), 461-469.
- Downing, P. E., Jiang, Y., Shuman, M., & Kanwisher, N. (2001). A cortical area selective for visual processing of the human body. *Science*, 293(5539), 2470-2473.
- Enticott, P. G., Kennedy, H. A., Rinehart, N. J., Tonge, B. J., Bradshaw, J. L., Taffe, J. R., Daskalakis, Z. J., Fitzgerald, P. B. (2012). Mirror neuron activity associated with social impairments but not age in autism spectrum disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 71(5), 427-433.
- Epstein, R., & Kanwisher, N. (1998). A cortical representation of the local visual environment. *Nature*, *392*(6676), 598-601.
- Fan, J., McCandliss, B. D., Sommer, T., Raz, A., & Posner, M. I. (2002). Testing the efficiency and independence of attentional networks. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 14(3), 340-347.
- Fan, Y. T., Decety, J., Yang, C. Y., Liu, J. L., & Cheng, Y. W. (2010). Unbroken mirror neurons in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(9), 981-988.
- Farah, M. J., Illes, J., Cook-Deegan, R., Gardner, H., Kandel, E., King, P., Parens, E., Sahakian, B., Wolpe, P. R. (2004). Neurocognitive enhancement: what can we do and what should we do? *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 5(5), 421-425.

- Fournier, K. A., Hass, C. J., Naik, S. K., Lodha, N., & Cauraugh, J. H. (2010). Motor coordination in autism spectrum disorders: a synthesis and meta-analysis. J Autism Dev Disord, 40(10), 1227-1240.
- Ganis, G., Thompson, W. L., & Kosslyn, S. M. (2004). Brain areas underlying visual mental imagery and visual perception: an fMRI study. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, 20(2), 226-241.
- Gomot, M., & Wicker, B. (2012). A challenging, unpredictable world for people with autism spectrum disorder. *Int J Psychophysiol*, *83*(2), 240-247.
- Gowen, E. (2012). Imitation in autism: why action kinematics matter. *Front Integr Neurosci, 6*, 117.
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R.M., Snyder, J., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2007). Abnormal activation in the social brain during face perception in autism. *Human Brain Mapping*, 28, 441-449.
- Hagura, N., Oouchida, Y., Aramaki, Y., Okada, T., Matsumura, M., Sadato, N., & Naito, E. (2009). Visuokinesthetic Perception of Hand Movement is Mediated by Cerebro-Cerebellar Interaction between the Left Cerebellum and Right Parietal Cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, 19(1), 176-186.
- Hamilton, A. F. (2013). Reflecting on the mirror neuron system in autism: a systematic review of current theories. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 3, 91–105.
- Hamilton, A. F. D., Brindley, R. M., & Frith, U. (2007). Imitation and action understanding in autistic spectrum disorders: How valid is the hypothesis of a deficit in the mirror neuron system? *Neuropsychologia*, 45(8), 1859-1868.
- Hamilton, A.F. (2008). Emulation and mimicry for social interaction: a theoretical approach to imitation in autism. *Q. J. Exp. Psychol.* 61(1), 101–115.
- Hampshire, A., Chamberlain, S. R., Monti, M. M., Duncan, J., & Owen, A. M. (2010). The role of the right inferior frontal gyrus: inhibition and attentional control. *Neuroimage*, 50(3), 1313-1319.
- Heimann, M. & Ullstadius, E. (1999). Neonatal imitation and imitation among children with autism and Down's syndrome. In Nadel, J. & Buttersworth, G. (Eds.), *Imitation in infancy* (235-253). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Heimann, M., Strid, K., Smith, L., Tjus, T., Ulvund, S. E., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2006). Exploring the relation between memory, gestural communication, and the emergence of language in infancy: A longitudinal study. *Infant and Child Development*, 15(3), 233–249.

- Heiser, M., Iacoboni, M., Maeda, F., Marcus, J., & Mazziotta, J.C. (2003). The essential role of Broca's area in imitation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 1123-1128.
- Hepburn, S.L. & Stone, W.L. (2006). Brief Report: Using the Behavioral Style Questionnaire to assess temperament in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *36*(5), 637-642.
- Hill, E. L. (2004). Executive dysfunction in autism. Trends Cogn Sci, 8(1), 26-32.
- Hobson, R. P., & Lee, A. (1999). Imitation and identification in autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 40(4), 649-659.
- Holdstock, J. S., Mayes, A. R., Gong, Q. Y., Roberts, N., & Kapur, N. (2005). Item recognition is less impaired than recall and associative recognition in a patient with selective hippocampal damage. *Hippocampus*, *15*(2), 203-215.
- Hughes, M. E., Johnston, P. J., Fulham, W. R., Budd, T. W., & Michie, P. T. (2013). Stop-signal task difficulty and the right inferior frontal gyrus. *Behavioural brain research*, 256, 205-213.
- Hurley, S. L., & Chater, N. (2005). *Perspectives on imitation: From neuroscience to social science*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Iacoboni, M. & Dapretto, M. (2006). The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 7 (12), 942–951.
- Iacoboni, M. (2005). Neural mechanisms of imitation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.*, 15(6), 632-7.
- Iacoboni, M., Koski, L.M., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Woods, R.P., Dubeau, M.C., Mazziotta, J.C., & Rizzolatti G. (2001). Reafferent copies of imitated actions in the right superior temporal cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U. S. A.*, 98(24), 13995-9.
- Iacoboni, M., Woods, R.P., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Mazziotta, J.C., & Rizzolatti, G. (1999). Cortical mechanisms of human imitation. *Science*, 286, 2526-2528.
- Imamizu, H., Miyauchi, S., Tamada, T., Sasaki, Y., Takino, R., Putz, B., Yoshioka, T., Kawato, M. (2000). Human cerebellar activity reflecting an acquired internal model of a new tool. *Nature*, 403(6766), 192-195.
- Ingersoll, B. (2008). The effect of context on imitation skills in children with autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 2(2), 332–340.

- Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., Cherkassky, V. L., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2009). Atypical frontal-posterior synchronization of Theory of Mind regions in autism during mental state attribution. *Soc Neurosci*, 4(2), 135-152.
- Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2007). Inhibitory control in high-functioning autism: decreased activation and underconnectivity in inhibition networks. *Biol Psychiatry*, 62(3), 198-206.
- Kana, R.K., Wadsworth, H.M., & Travers, B.G. (2011). A systems level analysis of the mirror neuron hypothesis and imitation impairments in autism spectrum disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 35(3), 894-902.
- Kenworthy, L., Case, L., Harms, M. B., Martin, A., & Wallace, G. L. (2010). Adaptive behavior ratings correlate with symptomatology and IQ among individuals with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 40(4), 416-423.
- Klin, A., Jones, W., Schultz, R., Volkmar, F., & Cohen, D. (2002). Visual fixation patterns during viewing of naturalistic social situations as predictors of social competence in individuals with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(9), 809-816.
- Koski, L., Iacoboni, M., Dubeau, M.C., Woods, R.P., & Mazziotta, J.C. (2003). Modulation of cortical activity during different imitative behaviors. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89, 460-471.
- Koski, L., Wohlschlager, A., Bekkering, H., Woods, R. P., Dubeau, M. C., Mazziotta, J. C., & Iacoboni, M. (2002). Modulation of motor and premotor activity during imitation of target-directed actions. *Cereb Cortex*, 12(8), 847-855.
- Lam, K.S. & Aman, M.G. (2007). The Repeitive Behavior Scale-Revised: independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord., 37(5), 855-66.
- Lestou, V., Pollick, F.E., & Kourtzi, Z. (2008). Neural substrates for action understanding at different description levels in the human brain. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 20(2), 324-41.
- Liakakis, G., Nickel, J., & Seitz, R. J. (2011). Diversity of the inferior frontal gyrus—a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Behav Brain Res*, 225(1), 341-347.
- Liu, X. G., Ingram, H. A., Palace, J. A., & Miall, R. C. (1999). Dissociation of 'on-line' and 'off-line' visuomotor control of the arm by focal lesions in the cerebellum and brainstem. *Neurosci Lett*, 264(1-3), 121-124.

- Lopez, B. R., Lincoln, A. J., Ozonoff, S., & Lai, Z. (2005). Examining the relationship between executive functions and restricted, repetitive symptoms of Autistic Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord, 35(4), 445-460.
- Maguire, E. A., Frith, C. D., Burgess, N., Donnett, J. G., & O'Keefe, J. (1998). Knowing where things are parahippocampal involvement in encoding object locations in virtual large-scale space. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 10(1), 61-76.
- Maldjian, J. A., Laurienti, P. J., Kraft, R. A., & Burdette, J. H. (2003). An automated method for neuroanatomic and cytoarchitectonic atlas-based interrogation of fMRI data sets. *Neuroimage*, 19(3), 1233-1239.
- Mangun, G. R., Buonocore, M. H., Girelli, M., & Jha, A. P. (1998). ERP and fMRI measures of visual spatial selective attention. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 6(5-6), 383-389.
- Marsh, L., Pearson, A., Ropar, D., & Hamilton, A. (2013). Children with autism do not overimitate. *Current Biology*, 23(7), R266-R268.
- Martin, A., & Chao, L. L. (2001). Semantic memory and the brain: structure and processes. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *11*(2), 194-201.
- Martineau, J., Andersson, F., Barthelemy, C., Cottier, J. P., & Destrieux, C. (2008). Atypical activation of the mirror neuron system during perception of hand motion in autism. *Brain Res*, 1320, 168-175.
- Masur, E. F. (2006). Vocal and action imitation by infants and toddlers during dyadic interactions: Evidence about development and speculation about function. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. G. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the social mind: Autism and typical development* (pp. 27–47). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- McDuffie, A., Turner, L., Stone, W., Yoder, P., Wolery, M., & Ulman, T. (2007). Developmental correlates of different types of motor imitation in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 37(3), 401-412.
- McEwen, F., Happe, F., Bolton, P., Rijsdijk, F., Ronald, A., Dworzynski, K., & Plomin, R. (2007). Origins of individual differences in imitation: links with language, pretend play, and socially insightful behavior in two-year-old twins. *Child Dev*, 78(2), 474-492.
- McIntosh, D. N., Reichmann-Decker, A., Winkielman, P., & Wilbarger, J. L. (2006). When the social mirror breaks: deficits in automatic, but not voluntary, mimicry of emotional facial expressions in autism. *Dev Sci*, 9(3), 295-302.
- Meltzoff, A. N. (1995). Understanding the Intentions of Others: Re-Enactment of Intended Acts by 18-Month-Old Children. *Dev Psychol*, 31(5), 838-850.

- Menon, V., Adleman, N. E., White, C. D., Glover, G. H., & Reiss, A. L. (2001). Errorrelated brain activation during a Go/NoGo response inhibition task. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 12(3), 131-143.
- Menon, V., Boyett-Anderson, J. M., Schatzberg, A. F., & Reiss, A. L. (2002). Relating semantic and episodic memory systems. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 13(2), 261-265.
- Menon, V., White, C. D., Eliez, S., Glover, G. H., & Reiss, A. L. (2000). Analysis of a distributed neural system involved in spatial information, novelty, and memory processing. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 11(2), 117-129.
- Mostofsky, S. H., Dubey, P., Jerath, V. K., Jansiewicz, E. M., Goldberg, M. C., & Denckla, M. B. (2006). Developmental dyspraxia is not limited to imitation in children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 12*(3), 314-326.
- Mostofsky, S. H., Powell, S. K., Simmonds, D. J., Goldberg, M. C., Caffo, B., & Pekar, J. J. (2009). Decreased connectivity and cerebellar activity in autism during motor task performance. *Brain*, 132(Pt 9), 2413-2425.
- Mottron, L., Dawson, M., Soulieres, I., Hubert, B., & Burack, J. (2006). Enhanced perceptual functioning in autism: an update, and eight principles of autistic perception. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *36(1)*, 27-43.
- Mozaz, M., Rothi, L. J., Anderson, J. M., Crucian, G. P., & Heilman, K. M. (2002). Postural knowledge of transitive pantomimes and intransitive gestures. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 8(7), 958-962.
- Myers, A., & Sowden, P. T. (2008). Your hand or mine? The extrastriate body area. *Neuroimage*, *42*(4), 1669-1677.
- Nachev, P., Kennard, C., & Husain, M. (2008). Functional role of the supplementary and pre-supplementary motor areas. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *9*(11), 856-869.
- Naeem, M., Prasad, G., Watson, D. R., & Kelso, J. A. S. (2012). Electrophysiological signatures of intentional social coordination in the 10-12 Hz range. *Neuroimage*, 59(2), 1795-1803.
- Newman-Norlund, R.D., Ondobaka, S., van Schie, H.T., van Elswijik, G., & Bekkering, H. (2010). Virtual lesions of the IFG abolish response facilitation for biological and non-biological cues. *Front Behav Neurosci.*, 4(5), 1-7.
- Noonan, S.K., Haist, F., & Muller, R.A. (2009). Aberrant functional connectivity in autism: Evidence from low-frequency BOLD signal fluctuations. Brain Research, 1262, 48-63.

- Oberman, L. M., & Ramachandran, V. S. (2007). The simulating social mind: the role of the mirror neuron system and simulation in the social and communicative deficits of autism spectrum disorders. *Psychol Bull*, *133*(2), 310-327.
- Oberman, L.M., Hubbard, E.M., McCleery, J.P., Altschuler, E.L., Ramachandran, V.S., & Pineda, J.A. (2005). EEG evidence for mirror neuron dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. *Cog. Brain Research.* 24, 190-198.
- Oberman, L.M., Ramachandran, V.S., & Pineda, J.A. (2008). Modulation of mu suppression in children with autism spectrum disorders in response to familiar or unfamiliar stimuli: The mirror neuron hypothesis. *Neuropsychologia*. 46(5), 1558-65.
- Parks, L. K., Hill, D. E., Thoma, R. J., Euler, M. J., Lewine, J. D., & Yeo, R. A. (2009). Neural correlates of communication skill and symptom severity in autism: A voxel-based morphometry study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 3(2), 444-454.
- Picazio, S., Ponzo, V., Caltagirone, C., & Koch, G. (2013). Early right inferior frontal gyrus and supplement motor area functional connectivity contribution to go/no go performance. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 124(10), 95.
- Press, C., Richardson, D., & Bird, G. (2010). Intact imitation of emotional facial actions in autism spectrum conditions. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(11), 3291-3297.
- Price, C. J., Moore, C. J., Humphreys, G. W., Frackowiak, R. S. J., & Friston, K. J. (1996). The neural regions sustaining object recognition and naming. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences, 263(1376), 1501-1507.
- Ramachandran, V. S., & Oberman, L. M. (2006). Broken mirrors: a theory of autism. *Sci Am*, 295(5), 62-69.
- Raymaekers, R., Wiersema, J. R., & Roeyers, H. (2009). EEG study of the mirror neuron system in children with high functioning autism. *Brain Res, 1304*, 113-121.
- Rizzolatti, G. & Matelli, M. (2003). Two different streams form the dorsal visual system: anatomy and functions. *Experimental Brain Research*, 153(2), 146-57.
- Rizzolatti, G., Fogassi, L., & Gallese, V. (2001). Neurophysiological mechanisms underlying the understanding and imitation of action. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 2*(9), 661-670.
- Rogers, S. J. (1999). An examination of the imitation deficit in autism. In J. Nadel, & G. Butterworth (Eds.), *Imitation in Infancy* (pp. 254–279), Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Rogers, S. J., & Pennington, B. F. (1991). A theoretical approach to the deficits in infantile autism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 107, 147–161.
- Rogers, S. J., Bennetto, L., McEvoy, R., & Pennington, B. F. (1996). Imitation and pantomime in high-functioning adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Child Dev*, 67(5), 2060-2073.
- Rogers, S. J., Hepburn, S. L., Stackhouse, T., & Wehner, E. (2003). Imitation performance in toddlers with autism and those with other developmental disorders. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 44(5), 763-781.
- Rose, S. A., Feldman, J. F., & Jankowski, J. J. (2009). A cognitive approach to the development of early language. *Child Dev*, 80(1), 134-150.
- Rubia, K., Smith, A. B., Brammer, M. J., & Taylor, E. (2003). Right inferior prefrontal cortex mediates response inhibition while mesial prefrontal cortex is responsible for error detection. *Neuroimage*, 20(1), 351-358.
- Rumiati, R. I., & Tessari, A. (2002). Imitation of novel and well-known actions: the role of short-term memory. *Exp Brain Res*, 142(3), 425-433.
- Rumiati, R. I., Weiss, P. H., Tessari, A., Assmus, A., Zilles, K., Herzog, H., & Fink, G. R. (2005). Common and differential neural mechanisms supporting imitation of meaningful and meaningless actions. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 17(9), 1420-1431.
- Sahyoun, C. P., Belliveau, J. W., Soulieres, I., Schwartz, S., & Mody, M. (2010). Neuroimaging of the functional and structural networks underlying visuospatial vs. linguistic reasoning in high-functioning autism. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(1), 86-95.
- Samson, F., Mottron, L., Soulieres, I., & Zeffiro, T. A. (2012). Enhanced visual functioning in autism: an ALE meta-analysis. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 33(7), 1553-1581.
- Shih, P., Shen, M., Ottl, B., Keehn, B., Gaffrey, M. S., & Muller, R. A. (2010). Atypical network connectivity for imitation in autism spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(10), 2931-2939.
- Sommer, T., Rose, M., Weiller, C., & Buchel, C. (2005). Contributions of occipital, parietal and parahippocampal cortex to encoding of object-location associations. *Neuropsychologia*, 43(5), 732-743.
- Soulières, I., Zeffiro, T.A., Girard, M.L., & Mottron, L. (2011). Enhanced mental image mapping in autism. *Neuropsychologia*, 49, 848-57.

- Southgate, V., & Hamilton, A. F. (2008). Unbroken mirrors: challenging a theory of Autism. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 12(6), 225-229.
- Spengler, S., Bird, G., & Brass, M. (2010). Hyperimitation of actions is related to reduced understanding of others' minds in autism spectrum conditions. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(12), 1148-1155.
- Spunt, R. P., Satpute, A. B., & Lieberman, M. D. (2011). Identifying the what, why, and how of an observed action: an fMRI study of mentalizing and mechanizing during action observation. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 23(1), 63-74.
- Stone, W. L., Ousley, O. Y., & Littleford, C. D. (1997). Motor imitation in young children with autism: what's the object? J Abnorm Child Psychol, 25(6), 475-485.
- Strid, K., Tjus, T., Smith, L., Meltzoff, A. N., & Heimann, M. (2006). Infant recall memory and communication predicts later cognitive development. *Infant Behav Dev*, 29(4), 545-553.
- Supekar, K., Uddin, L. Q., Khouzam, A., Phillips, J., Gaillard, W. D., Kenworthy, L. E., & Menon, V. (2013). Brain hyperconnectivity in children with autism and its links to social deficits. *Cell reports*, 5(3), 738-747.
- Theoret, H., Halligan, E., Kobayashi, M., Fregni, F., Tager-Flusberg, H., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2005). Impaired motor facilitation during action observation in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Curr Biol*, 15(3), 84-85.
- Tomasello, M., Kruger, A. C., & Ratner, H. H. (1993). Cultural Learning. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *16*(3), 495-511.
- Trevarthen, C., & Aitken, K. J. (2001). Infant intersubjectivity: Research, theory, and clinical applications. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 42(1), 3-48.
- Turan, F., & Okcun Akcamus, M. C. (2013). [An investigation of the imitation skills in children with autism spectrum disorder and their association with receptive-expressive language development]. *Turk Psikiyatri Derg, 24*(2), 111-116.
- Tzourio-Mazoyer, N., Landeau, B., Papathanassiou, D., Crivello, F., Etard, O., Delcroix, N., Mazoyer, B., Joliot, M. (2002). Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI singlesubject brain. *Neuroimage*, 15(1), 273-289.
- Uddin, L. Q., Kelly, A. M., Biswal, B. B., Castellanos, F. X., & Milham, M. P. (2009). Functional connectivity of default mode network components: correlation, anticorrelation, and causality. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 30(2), 625-637.

- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K., & Menon, V. (2013). Reconceptualizing functional brain connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 7, 458.
- Van Baaren, R. B., Holland, R. W., Kawakami, K., & van Knippenberg, A. (2004). Mimicry and prosocial behavior. *Psychol Sci*, 15(1), 71-74.
- Villalobos, M. E., Mizuno, A., Dahl, B. C., Kemmotsu, N., & Muller, R. A. (2005). Reduced functional connectivity between V1 and inferior frontal cortex associated with visuomotor performance in autism. *Neuroimage*, 25(3), 916-925.
- Visser, M., Jefferies, E., Embleton, K. V., & Ralph, M. A. L. (2012). Both the Middle Temporal Gyrus and the Ventral Anterior Temporal Area Are Crucial for Multimodal Semantic Processing: Distortion-corrected fMRI Evidence for a Double Gradient of Information Convergence in the Temporal Lobes. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 24(8), 1766-1778.
- Vocks, S., Busch, M., Gronemeyer, D., Schulte, D., Herpertz, S., & Suchan, B. (2010). Differential neuronal responses to the self and others in the extrastriate body area and the fusiform body area. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci, 10*(3), 422-429.
- Wang, A. T., Lee, S. S., Sigman, M., & Dapretto, M. (2006). Neural basis of irony comprehension in children with autism: the role of prosody and context. *Brain*, *129*(4), 932-943.
- Want, S. C., & Harris, P. L. (2002). How do children ape? Applying concepts from the study of non-human primates to the developmental study of 'imitation' in children. *Dev Sci*, *5*(1), 1-13.
- Ward, B. D. (2000). Simultaneous inference for fMRI data. *AFNI 3dDeconvolve Documentation, Medical College of Wisconsin.*
- Wei, T., Liang, X., He, Y., Zang, Y., Han, Z., Caramazza, A., & Bi, Y. (2012). Predicting conceptual processing capacity from spontaneous neuronal activity of the left middle temporal gyrus. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(2), 481-489.
- Whiten, A., Horner, V., Litchfield, C. A., & Marshall-Pescini, S. (2004). How do apes ape? *Learn Behav*, 32(1), 36-52.
- Wild, K. S., Poliakoff, E., Jerrison, A., & Gowen, E. (2011). Goal-directed and goal-less imitation in autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(8): 1739–1749.
- Williams, J. H., & Waiter, G.D. (2006). Neuroimaging Self-Other Mapping in Autism. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development* (pp. 352-373). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., Gilchrist, A., Perrett, D. I., Murray, A. D., & Whiten, A. (2006). Neural mechanisms of imitation and 'mirror neuron' functioning in autistic spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(4), 610-621.
- Williams, J. H., Whiten, A., & Singh, T. (2004). A systematic review of action imitation in autistic spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism Dev Disord*, *34*(3), 285-299.
- Williams, J.H. (2008). Self-other relations in social development and autism: multiple roles for mirror neurons and other brain bases. *Autism Res.* 1(2), 73-90.
- Williams, J.H., Whiten, A., Suddendorf, T., & Perrett, D.I. (2001). Imitation, mirror neurons and autism. *Neuroscience and Biobehavior Rev.* 25, 287-295.
- Yonelinas, A. P., Kroll, N. E. A., Quamme, J. R., Lazzara, M. M., Sauve, M. J., Widaman, K. F., & Knight, R. T. (2002). Effects of extensive temporal lobe damage or mild hypoxia on recollection and familiarity. *Nat Neurosci*, 5(11), 1236-1241.
- Young, G. S., Rogers, S. J., Hutman, T., Rozga, A., Sigman, M., & Ozonoff, S. (2011). Imitation from 12 to 24 months in autism and typical development: A longitudinal Rasch analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(6), 1565–1578.
- Zimmermann, M., Meulenbroek, R. G. J., & de Lange, F. P. (2012). Motor Planning Is Facilitated by Adopting an Action's Goal Posture: An fMRI Study. *Cerebral Cortex, 22*(1), 122-131.

group.		

IMITATION							
	ASD			TD			
Measure	n = 15	Range	S.D	n = 13	Range	S.D.	p-value
Age	13	8-17	2.79	12	9-15	1.76	0.17
EQ	24	9-42	7.64	42	23-54	10.25	< 0.01
SQ	26	15-50	8.47	29	14-40	7.99	0.42
FSIQ	109	80-126	16.96	103	83-130	15.57	0.33
VIQ	108	75-128	16.88	101	84-134	18.77	0.4
PIQ	108	75-124	15.23	98	84-119	9.13	0.09
SCQ	17	1-31	8.29	3	0-10	3.66	< 0.01
VMI	92	66-117	12.4	98	86-110	6.18	0.11
VMI Motor	89	51-110	13.65	92	75-107	11.77	0.6
PANESS	57	39-78	12.04	47	36-71	9.41	0.03
AQ	78	32-135	28.67	32	5-67	23.18	< 0.01
RME	19	11-24	3.27	21	17-25	2.36	0.06
Imitation	127	108-130	5.94	129	127-130	1.22	0.21

 Table 1. Table displaying scores on neuropsychological measures by group.

Table 2. Table displaying areas of activation for each group when imitation conditions are contrasted with a fixation baseline.

Region	X	У	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Postcentral/Precentral	-34	-24	50	L	3	3282	14.46
Middle/Superior Occipital	32	-64	38	R	19	1894	11.90
Supplementary Motor Area	6	18	50	R	8	1151	10.59
Cerebellum/Fusiform/ITG	30	-54	-22	R	NA	1531	8.60
Inferior Frontal	52	8	28	R	44	747	7.18
Inferior/Middle Occipital	-50	-76	-10	L	19	628	6.81
Lingual/Calcarine	2	-84	-12	R	18	758	6.44
Superior Temporal	-58	14	-8	L	38	206	6.39

Imitation vs. Fixation (TD)

Imitation vs. Fixation (ASD)

Region	X	У	Z	Hem	BA	Cluster	t
Middle Occipital	-44	-86	-2	L	18	20390	12.84
Precentral/Inferior Frontal	-52	4	28	L	9	1850	8.04
Supplementary Motor Area	-4	0	50	L	24	2298	6.74
Precentral/IFG/Insula	52	6	30	R	9	1803	5.98
Thalamus	-12	-24	-10	L	NA	683	5.79
Inferior/Middle Frontal	56	38	8	R	45	301	5.49

Figure Captions

Figure 1. Figure showing example imitation stimuli. Participants were provided with a high-quality photograph of a hand. They were asked to imitate the hand gesture observed in the image.

Figure 2. The within-group and between-group activation patterns for imitation stimuli (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown. For this contrast, analyses were run on p<0.01 uncorrected with a voxel threshold of 136 continuous $2mm^3$ voxels (as determined by Monte Carlo simulations).

Figure 3. Graph displaying areas of increased PSC values for the ASD group. The ASD group showed significantly greater PSC in the Left EBA, Right Cerebellum, RIFG, and Right SMA. The TD group did not show any areas of significantly greater PSC.

Figure 4. Graph displaying areas of significantly greater functional connectivity for the ASD group. Results of a network analysis indicated significantly greater functional connectivity between the visual system and both the insula and STS for the ASD group. There were no areas of significantly greater functional connectivity for the TD group.

Figure 5. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the positive correlation between MNS:Visual Cortex connectivity and PIQ scores. They also display the positive correlation between MNS: Motor Cortex connectivity and PANESS scores.

Figure 1. Figure showing example imitation stimuli. Participants were provided with a high-quality photograph of a hand. They were asked to imitate the hand gesture observed in the image.



Figure 2. The within-group and between-group activation patterns for imitation stimuli (contrasted with a fixation baseline) are shown. For this contrast, analyses were run on p<0.01 uncorrected with a voxel threshold of 136 continuous $2mm^3$ voxels (as determined by Monte Carlo simulations).



Figure 3. Graph displaying areas of increased PSC values for the ASD group. The ASD group showed significantly greater PSC in the Left EBA, Right Cerebellum, RIFG, and Right SMA. The TD group did not show any areas of significantly greater PSC.



Figure 4. Graph displaying areas of significantly greater functional connectivity for the ASD group. Results of a network analysis indicated significantly greater functional connectivity between the visual system and both the insula and STS for the ASD group. There were no areas of significantly greater functional connectivity for the TD group.



Figure 5. Scatterplots displaying significant correlations between network-based functional connectivity and scores on neuropsychological measures. These plots display the positive correlation between MNS:Visual Cortex connectivity and PIQ scores. They also display the positive correlation between MNS: Motor Cortex connectivity and PANESS scores.



SUMMARY

The current project involved the use of three studies (each targeting components of imitation) to evaluate imitation in children and adolescents with ASD. The studies analyzed behavioral performance on tasks, the integrity of the MNS, and brain-behavior relationships related to each component. Below is the summary of each specific aim and the related findings.

Specific Aim # 1: Investigating Behavioral Performance in ASD

This project evaluated behavioral performance of high-functioning children and adolescents with ASD and TD controls on tasks comprising the various components of imitation. Consistent with study hypotheses, individuals with ASD performed significantly better on the task involving mental rotation of hands. However, further analyses revealed this to be an effect of cognitive level (i.e., PIQ) rather than an effect of group (ASD or TD). This finding, however, is likely still meaningful given that visuospatial ability is an important component of tasks measuring PIQ. Therefore, the ASD group's higher PIQ scores may be reflective of this group's advantage in spatial tasks such as mental rotation. Although it was predicted that the ASD group would be less accurate for tasks involving mental imitation, no group differences in accuracy were found for this study. Consistent with hypotheses, participants with ASD did demonstrate longer reaction times for both conditions (transitive and intransitive actions) compared with TD controls. This finding indicates that, while both groups were able to perform the task, the ASD group may have experienced greater difficulty. More research is required to determine the extent to which this longer reaction time may influence the use of skills in real-world social environments. Also consistent with study hypotheses, participants with ASD demonstrated an intact ability to perform the simple hand imitations when explicitly instructed to do so. Analysis of the data revealed a ceiling effect for accuracy for both groups, demonstrating the simplistic nature of this task for the particular subjects included in the current study.

Specific Aim # 2: Investigating Integrity of MNS in ASD

This project also examined the functional integrity of different cognitive (visuospatial, attention, motor simulation) and brain (MNS) systems in mediating imitation ability and its dysfunction in children and adolescents with autism. It was predicted that individuals with ASD would show decreased activation in the frontal component of the MNS (IFG) as well as reduced functional connectivity between the posterior (IPL) and anterior (IFG) components of the system. Results instead revealed intact to increased activation and functional connectivity throughout the MNS in ASD. Group differences in activation and functional connectivity were found, however, both within the MNS and other neural regions. Together these studies revealed a number of interesting emerging themes regarding the underlying neural processes of imitation in ASD.
Intact to Increased Activation of the MNS

Contrary to original study hypotheses, results of these studies indicated that individuals with ASD demonstrated aberrant, but not reduced, activation in the core MNS regions. This group difference in MNS activation centered mostly on increased activation of the IFG for the ASD group. Specifically, the ASD group displayed increased activation in the LIFG for the mental imitation task and increased psc in the RIFG for the motor imitation task.

Although not consistent with original study hypotheses, this result is in line with previous findings of increased frontal activation in ASD during tasks involving visual pursuit (Takarae et al., 2007), motor inhibition (Schmitz et al., 2006), observation of human motion (Martineau et al., 2010), and theory-of-mind (Brambilla et al., 2004). Additional LIFG activation has also been found in unaffected siblings of children with ASD while performing an executive functioning task (Spencer et al., 2012). While potentially resulting from increased task complexity (Martineau et al., 2010), previous research has indicated that this additional activation in frontal regions in ASD may also function as a compensatory mechanism. For example, a study performed by Baron-Cohen and colleagues (2006) found that parents of individuals with ASD showed increased activation in the frontal cortex during the Reading the Mind in the Eyes task. They hypothesized that greater activation of the frontal cortex may act as a compensatory strategy for managing underlying perceptual differences. Although no correlations with social functioning were found in the current study, an increase in IFG activation in ASD has been previously found to be associated with better social functioning (Bastiaansen, 2011).

The current findings of intact MNS activation and intact ability for tasks are also compatible with previous findings indicating that individuals with ASD can override these automatic top-down processes and activate their MNS by intentionally deeming some actions as important, such as when tasks are presented in an explicit manner (McIntosh et al., 2006; Shields, 2012). When stimuli are not automatically deemed as relevant, aberrant top-down control processing may lead to atypical recruitment or the lack of recruitment of the MNS (Cook & Bird, 2012; Oberman et al., 2008).

Intact to Increased Functional Connectivity in ASD

In addition to examining activation of the MNS in ASD, these studies also assessed the integrated functioning of the system and the functioning of the system with related neural regions. While there were also no findings of decreased functional connectivity in ASD, participants with autism demonstrated increased connectivity of the insula with IFG, motor, parietal, and visual cortex regions. Aberrant functional connectivity patterns also included increased connectivity between occipital and temporal regions during imitation tasks. While several previous studies have implicated underconnectivity in autism (e.g., Just et al., 2004; Courchesne & Pierce, 2005; Villalobos et al., 2005; Cherkassky et al., 2006; Kana et al., 2006), many of these studies were conducted with adults with ASD. Recent research examining children with ASD has instead suggested patterns of aberrant connectivity, with many neural regions displaying increased functional and anatomical connectivity (e.g., Billeci et al., 2012; Di Martino et al., 2011; Uddin, Supekar, & Menon, 2013; Uddin et al., 2013; Supekar et al., 2013). This has led to the suggestion of "hyper connected" brains in children with ASD that become less connected over time (Uddin, Supekar, & Menon, 2013). It is believed that this increased connectivity may create an excess of neural "noise". It is possible that this increased activation or connectivity in the MNS for ASD may be related to the observed deficits in imitation and other social skills during real-world social interactions.

Increased Reliance on Other Neural Networks in ASD

However, aberrant activation and connectivity patterns in the ASD group were not confined to the MNS. Overall, results from these three studies show that the ASD group demonstrated an increased reliance on a wider neural network, which may represent a compensatory neural approach to the tasks. Abnormal activation and connectivity may also contribute to abnormal modulation of the MNS. While participants were still able to perform the tasks involved in the current set of studies, aberrant responses of neural systems interacting with the MNS may result in abnormal imitation in situations outside of the study environment. Specifically, these abnormal interactions may lead to decreased social motivation and, thus, decreased occurrences of spontaneous imitation (Ingersoll, 2008; Oberman et al., 2008; Wang, Ramsey, & Hamilton, 2011).

One particular region consistently showing increased connectivity and activation in ASD during all tasks included in the current studies was the insula. As a component of the salience network (SN), the insula is involved in attention focusing based on proper identification of relevant stimuli (Menon & Uddin, 2010). Hyperconnectivity of the SN is a fairly consistent finding in ASD research (Uddin et al., 2013; Supekar et al., 2013; Toyomaki & Murohashi, 2013). The insula is connected to the frontal component of the MNS (the IFG) and is thought to modulate the system by assisting in the determination of relevant stimuli (Craig, 2010). Therefore, abnormal connectivity with or activation of the insula in ASD may influence functioning of the MNS. Increased activation of the insula in ASD has been hypothesized to result in subsequent difficulty identifying relevant stimuli (Di Martino et al., 2011; Uddin et al., 2013). Given the insula's role in switching between default mode network and active processing (Menon & Uddin, 2010; Goulden et al., 2014), additional activation in this region may also indicate that this is not as fluid or automatic in ASD.

Another component of aberrant neural activation in ASD is the activation of memory-related processing regions in ASD for both meaningful and meaningless gestures, as well as both transitive and intransitive gestures. Research suggests that memory related mechanisms are typically implicated in imitation of transitive or meaningful gestures (Mozaz, 2002). Consistent with current results, however, previous findings suggest that individuals with ASD lack this flexible approach to imitation and indicate that they tend to use a similar strategy for both forms of imitation (Wild et al., 2012). While studies propose that the use of a common approach for both forms of imitation in ASD is the result of increased difficulty with imitation of meaningless gestures (Williams et al., 2004; Gowen, 2012; Vivanti & Rogers, 2011), the exact nature of the deficit remains debated. Researchers have hypothesized that deficits in attending to and using kinematic information may contribute to difficulties with imitation of meaningless gestures. Gowen (2012) suggested that less attention to kinematic aspects (thru altered top-down control of attention) may result from a lack of motivation in ASD to attend to and imitate kinematic details of an action, which often contains socially relevant information. While the goal of an action may be motivating, socially based

information is often not naturally reinforcing for individuals with ASD (Dawson et al., 2004; Chevallier et al., 2012).

Group differences in activation and functional connectivity across studies also indicated increased reliance on visual processing regions in ASD. Consistent with the findings of aberrant activation in visual perception regions in the current study, previous research has suggested abnormal bottom-up sensory processing in ASD (Amso et al., 2014) with several studies demonstrating atypical sensory processing in autism (Marco et al., 2011; Wiggins et al., 2009; Coskun et al., 2009). Increased reliance on bottom-up visual processing strategies in ASD could negatively impact both social and cognitive development (Amso et al., 2014). Enhanced bottom-up processing may lead to weak central coherence (Noens & van Berckelaer-Onnes, 2008) and, thus, the need for increased activation of frontal regions to create a "balance" in processing. Appropriate modulation of the MNS probably relies on integration of the top-down and bottom-up processing components and it is likely this balance that is abnormal in ASD.

Specific Aim #3: Addressing Brain-Behavior Relationships

The third main aim for the current set of studies was to explore the relationship between behavioral characteristics of participants and neural functioning in response to tasks involving different aspects of imitation. Several interesting relationships emerged from these analyses. More specifically, correlations were found between neural activation/connectivity and autism symptomatology, attention, motor skills, visual-motor integration, and empathy.

Relationship between psc in the LSTS and Empathy/ Autism Symptoms

One interesting finding was a negative correlation between autism symptoms (as measured by the AQ) and psc in the LSTS during mental rotation. The LSTS has been found to be involved in the integration of visuospatial and social processing (Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; Pelphrey & Morris, 2006). Therefore, increased activation in this region may represent deficits in this integration and, thus, assist in explaining the dichotomy of a visuospatial advantage and social impairment in ASD. Empathy scores (as measured by the EQ) were instead found to be positively correlated with psc in the LSTS for the mental rotation task. This correlation both provides evidence of the potential role of this region in visuospatial processing and empathy (Decety & Lam, 2007; Iacoboni & Dapretto, 2006) and suggests that utilization of an egocentric approach to mental rotation of body parts is related to empathy (Thakkar & Park, 2010; Gronholm et al., 2012). Together these findings suggest that autism symptoms and empathy are related even to the neural approach to mental rotation.

Influence of Attention and Motor Functioning on Neural Approach

Results of the current studies also demonstrate a possible influence of attention on the neural approach to imitation in ASD. Positive correlations between activation in frontal regions and ANT reaction times in ASD suggest that greater difficulty switching attention is related to increased activation in these regions. If increased frontal activation is necessary to maintain attentional control (despite the regulated nature of the imaging environment), then it is likely that the attention control necessary during real-world social situations may result in increased difficulty. Results of the current set of studies also support a potential role of motor deficits in the neural activation and connectivity patterns observed. Despite being able to perform the simple imitation tasks, individuals with ASD consistently displayed greater motor difficulties as assessed by the PANESS when compared with TD controls Scores on the PANESS were related to a range of behavioral and neuroimaging data across the studies. For example, during the visuospatial rotation task, PANESS scores were positively correlated with psc in the RIPL and with functional connectivity between the MNS and motor systems. During motor imitation, PANESS scores were positively correlated with psc in the left EBA. There also continued to be a positive correlation with functional connectivity between the MNS and motor systems during motor imitation tasks.

There was also a significant correlation between visual-motor integration (as measured by the VMI) and neural activation patterns. More specifically, individuals with lower VMI scores showed significantly greater LIFG and Left Precentral Gyrus psc during the mental imitation task. Together with the findings of motor skill correlations, this suggests that increased task difficulty may be leading to increased recruitment of neural regions. While this did not lead to group differences in ability for any of the current tasks, it may have greater impact in more complex, real-world social environments. However, given the complexity of imitation and the results from the current study, it seems doubtful that motor or visual-motor deficits could independently account for the imitation deficits in ASD. It is instead likely that both motor deficits and lack of social responsivity (due to altered top-down/ attentional control) have an impact on imitation in young children with autism.

Limitations and Future Directions

Several limitations to the current set of studies may also have influenced the results obtained. One limitation affecting the majority of neuroimaging studies is the need for participants to meet certain cognitive requirements. The exclusion of participants who are lower functioning (below IQ requirements) leads to limitations in the degree to which results can be generalized to other populations. Given the higher-functioning nature of participants, all subjects were able to perform the imitation tasks. As such, it is difficult to determine if the neural activation patterns obtained result from the ASD symptomology or represent a compensatory mechanism resulting in their increased ability for the tasks. Further evaluation of neural mechanisms underlying these tasks in lower functioning populations would assist in teasing apart these issues. The current studies also included smaller sample sizes which may have affected power and, subsequently, the ability to find differences that may be present.

Characteristics of the neuroimaging tasks may also limit the degree to which findings can be interpreted. Excessive motion, for example, created the need to remove different participants from each study's data analysis. As such, the participants included in the analyses for the three studies were slightly different. Additionally, although the tasks were designed to separate out the component skills as closely as possible, the complete separation of cognitive skills required for each task was not possible. For example, tasks designed to be non-motor (e.g., visuospatial task, mental imitation task) still required motor performance to answer the question presented. Also, the scanning environment likely eliminates potential external factors that may be influencing results. This includes the removal of distractors, which may make attentional control more difficult in real-world environments. The explicit nature of the tasks also removes factors related to social motivation that may drive deficits in implicit imitation (McIntosh et al., 2006; Shields, 2012; Ingersoll, 2008). While allowing examination of deeper brain structures, poor temporal resolution of fMRI also creates difficulty determining the temporal sequence of activation patterns obtained.

Future directions should include analysis of anatomical (DTI) data. This data was obtained for all participants of these studies and analysis of this information may assist in determining the degree to which functional connectivity findings may map onto findings of anatomical connections. The fact that both activation and functional connectivity findings differed across tasks supports the proposal that previous results (e.g., results indicating decreased activation in the IFG in ASD) may result from task specific effects rather than underlying differences in anatomical structures or inability to use specific neural regions in ASD. These findings, thus, support the theory of abnormal modulation of the MNS in autism and provide evidence for the importance of further analyzing intrinsic connectivity patterns in ASD to determine the degree of functional connectivity between regions that is independent of task characteristics. Additionally, current results add support for intact and increased functional connectivity in ASD. However, previous studies have also consistently implicated decreased functional connectivity in the disorder (e.g., Just et al., 2004; Cherkasssky et al., 2006; Kana et al., 2006). Recent proposals have suggested that this inconsistency may be due to connectivity patterns in ASD shifting over time (Via et al., 2011; Amaral, 2011; Supekar et al., 2013). While research indicates a possible shift around puberty (Peper et al., 2011; Uddin et al., 2013), the overall developmental trajectory of this shift remains unclear.

Future studies utilizing a longitudinal design are necessary to obtain a clearer understanding of this developmental process. Future research should also continue to focus on the MNS in the context of the larger brain, with a focus on the potential modulatory and cyclical effects of the interaction of the system with other brain networks and regions required for successful imitation in a real-world environment.

Potential Importance of Findings/ Clinical Implications

Along with results from other recent studies, current findings suggest the need to stop focusing on a global under or over connectivity in ASD. Aberrant activation patterns are likely, due to abnormal interactions between neural networks which may result in different activation or connectivity patterns depending on characteristics of the experimental task. Given the current evidence of the importance of external vet related neural networks to appropriate activation of the MNS, focus of interventions should involve improving the functioning of these other networks as a means to improve imitation skills in autism. This should also include neurofeedback methods currently being evaluated as a method of normalizing mirror neuron function in ASD (e.g., Pineda, Friedrich, & LaMarca, 2014; Friedrich et al., 2014). One area of intervention that may be particularly important is the strengthening of executive functioning skills, including work to improve cognitive flexibility. Another important area of intervention appears to be assisting the appropriate functioning of low-level perceptual processes. While focus on details of a visual scene may result in improved visual search, this perceptual strategy will likely have a negative impact on imitation (Neuhaus, Beauchaine, & Bernier, 2010). Therefore, rather than only focusing on imitation, interventions may be more effective by

including a component aimed at improving perception of items from a gestalt perspective.

Results from the current set of studies also indicate the need to focus on appropriate function of the SN as a means to improve attentional control necessary. Recent research has suggested that, in addition to behavioral techniques targeting repetitive behavior, aberrant SN connections may respond well to medical interventions targeting proteins which are specifically increased in ASD (Tang et al., 2014). Thus, combination of a medical intervention approach combined with behavioral interventions aimed at increasing imitation skills may result in even greater improvement. Another way to potentially influence top-down control of the MNS is through instruction techniques aimed at teaching individuals with ASD to focus on learning the "style" of the action. More explicit teaching of imitation of the style of actions may result in subsequent increased amounts of attention to more socially relevant components of imitation.

Current results also suggest that individuals with ASD can perform at least simple imitation tasks when explicitly instructed to do so. Evidence of intact ability for imitation and intact ability for MNS activation in this setting supports the idea that imitation deficits in autism are likely heavily influenced by decreased intrinsic motivation for the social task. Therefore, interventions designed to target motivational aspects and the automatic use of this system in social settings will be particularly important. Interventions should thus continue to work to increase social motivation, potentially by pairing these tasks with external stimuli which are more rewarding. This finding may shed light on the "active ingredients" in therapies known to be effective, including the Early Start Denver Model (EDSM) approach and Pivotal Response Training (PRT), both of which focus on these aspects of imitation and, more broadly, social learning (Vivanti & Rogers, 2014).

GENERAL LIST OF REFERENCES

- Amaral, D. G. (2011). The promise and the pitfalls of autism research: an introductory note for new autism researchers. *Brain Res, 1380*, 3-9.
- Amso, D., Haas, S., Tenenbaum, E., Markant, J., & Sheinkopf, S. J. (2014). Bottom-up attention orienting in young children with autism. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 44(3), 664-673.
- Avikainen, S., Kulomaki, T., & Hari, R. (1999). Normal movement reading in Asperger subjects. *Neuroreport*, 10(17), 3467-3470.
- Bailenson, J. N., & Yee, N. (2005). Digital chameleons: automatic assimilation of nonverbal gestures in immersive virtual environments. *Psychol Sci, 16*(10), 814-819.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Richler, J., Bisarya, D., Gurunathan, N., & Wheelwright, S. (2003). The systemizing quotient: An investigation of adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism, and normal sex differences. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society of London: Series B-Biological Sciences, 358, 361–374.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Ring, H., Chitnis, X., Wheelwright, S., Gregory, L., Williams, S., Brammer, M., & Bullmore, E. (2006). fMRI of parents of children with Asperger Syndrome: a pilot study. *Brain Cogn*, 61(1), 122-130.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test revised version: A study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger Syndrome or high-functioning Autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 42(2), 241-51.
- Bastiaansen, J. A., Thioux, M., Nanetti, L., van der Gaag, C., Ketelaars, C., Minderaa, R., & Keysers, C. (2011). Age-related increase in inferior frontal gyrus activity and social functioning in autism spectrum disorder. *Biol Psychiatry*, 69(9), 832-838.
- Beall, P. M., Moody, E. J., McIntosh, D. N., Hepburn, S. L., & Reed, C. L. (2008). Rapid facial reactions to emotional facial expressions in typically developing children and children with autism spectrum disorder. *J Exp Child Psychol*, 101(3), 206-223.
- Bennetto, L. (1999). A componential approach to imitation and movement deficits in autism. *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60 (2-B), 0819.

- Bernier, R., & Dawson, G., (2009). The role of mirror neuron dysfunction in autism. In J. Pineda (Ed.), *Mirror neuron systems* (pp. 261-286). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press.
- Bernier, R., Dawson, G., Webb, S., & Murias, M. (2007). EEG mu rhythm and imitation impairments in individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Brain Cogn*, 64(3), 228-237.
- Billeci, L., Calderoni, S., Tosetti, M., Catani, M., & Muratori, F. (2012). White matter connectivity in children with autism spectrum disorders: a tract-based spatial statistics study. *BMC Neurol*, 12(148), 1-16.
- Bird, G., Leighton, J., Press, C., & Heyes, C. (2007). Intact automatic imitation of human and robot actions in autism spectrum disorders. *Proc Biol Sci*, 274(1628), 3027-3031.
- Bodfish, J.W., Symons, F.J., Parker, D.E., & Lewis, M.H. (2000). Varieties of repetitive behavior in autism: Comparison to mental retardation. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *30*, 237-243.
- Brambilla, P., Hardan, A. Y., di Nemi, S. U., Caverzasi, E., Soares, J. C., Perez, J., & Barale, F. (2004). The functional neuroanatomy of autism. *Funct Neurol*, *19*(1), 9-17.
- Brass, M., Ruby, P., & Spengler, S. (2009). Inhibition of imitative 181ehavior and social cognition. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 364(1528), 2359-2367.
- Brunye, T. T., Ditman, T., Giles, G. E., Mahoney, C. R., Kessler, K., & Taylor, H. A. (2012). Gender and autistic personality traits predict perspective-taking ability in typical adults. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52(1), 84-88.
- Buccino, G., Vogt, S., Ritzl, A., Fink, G. R., Zilles, K., Freund, H. J., & Rizzolatti, G. (2004). Neural circuits underlying imitation learning of hand actions: an eventrelated fMRI study. *Neuron*, 42(2), 323-334.
- Buxbaum, L. J., Giovannetti, T., & Libon, D. (2000). The role of the dynamic body schema in praxis: evidence from primary progressive apraxia. *Brain Cogn*, 44(2), 166-191.
- Carmo, J. C., Rumiati, R. I., Siugzdaite, R., & Brambilla, P. (2013). Preserved imitation of known gestures in children with high-functioning autism. *ISRN Neurol*, 2013(751516), 1-8.

- Carr, L., Iacoboni, M., Dubeau, M. C., Mazziotta, J. C., & Lenzi, G. L. (2003). Neural mechanisms of empathy in humans: a relay from neural systems for imitation to limbic areas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(9), 5497-5502.
- Charman, T., Taylor, E., Drew, A., Cockerill, H., Brown, J. A., & Baird, G. (2005). Outcome at 7 years of children diagnosed with autism at age 2: predictive validity of assessments conducted at 2 and 3 years of age and pattern of symptom change over time. J Child Psychol Psychiatry, 46(5), 500-513.
- Chartrand, T. L., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: the perception-behavior link and social interaction. *J Pers Soc Psychol*, *76*(6), 893-910.
- Chartrand, T. L., & van Baaren, R. (2009). Human Mimicry. In M. P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol 41* (pp.219-274). San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press Inc.
- Cherkassky, V. L., Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., & Just, M. A. (2006). Functional connectivity in a baseline resting-state network in autism. *Neuroreport*, *17*(16), 1687-1690.
- Chevallier, C., Kohls, G., Troiani, V., Brodkin, E. S., & Schultz, R. T. (2012). The social motivation theory of autism. *Trends Cogn Sci*, *16*(4), 231-239.
- Colombi C., Vivanti G., & Rogers S.J. (2011). Current research in the neuropsychology of imitation in autism. Invited submission to D. Fein (Ed.). The Neuropsychology of Autism. Oxford University Press.
- Colonnesi, C., Zijlstra, B. J., van der Zande, A., & Bogels, S. M. (2012). Coordination of gaze, facial expressions and vocalizations of early infant communication with mother and father. *Infant Behav Dev*, *35*(3), 523-532.
- Cook, J. L., & Bird, G. (2012). Atypical social modulation of imitation in autism spectrum conditions. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(6), 1045-1051.
- Coskun, M. A., Varghese, L., Reddoch, S., Castillo, E. M., Pearson, D. A., Loveland, K. A., Papanicolaou, A. C., & Sheth, B. R. (2009). How somatic cortical maps differ in autistic and typical brains. *Neuroreport*, 20(2), 175-179.
- Courchesne, E., & Pierce, K. (2005). Why the frontal cortex in autism might be talking only to itself: local over-connectivity but long-distance disconnection. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 15(2), 225-230.
- Craig, A. D. (2010). Once an island, now the focus of attention. *Brain Struct Funct,* 214(5-6), 395-396.

- Dapretto, M., Davies, M.S., Pfeifer, J.H., Scott, A.A., Sigman, M., Bookheimer, S.Y., & Iacoboni, M. (2006). Understanding emotions in others: mirror neuron dysfunction in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9, 28-30.
- Dapretto, M., Lee, S. S., & Caplan, R. (2005). A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of discourse coherence in typically developing children. *Neuroreport*, *16*(15), 1661-1665.
- Dawson, G., Toth, K., Abbott, R., Osterling, J., Munson, J., Estes, A., & Liaw, J. (2004). Early social attention impairments in autism: social orienting, joint attention, and attention to distress. *Dev Psychol*, 40(2), 271-283.
- Decety, J. (2006). A Cognitive Neuroscience View of Imitation. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development* (pp. 251-274). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Decety, J., & Lamm, C. (2007). The role of the right temporoparietal junction in social interaction: how low-level computational processes contribute to meta-cognition. *Neuroscientist*, *13*(6), 580-593.
- Di Martino, A., Kelly, C., Grzadzinski, R., Zuo, X. N., Mennes, M., Mairena, M. A., Lord, C., Castellanos, F. X., & Milham, M. P. (2011). Aberrant striatal functional connectivity in children with autism. *Biol Psychiatry*, 69(9), 847-856.
- Dinstein, I., Thomas, C., Behrmann, M., & Heeger, D. J. (2008). A mirror up to nature. *Curr Biol, 18*(1), R13-18.
- Dinstein, I., Thomas, C., Humphreys, K., Minshew, N., Behrmann, M., & Heeger, D. J. (2010). Normal movement selectivity in autism. *Neuron*, 66(3), 461-469.
- Eisenberg, N. (2000). Emotion, regulation, and moral development. *Annu Rev Psychol*, *51*, 665-97.
- Fan, J., McCandliss, B. D., Sommer, T., Raz, A., & Posner, M. I. (2002). Testing the efficiency and independence of attentional networks. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 14(3), 340-347.
- Feldman, R., Greenbaum, C. W., Yirmiya, N., & Mayes, L. C. (1996). Relations between cyclicity and regulation in mother-infant interaction at 3 and 9 months and cognition at 2 years. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 17(3), 347-365.
- Field, T., Goldstein, S., Vegalahr, N., & Porter, K. (1986). Changes in imitative behavior during early infancy. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 9(4), 415-421.

- Fontaine, R. (1984). Imitative skills between birth and 6 months. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 7(3), 323-333.
- Friedrich, E. V., Suttie, N., Sivanathan, A., Lim, T., Louchart, S., & Pineda, J. A. (2014). Brain-computer interface game applications for combined neurofeedback and biofeedback treatment for children on the autism spectrum. *Frontiers in Neuroengineering*, 7(21), 1-22.
- Gallese, V., Fadiga, L., Fogassi, L., & Rizzolatti, G. (1996). Action recognition in the premotor cortex. *Brain, 119*, 593-609.
- Goldenberg, G., & Karnath, H. O. (2006). The neural basis of imitation is body part specific. *J Neurosci*, *26*(23), 6282-6287.
- Goulden, N., Khusnulina, A., Davis, N.J., Bracewell, R.M., Bokde, A.L., McNulty, J.P., & Mullins, P.G. (2014). The salience network is responsible for switching between the default mode network and the central executive network: Replication from DCM. *Neuroimage*, Epub ahead of print.
- Gowen, E. (2012). Imitation in autism: why action kinematics matter. *Front Integr Neurosci, 6*(117), 1-11.
- Gowen, E., Stanley, J., & Miall, R. C. (2008). Movement interference in autism-spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(4), 1060-1068.
- Gronholm, P. C., Flynn, M., Edmonds, C. J., & Gardner, M. R. (2012). Empathic and non-empathic routes to visuospatial perspective-taking. *Conscious Cogn*, 21(1), 494-500.
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R. M., Snyder, J., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2007). Abnormal activation of the social brain during face perception in autism. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 28(5), 441-449.
- Hamilton, A. F. (2008). Emulation and mimicry for social interaction: a theoretical approach to imitation in autism. *Q J Exp Psychol (Hove)*, *61*(1), 101-115.
- Hamilton, A. F., Brindley, R. M., & Frith, U. (2007). Imitation and action understanding in autistic spectrum disorders: How valid is the hypothesis of a deficit in the mirror neuron system? *Neuropsychologia*, 45(8), 1859-1868.
- Hari, R., & Nishitani, N., (2004). From viewing of movement to imitation and understanding of other persons' acts: MEG studies of the human mirror-neuron system. In N. Kanwisher & J. Duncan (Eds.). Attention and performance XX. (pp. 463-479) Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Heilman, K. M., & Valenstein, E. (2003). Clinical Neuropsychology, Fourth Edition. European Journal of Neurology, 10(5), 606.
- Heimann, M. & Ullstadius, E. (1999). Neonatal imitation and imitation among children with autism and Down's syndrome. In Nadel, J. & Buttersworth, G. (Eds.), *Imitation in infancy* (235-253). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Heiser, M., Iacoboni, M., Maeda, F., Marcus, J., & Mazziotta, J.C. (2003). The essential role of Broca's area in imitation. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 1123-1128.
- Hepburn, S. L., & Stone, W. L. (2006). Brief Report: Using the Behavioral Style Questionnaire to assess temperament in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *36*(5), 637-642.
- Heyes, C. (2001). Causes and consequences of imitation. Trends Cogn Sci, 5(6), 253-261.
- Heyes, C. (2011). Automatic Imitation. Psychol Bull, 137(3), 463-483.
- Hobson, R. P., & Hobson, J. A. (2008). Dissociable aspects of imitation: A study in autism. J Exp Child Psychol, 101(3), 170-185.
- Hobson, R. P., & Lee, A. (1999). Imitation and identification in autism. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 40(4), 649-659.
- Hoffman, E. A., & Haxby, J. V. (2000). Distinct representations of eye gaze and identity in the distributed human neural system for face perception. *Nat Neurosci*, *3*(1), 80-84.
- Iacoboni, M. (2005). Neural mechanisms of imitation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 15(6), 632-637.
- Iacoboni, M. (2009). Imitation, empathy, and mirror neurons. *Annul Rev Psychol, 60*, 653-70.
- Iacoboni, M., & Dapretto, M. (2006). The mirror neuron system and the consequences of its dysfunction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci., 7(12), 942–951.
- Iacoboni, M., Koski, L.M., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Woods, R.P., Dubeau, M.C., Mazziotta, J.C., & Rizzolatti G. (2001). Reafferent copies of imitated actions in the right superior temporal cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U. S. A.*, 98(24), 13995-13999.
- Iacoboni, M., Woods, R.P., Brass, M., Bekkering, H., Mazziotta, J.C., & Rizzolatti, G. (1999). Cortical mechanisms of human imitation. *Science*, 286, 2526-2528.

- Ingersoll, B. (2008). The effect of context on imitation skills in children with autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 2(2), 332–340.
- Jordan, M.I. & Rumelhart, D. E., (2002). Forward models: Supervised learning with a distal teacher. In T. A. Polk & C. M. Seifert (Eds.). *Cognitive modeling* (pp. 223-256). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Just, M. A., Cherkassky, V. L., Keller, T. A., & Minshew, N. J. (2004). Cortical activation and synchronization during sentence comprehension in highfunctioning autism: evidence of underconnectivity. *Brain*, 127(8), 1811-1821.
- Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., Cherkassky, V. L., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2006). Sentence comprehension in autism: thinking in pictures with decreased functional connectivity. *Brain*, 129(9), 2484-2493.
- Kana, R.K., Wadsworth, H.M., & Travers, B.G. (2011). A systems level analysis of the mirror neuron hypothesis and imitation impairments in autism spectrum disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 35(3), 894-902.
- Klin, A., Jones, W., Schultz, R., Volkmar, F., & Cohen, D. (2002). Visual fixation patterns during viewing of naturalistic social situations as predictors of social competence in individuals with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 59(9), 809-816.
- Koski, L., Iacoboni, M., Dubeau, M.C., Woods, R.P., & Mazziotta, J.C. (2003). Modulation of cortical activity during different imitative behaviors. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 89, 460-471.
- Lam, K. S., & Aman, M. G. (2007). The Repetitive Behavior Scale-Revised: independent validation in individuals with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord, 37(5), 855-866.
- Lee, P. S., Yerys, B. E., Della Rosa, A., Foss-Feig, J., Barnes, K. A., James, J. D., Vanmeter, J., Vaidya, C. J., Gaillard, W. D., & Kenworthy, L. E. (2009). Functional connectivity of the inferior frontal cortex changes with age in children with autism spectrum disorders: a fcMRI study of response inhibition. *Cereb Cortex*, 19(8), 1787-1794.
- Leighton, J., Bird, G., Charman, T., & Heyes, C. (2008). Weak imitative performance is not due to a functional 'mirroring' deficit in adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(4), 1041-1049.
- Loth, M. D. & Gomez, J-C. (2006). Imitation, Theory of Mind, and Cultural knowledge. S. J. Rogers & J. H. G. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the social mind: Autism* and typical development (pp. 157-197). New York: Guilford Press.

- Lovaas, O. I. (1979). Contrasting illness and behavioral models for the treatment of autistic children: a historical perspective. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 9(4), 315-323.
- Marco, E. J., Hinkley, L. B., Hill, S. S., & Nagarajan, S. S. (2011). Sensory processing in autism: a review of neurophysiologic findings. *Pediatr Res*, 69(5), 48-54.
- Marsh, L. E., & Hamilton, A. F. (2011). Dissociation of mirroring and mentalising systems in autism. *Neuroimage*, 56(3), 1511-1519.
- Martineau, J., Andersson, F., Barthelemy, C., Cottier, J. P., & Destrieux, C. (2010). Atypical activation of the mirror neuron system during perception of hand motion in autism. *Brain Res*, 1320, 168-175.
- Martineau, J., Cochin, S., Magne, R., & Barthelemy, C. (2008). Impaired cortical activation in autistic children: is the mirror neuron system involved? *Int J Psychophysiol, 68*(1), 35-40.
- McCleery, J. P., Elliott, N. A., Sampanis, D. S., & Stefanidou, C. A. (2013). Motor development and motor resonance difficulties in autism: relevance to early intervention for language and communication skills. *Front Integr Neurosci*, 7(30), 1-56.
- McDuffie, A., Turner, L., Stone, W., Yoder, P., Wolery, M., & Ulman, T. (2007). Developmental correlates of different types of motor imitation in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 37(3), 401-412.
- McIntosh, D. N., Reichmann-Decker, A., Winkielman, P., & Wilbarger, J. L. (2006). When the social mirror breaks: deficits in automatic, but not voluntary, mimicry of emotional facial expressions in autism. *Dev Sci*, 9(3), 295-302.
- Meltzoff, A. N., & Moore, M. K. (1983). Newborn infants imitate adult facial gestures. *Child Dev*, *54*(3), 702-709.
- Meltzoff, A. N., & Moore, M. K. (1992). Early Imitation Within a Functional Framework: The Importance of Person Identity, Movement, and Development. *Infant Behav Dev*, 15(4), 479-505.
- Menon, V., & Uddin, L. Q. (2010). Saliency, switching, attention and control: a network model of insula function. *Brain Struct Funct*, 214(5-6), 655-667.
- Mostofsky, S. H., Dubey, P., Jerath, V. K., Jansiewicz, E. M., Goldberg, M. C., & Denckla, M. B. (2006). Developmental dyspraxia is not limited to imitation in children with autism spectrum disorders. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 12*(3), 314-326.

- Mozaz, M., Rothi, L. J., Anderson, J. M., Crucian, G. P., & Heilman, K. M. (2002). Postural knowledge of transitive pantomimes and intransitive gestures. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 8(7), 958-962.
- Neuhaus, E., Beauchaine, T. P., & Bernier, R. (2010). Neurobiological correlates of social functioning in autism. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 30(6), 733-748.
- Newman-Norlund, R., van Schie, H. T., van Hoek, M. E., Cuijpers, R. H., & Bekkering, H. (2010). The role of inferior frontal and parietal areas in differentiating meaningful and meaningless object-directed actions. *Brain Res*, 1315, 63-74.
- Niedenthal, P. M., Barsalou, L. W., Winkielman, P., Krauth-Gruber, S., & Ric, F. (2005). Embodiment in attitudes, social perception, and emotion. *Pers Soc Psychol Rev*, 9(3), 184-211.
- Nishitani, N., Avikainen, S., & Hari, R. (2004). Abnormal imitation-related cortical activation sequences in Asperger's syndrome. *Ann Neurol*, 55(4), 558-562.
- Noens, I. L., & van Berckelaer-Onnes, I. A. (2008). The central coherence account of autism revisited: Evidence from the ComFor study. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 2(2), 209-222.
- Oberman, L. M., & Ramachandran, V. S. (2007). The simulating social mind: the role of the mirror neuron system and simulation in the social and communicative deficits of autism spectrum disorders. *Psychol Bull*, *133*(2), 310-327.
- Oberman, L. M., Hubbard, E. M., McCleery, J. P., Altschuler, E. L., Ramachandran, V. S., & Pineda, J. A. (2005). EEG evidence for mirror neuron dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, 24(2), 190-198.
- Oberman, L.M., Ramachandran, V.S., & Pineda, J.A. (2008). Modulation of mu suppression in children with autism spectrum disorders in response to familiar or unfamiliar stimuli: The mirror neuron hypothesis. *Neuropsychologia*, 46(5), 1558-1565.
- Oldfield, R.C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*, *9*, 97-113.
- Paakki, J. J., Rahko, J., Long, X., Moilanen, I., Tervonen, O., Nikkinen, J., Starck, T., Remes, J., Hurtig, T., Haapsamo, H., Jussila, K., Kuusikko-Gauffin, S., Mattila, M. L., Zang, Y., & Kiviniemi, V. (2010). Alterations in regional homogeneity of resting-state brain activity in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Res*, 1321, 169-179.
- Pelphrey, K. A., & Morris, J. P. (2006). Brain Mechanisms for Interpreting the Actions of Others from Biological-Motion Cues. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci*, 15(3), 136-140.

- Peper, J. S., Hulshoff Pol, H. E., Crone, E. A., & van Honk, J. (2011). Sex steroids and brain structure in pubertal boys and girls: a mini-review of neuroimaging studies. *Neuroscience*, 191, 28-37.
- Piaget, J. (1945). *Play, dreams, and imitation in childhood*. New York: W.W. Norton. Print.
- Pineda, J. A., Friedrich, E. V., & LaMarca, K. (2014). Neurorehabilitation of social dysfunctions: a model-based neurofeedback approach for low and highfunctioning autism. *Front Neuroeng*, 7, 29.
- Press, C., Richardson, D., & Bird, G. (2010). Intact imitation of emotional facial actions in autism spectrum conditions. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(11), 3291-3297.
- Ramachandran, V. S., & Oberman, L. M. (2006). Broken mirrors: a theory of autism. *Sci Am*, 295(5), 62-69.
- Raymaekers, R., Wiersema, J. R., & Roeyers, H. (2009). EEG study of the mirror neuron system in children with high functioning autism. *Brain Res, 1304*, 113-121.
- Rizzolatti, G. & Matelli, M. (2003). Two different streams form the dorsal visual system: anatomy and functions. *Experimental Brain Research*, 153(2), 146-57.
- Rizzolatti, G., & Craighero, L. (2004). The mirror-neuron system. *Annu Rev Neurosci,* 27, 169-192.
- Rizzolatti, G., Fadiga, L., Gallese, V., & Fogassi, L. (1996). Premotor cortex and the recognition of motor actions. *Brain Res Cogn Brain Res*, 3(2), 131-141.
- Rogers, S. (1999). An examination of the imitation deficit in autism. In J. Nadel & G. Butterworth (Eds.), *Imitation in infancy* (pp. 254–279). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Rogers, S. J., & Williams, J. H. G. (2006). Imitation in autism: Findings and controversies. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. G. Williams (Eds.), Imitation and the social mind: Autism and typical development (pp. 277–309). New York: Guilford.
- Rogers, S. J., Bennetto, L., McEvoy, R., & Pennington, B. F. (1996). Imitation and pantomime in high-functioning adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Child Dev*, 67(5), 2060-2073.
- Rogers, S. J., Hepburn, S. L., Stackhouse, T., & Wehner, E. (2003). Imitation performance in toddlers with autism and those with other developmental disorders. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 44(5), 763-781.

- Rogers, S. J., Young, G. S., Cook, I., Giolzetti, A., & Ozonoff, S. (2008). Deferred and immediate imitation in regressive and early onset autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(4), 449-457.
- Rogers, S., & Pennington, B. (1991). A theoretical approach to the deficits in infantile autism. *Developmental Psychology*, 3, 137–162.
- Rutter, M., Bailey, A. & Lord, C. (2003). Social Communication Questionnaire (SCQ). Western Psychological Services.
- Schipul, S. E., Williams, D. L., Keller, T. A., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2012). Distinctive neural processes during learning in autism. *Cereb Cortex*, 22(4), 937-950.
- Schmitz, N., Rubia, K., Daly, E., Smith, A., Williams, S., & Murphy, D. G. (2006). Neural correlates of executive function in autistic spectrum disorders. *Biol Psychiatry*, 59(1), 7-16.
- Schulte-Ruther, M., Greimel, E., Markowitsch, H. J., Kamp-Becker, I., Remschmidt, H., Fink, G. R., & Piefke, M. (2011). Dysfunctions in brain networks supporting empathy: an fMRI study in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Soc Neurosci*, 6(1), 1-21.
- Schulte-Ruther, M., Markowitsch, H. J., Fink, G. R., & Piefke, M. (2007). Mirror neuron and theory of mind mechanisms involved in face-to-face interactions: a functional magnetic resonance imaging approach to empathy. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 19(8), 1354-1372.
- Shields, G. S. (2012). The aberrant contribution of the mirror neuron system in autism spectrum disorder. *IMPULSE: The Premier Undergraduate Neuroscience Journal*, *10*(2), 1-11.
- Shih, P., Shen, M., Ottl, B., Keehn, B., Gaffrey, M. S., & Muller, R. A. (2010). Atypical network connectivity for imitation in autism spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(10), 2931-2939.
- Southgate, V., & Hamilton, A. F. (2008). Unbroken mirrors: challenging a theory of Autism. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 12(6), 225-229.
- Spencer, M. D., Holt, R. J., Chura, L. R., Calder, A. J., Suckling, J., Bullmore, E. T., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2012). Atypical activation during the Embedded Figures Task as a functional magnetic resonance imaging endophenotype of autism. *Brain*, 135, 3469-3480.

- Spengler, S., Bird, G., & Brass, M. (2010). Hyperimitation of actions is related to reduced understanding of others' minds in autism spectrum conditions. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(12), 1148-1155.
- Stewart, H. J., McIntosh, R. D., & Williams, J. H. (2013). A specific deficit of imitation in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res*, 6(6), 522-530.
- Stone, W. L., Ousley, O. Y., & Littleford, C. D. (1997). Motor imitation in young children with autism: what's the object? J Abnorm Child Psychol, 25(6), 475-485.
- Supekar, K., Uddin, L. Q., Khouzam, A., Phillips, J., Gaillard, W. D., Kenworthy, L. E., Yerys, B. E., Vaidya, C. J., Menon, V. (2013). Brain hyperconnectivity in children with autism and its links to social deficits. *Cell Rep*, 5(3), 738-747.
- Tagney, J.P., Stuewig, J., & Mashek, D.J. (2007). Moral emotions and moral behavior. *Annu Rev Psychol*, 58, 345-72.
- Takarae, Y., Minshew, N. J., Luna, B., & Sweeney, J. A. (2007). Atypical involvement of frontostriatal systems during sensorimotor control in autism. *Psychiatry Res*, 156(2), 117-127.
- Tang, G., Gudsnuk, K., Kuo, S. H., Cotrina, M. L., Rosoklija, G., Sosunov, A., Sonders, M. S., Kanter, E., Castagna, C., Yamamoto, A., Yue, Z., Arancio, O., Peterson, B. S., Champagne, F., Dwork, A. J., Goldman, J., & Sulzer, D. (2014). Loss of mTOR-Dependent Macroautophagy Causes Autistic-like Synaptic Pruning Deficits. *Neuron*, *83*(5), 1131-1143.
- Tessari, A., Canessa, N., Ukmar, M., & Rumiati, R. I. (2007). Neuropsychological evidence for a strategic control of multiple routes in imitation. *Brain, 130*(Pt 4), 1111-1126.
- Thakkar, K. N., & Park, S. (2010). Empathy, schizotypy, and visuospatial transformations. *Cogn Neuropsychiatry*, *15*(5), 477-500.
- Tomasello, M., Kruger, A. C., & Ratner, H. H. (1993). Cultural Learning. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, *16*(3), 495-511.
- Toyomaki, A., & Murohashi, H. (2013). "Salience network" dysfunction hypothesis in autism spectrum disorders. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 55(2), 175-185.
- Turella, L., Pierno, A. C., Tubaldi, F., & Castiello, U. (2009). Mirror neurons in humans: consisting or confounding evidence? *Brain Lang*, 108(1), 10-21.
- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K., & Menon, V. (2013). Reconceptualizing functional brain connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 7(458), 1-30.

- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K., Lynch, C. J., Khouzam, A., Phillips, J., Feinstein, C., Ryali, S., & Menon, V. (2013). Salience network-based classification and prediction of symptom severity in children with autism. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 70(8), 869-879.
- Van Baaren, R. B., Holland, R. W., Kawakami, K., & van Knippenberg, A. (2004). Mimicry and prosocial behavior. *Psychol Sci*, 15(1), 71-74.
- Via, E., Radua, J., Cardoner, N., Happe, F., & Mataix-Cols, D. (2011). Meta-analysis of gray matter abnormalities in autism spectrum disorder: should Asperger disorder be subsumed under a broader umbrella of autistic spectrum disorder? *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 68(4), 409-418.
- Villalobos, M. E., Mizuno, A., Dahl, B. C., Kemmotsu, N., & Muller, R. A. (2005). Reduced functional connectivity between V1 and inferior frontal cortex associated with visuomotor performance in autism. *Neuroimage*, 25(3), 916-925.
- Vivanti, G. & Rogers, S.J. (2011) Action understanding and social learning in Autism: A developmental perspective. *Lifespan and Disability*, 14(1), 7-29.
- Vivanti, G., Nadig, A., Ozonoff, S., & Rogers, S. J. (2008). What do children with autism attend to during imitation tasks? *J Exp Child Psychol*, 101(3), 186-205.
- Wang, Y., & Hamilton, A. F. (2012). Social top-down response modulation (STORM): a model of the control of mimicry in social interaction. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 6(153), 1-28.
- Wang, Y., Ramsey, R., & Hamilton, A. F. D. (2011). The Control of Mimicry by Eye Contact Is Mediated by Medial Prefrontal Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(33), 12001-12010.
- Want, S. C., & Harris, P. L. (2002). How do children ape? Applying concepts from the study of non-human primates to the developmental study of 'imitation' in children. *Dev Sci*, 5(1), 1-13.
- Wechsler, D. (1999). *Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence*. The Psychological Corporation: Harcourt Brace & Company. New York, NY.
- Wheaton, L. A., & Hallett, M. (2007). Ideomotor apraxia: a review. *J Neurol Sci, 260*(1-2), 1-10.
- Whiten, A., & Brown, J. (1998). Imitation and the reading of other minds: Perspectives from the study of autism, normal children and non-human primates. In S. Braten (Ed.), *Intersubjective communication and emotion in early ontogeny* (pp. 260-280). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Wicker, B., Keysers, C., Plailly, J., Royet, J. P., Gallese, V., & Rizzolatti, G. (2003). Both of us disgusted in My insula: the common neural basis of seeing and feeling disgust. *Neuron*, 40(3), 655-664.
- Wiggins, L. D., Robins, D. L., Bakeman, R., & Adamson, L. B. (2009). Brief report: sensory abnormalities as distinguishing symptoms of autism spectrum disorders in young children. J Autism Dev Disord, 39(7), 1087-1091.
- Wild, K. S., Poliakoff, E., Jerrison, A., & Gowen, E. (2012). Goal-directed and goal-less imitation in autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord, 42(8), 1739-1749.
- Williams, J. H. (2008). Self-other relations in social development and autism: multiple roles for mirror neurons and other brain bases. *Autism Res, 1*(2), 73-90.
- Williams, J. H., & Waiter, G.D. (2006). Neuroimaging Self-Other Mapping in Autism. In S. J. Rogers & J. H. Williams (Eds.), *Imitation and the Social Mind: Autism and Typical Development* (pp. 352-373). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., Gilchrist, A., Perrett, D. I., Murray, A. D., & Whiten, A. (2006). Neural mechanisms of imitation and 'mirror neuron' functioning in autistic spectrum disorder. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(4), 610-621.
- Williams, J. H., Whiten, A., & Singh, T. (2004). A systematic review of action imitation in autistic spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord, 34(3), 285-299.
- Williams, J.H., Whiten, A., Suddendorf, T., & Perrett, D.I. (2001). Imitation, mirror neurons and autism. *Neuroscience and Biobehavior Rev.* 25, 287-295.
- Yamasaki, S., Yamasue, H., Abe, O., Suga, M., Yamada, H., Inoue, H., Kuwabara, H., Kawakubo, Y., Yahata, N., Aoki, S., Kano, Y., Kato, N., & Kasai, K. (2010). Reduced gray matter volume of pars opercularis is associated with impaired social communication in high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68(12), 1141-1147.

APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTION OF MEASURES

Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (WASI) (Wechsler, 1999)

The WASI was developed as a means of obtaining a brief, but accurate measure of intelligence. It has been standardized nationally and results in measures of Verbal, Performance, and Full Scale IQ scores. The WASI consists of four subtests: Vocabulary, Similarities, Block Design, and Matrix Reasoning. Scores on the WASI have been linked to the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children – Fourth Edition (WISC-IV) and the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale – Third Edition (WAIS-III). It has been standardized for use with children and adults ages 6 years and above.

Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001)

The child version of the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test" was utilized for the current set of studies to provide information about subjects' theory-of-mind (ToM) ability. This skill was of particular interest to the current studies since ToM has been linked to simulation and MNS functioning (Pineda & Hecht, 2009). This measure assessed the ability of participants to decipher the mental states of other people based on photographs showing the eye region of male and female actors. These photographs were accompanied by four descriptive words (e.g., "serious", "alarmed", "happy", or "scared") and participants were asked to identify the word that best described what the person in the picture was thinking or feeling. Previous research has established that this measure reliably distinguishes individuals with high-functioning autism from healthy controls (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001).

Empathizing Quotient/ Systemizing Quotient (EQ/SQ) (Baron-Cohen et al., 2003)

Parents of participants also completed the parent-report EQ/SQ. This measure follows a likert format and contains a list of statements about real-life situations, experiences, and interests where either empathizing or systemizing skills are required. The questionnaire is combined and consists of a total of 55 items, with four answer choices for each question. Parents rate how true each statement is about their child. The EQ/SQ measure was completed to provide an interesting comparison for both behavioral and neuroimaging data since empathizing has previously been linked to the functioning of the MNS (Buccino & Amore, 2008).

Social Communication Questionnaire, Lifetime Version (SCQ) (Rutter et al., 2003)

The SCQ is a parent-report measure that is used to screen for the presence or the absence of ASD related symptoms. The lifetime version of the SCQ consists of 40 yes/no questions addressing whether a child has ever displayed specific symptoms of ASD. The SCQ has been standardized for use with children ages 4 and older and takes approximately 5-10 minutes to administer. The SCQ was used during the current set of studies to screen TD participants to rule out an ASD diagnosis. If a TD participant had scored above 15 on the SCQ, they would have been excluded from the study.

Repetitive Behavior Scale – Revised (RBS-R) (Bodfish et al., 1995, 1999)

The RBS-R is a parent completed checklist/ rating scale. Questions address the presence or absence of repetitive-stereotyped behaviors across three subscales:

Stereotyped Behavior, Compulsive Behavior, and Self-Injurious Behavior. In addition to assessing the presence or absence of these symptoms, parents are asked to rate the degree to which these symptoms interfere with everyday life.

Physical and Neurological Examination for Subtle (Motor) Signs (PANESS) (Denckla, 1985)

The PANESS is a standardized motor assessment for children. The assessment includes measures of both gross and fine motor movements including walking a line, hopping on one foot, and tapping fingers and feet rhythmically. Higher scores on the measure indicate worse motor performance. The PANESS was designed to be sensitive to developmental changes and to also minimize the need for both equipment and time for the assessment. It can be completed in 15-20 minutes. The subtle signs assessed by this measure have been found to be effective at differentiating early signs of developmental disabilities such as those found in ADHD (Morris et al., 2001; Mostofsky et al., 2003). It has also been previously utilized to examine motor functioning in autism (Mandelbaum et al., 2006; Jansiewicz et al., 2006) and has been found to accurately discriminate boys with autism from controls (Jansiewicz et al., 2006).

Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971)

The Edinburgh Handedness Inventory is a 10-item measurement scale that is designed to assess the level of dominance of a person's left or right hand when performing everyday activities. Each item presents an everyday activity and the person is asked to identify if they prefer to use their left hand, right hand, or have no preference regarding which hand they would use to complete that task. It yields a motor laterality index. This measure was used to ensure that all participants showed right-hand dominance.

Attention Networks Task (ANT) (Fan et al., 2002)

The ANT is a computerized measure aimed at examining multiple aspects of attention. The ANT combines the cued reaction time task (Posner, 1980) and a flanker paradigm (Eriksen & Eriksen, 1974) which allows the examination of alerting, orienting, and executive control attentional networks in a single, integrated task. The task involves presenting participants with flanker stimuli in which a target item is presented surrounded by congruent, incongruent, or neutral flankers. The stimulus presentation is also preceded by different cue conditions. The ANT has been previously utilized in both adult and child populations, including populations with attentional difficulties (Johnson et al., 2008; Keehn et al., 2010).

The Developmental Test of Visual-Motor Integration (VMI) (Beery, 1997)

This measure allows for the assessment of an individual's ability to integrate their visual and motor abilities. Subjects are presented with drawings of geometric forms which are arranged according to increasing difficulty and are asked to copy each of the figures in the space provided below the form. Norms are provided for 2-18 years of age. Administration takes approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. The goal of this measure

is to provide a convenient method for screening of visual-motor deficits which may impact learning, neuropsychological, and behavioral difficulties.

APPENDIX B

IRB PROTOCOL



Institutional Review Board for Human Use

Form 4: IRB Approval Form Identification and Certification of Research Projects Involving Human Subjects

UAB's Institutional Review Boards for Human Use (IRBs) have an approved Federalwide Assurance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). The Assurance number is FWA00005960 and it expires on January 24, 2017. The UAB IRBs are also in compliance with 21 CFR Parts 50 and 56.

 Principal Investigator:
 WADSWORTH, HEATHER MARIE

 Co-Investigator(s):
 F120803009

 Protocol Title:
 Integrated Functioning of the Mirror Neuron System and Its Role in Imitation Deficits in Autism

The IRB reviewed and approved the above named project on 10/29/2014. The review was conducted in accordance with UAB's Assurance of Compliance approved by the Department of Health and Human Services. This Project will be subject to Annual continuing review as provided in that Assurance.

This project received FULL COMMITTEE review.

IRB Approval Date: 10/29/2014 Usthales, mD Date IRB Approval Issued: IRB Approval No Longer Valid On: Identification Number: IRB00000726 Ferdinand Urthaler, M.D. Chairman of the Institutional Review Board for Human Use (IRB)

Partial HIPAA Waiver Approved?: Yes

Investigators please note:

The IRB approved consent form used in the study must contain the IRB approval date and expiration date.

IRB approval is given for one year unless otherwise noted. For projects subject to annual review research activities may not continue past the one year anniversary of the IRB approval date.

Any modifications in the study methodology, protocol and/or consent form must be submitted for review and approval to the IRB prior to implementation.

Adverse Events and/or unanticipated risks to subjects or others at UAB or other participating institutions must be reported promptly to the IRB.

470 Administration Building 701 20th Street South 205.934.3789 Fax 205.934.1301 irb@uab.edu The University of Alabama at Birmingham Mailing Address: AB 470 1720 2ND AVE S BIRMINGHAM AL 35294-0104